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MAGIL Strategic Report

The Strategic Report is presented in four sections:
Overview — overview of the year ended 31 March 2021, along with an outlook for the year ahead;

Business overview — overview of the business model and strategy of the Group;

Financial review — presentation and explanation of the key drivers behind the financial performance reported for the year ended 31
March 2021 and analysis of the financial position of the Group as at that date;

Corporate Governance Statement — inclusive of the Group’s leadership and governance, corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) and
internal controls and risk management.

In common with last year’s report, and as a reflection of the continuing focus of the business on minimising non-essential expenditure,
we have simplified the presentation of this report to reduce the time and costs associated with its publication.



MAGIL Strategic Report

The directors present their strategic report for Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited (‘MAGIL’) for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Principal activities

Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited (‘the Group’) comprises the Company and its subsidiaries. The principal activities of the
Group during the year were the ownership, operation and development of airport facilities in the UK. The Group’s revenues were derived
from aircraft and passenger handling charges, airport-based commercial and retail activities, and property.

Overview

When last year’s annual report was published, the world was still coming to terms with the early impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The aviation industry and the global economy were brought to a near standstill. Twelve months on and we are only just taking our first
tentative steps towards recovery.

Bar a few exceptions, international travel has been severely restricted for much of this year. Despite this, MAGIL'’s airports are critical
UK infrastructure and have remained open throughout the pandemic to support those making essential journeys, along with the
movement of vital cargo such as Personal Protective Equipment and medical supplies.

This report therefore paints a very different picture to previous years. It outlines the decisive steps taken by MAGIL to respond to the
profound challenges posed by the pandemic, and how we have worked with our industry and the UK Government to keep customers
and colleagues safe when they use our airports.

It also details the steps being taken to protect our business and set it on a course towards sustained recovery, as the global vaccine
rollout creates the prospect of a resumption in international travel. We remain confident in the underlying strength of our business, and
of our industry’s prospects for a strong revival when conditions allow. What is clear is that all of MAGIL’s airports will have a critical role
to play in enabling a full and balanced return to growth of the UK economy as a whole.

While COVID-19 has dominated this year, this report sets out how we have continued to deliver on several other important projects
despite the pandemic. This includes steering MAGIL through the final stages of Brexit, showing leadership as the industry remains
committed to a net zero future and playing our part in the Government’s freeports programme.

A significant addition to this year’s report is the inclusion of reporting against the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
recommendations (TCFD). This is the first time MAGIL has reported in this way, and we will be expanding our disclosures to meet the
TCFD recommendations in full over the next two years and in line with the UK’s future mandatory reporting requirements for UK
companies.

Results for FY21
Performance over FY21 has been heavily impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, affecting all aspects of the business.

While international travel was all but suspended as the pandemic took hold in the spring of 2020, the Government’s ‘travel corridor’
scheme, which was introduced in June 2020, resulted in a brief but noticeable increase in passengers over the summer period.

However, short notice changes to the list of travel corridors had a serious impact on consumer confidence and traffic between July and
September was still 80% down on the previous year. Since January 2021, the Government has sought to limit the spread of new
variants by restricting travel to a limited number of essential journeys.

As aresult, overall passenger numbers for the year were almost 90% down on the previous year. Across the Group, our airports served
6.3m passengers in FY21, compared to 59.6m in FY20.

This severe reduction in passenger numbers due to public health restrictions is reflected in MAGIL'’s financial performance, with revenue
down by £695.9m (79.8)% at £176.2m compared to prior year (2020: £872.1m). MAGIL has again responded quickly and
proportionately.

This impact has been felt across all areas of the business. Aeronautical revenues were 79.4% lower this year compared to FY20. The
majority of our airport car parks have remained closed over the last year, and parking bookings have been running at only 9% of usual
levels. Similarly, many of our retail partners have either remained closed or had extremely limited operations, resulting in revenue
reductions in excess of 90%.

In addition, the pandemic has seen our airline partners take difficult business decisions, with many cancelling existing services,
suspending operations entirely or pushing back the launch of new routes in and out of the UK. At East Midlands, the passenger operation
was completely suspended between February and May 2021in line with airlines operating vastly reduced schedules.

However, confidence in the recovery remains strong and a number of airlines have launched new routes or announced new services
for the coming months. For example, Aer Lingus chose Manchester Airport as its first UK base for transatlantic flights, with routes to
New York, Boston, Orlando and Barbados set to launch this summer; and Pegasus has announced two new connections between
Stansted and Batumi in Georgia, via Istanbul. Passenger services also began operating again from East Midlands Airport on 17 May
2021.
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Overview continued

One area of the business that has seen noticeable growth this year is the dedicated air cargo operations at London Stansted and East
Midlands, with the volume of goods handled this year up 31.0% and 19.0% respectively. This has been driven by the very limited
bellyhold cargo capacity on long-haul passenger routes and a marked increase in online shopping during periods of lockdown.

Despite the profound impact of COVID-19 on passenger numbers over the last year, we continue to plan for a return to growth at our
airports in the coming years.

In Manchester, work on the Terminal 2 extension — the centrepiece of the Manchester Airport Transformation Programme — is nearly
complete and the new facility is expected to begin welcoming passengers during FY22.

In July 2020, we confirmed we would be appealing the decision by Uttlesford District Council to refuse our application to increase the
number of passengers we can serve at London Stansted to 43mppa. This rejection was contrary to earlier approval by the previous
Council administration and went against advice of the Council’s own planning officers and legal experts. This resulted in an independent
Planning Inquiry into the application which concluded in March. It was confirmed on 27 May 2021 that we had been successful in our
appeal and the Planning Inspectorate have granted the planning permission.

With the inclusion of the MAG’s US businesses within the Group the US will become an important growth market to MAGIL. The
domestic US market was likely to bounce back more quickly than other parts of the global aviation industry. After initial periods of
closures and lockdowns similar to those in the UK, we have now reopened 5 of our lounges in the US, with the remainder due to reopen
within the next to months, and bookings through our distribution network are also recovering at pace. Our commercial solutions are
perfect for helping airports recover lost revenues and improve the customer journey making it more predictable and contactless and
business development activity accelerated over the last year as a result.

The UK completed its exit from the European Union at the end of the transition period on 31 December 2020. Thanks to hard work and
preparation across the Group, the switchover to new arrangements has had a minimal impact on operations, both at the border for our
passengers but also for our cargo customers.

As part of the Government’s Budget in March, the Chancellor announced that eight new freeports will be established in England —
including an East Midlands Freeport, which has East Midlands Airport at its heart. This was the culmination of a joint bid by MAGIL,
other landowners, local authorities and LEPs. Areas given Freeport status will benefit from a wide package of tax reliefs, simplified
customs procedures, streamlined planning processes to boost redevelopment, and Government support to promote regeneration and
innovation. Once established, the East Midlands Freeport will boost trade, create 60,000 jobs and attract investment across the region.

This year more than ever, our industry-leading community engagement and CSR programmes have played a vital role in connecting
our airports with the communities they serve, as well as cementing MAGIL as a leading voice as the industry addresses big issues such
as sustainability and noise impacts.

Our commitment to our communities throughout the pandemic has seen MAGIL colleagues give more than 23,000 hours of their time
volunteering to support local projects in the last 12 months including while on furlough. Our employment and skills teams have also
played an important role in supporting those colleagues who have left the business as a result of the pandemic, through virtual jobs
fairs and free online training.

On the vital work to decarbonise our industry, the UK aviation and aerospace sectors have set ambitious targets through the Sustainable
Aviation roadmap to reach net zero by 2050. In July, the Government convened the first meeting of the Jet Zero Council, which brings
together industry figures and environmental experts, with the aim of making this ambition a reality. Our group CEO, Charlie Cornish,
represents MAGIL on the Council, chaired by the Secretary of State for Transport and the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and
Industrial Strategy, as MAGIL continues to show leadership in this area ahead of COP26 in the autumn.

Within MAGIL, we remain committed to reducing carbon emissions and are on track to achieve our target of reaching net zero for our
operations by 2038. Our climate risk management is explored in more detail in the TCFD section of this report, which provides a useful
framework for disclosing the Company’s exposure and response to climate-related risks. MAGIL’s climate performance leadership in
the sector was demonstrated recently when we were confirmed by the Financial Times as one of the top 30 companies in its list of
Europe’s top 300 climate leaders, and the highest performing transport organisation.

Addressing the environmental impacts of flying is also one element of the Government’s airspace modernisation programme. Launched
in 2018, it requires all airports to review the way airspace is managed locally, with a view to making it more efficient, helping reduce
delays, cut emissions and manage some of the local impacts on the ground. Last year saw all three of MAGIL'’s airports successfully
pass through the first of the CAA’s gateways, and, after a period of pause in response to the global pandemic, work is now underway
to engage stakeholders on initial proposals ahead of further public consultation in 2022.

Responding to COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has had an immense impact on the aviation industry, which is reflected in the figures contained within this

report. However, the last year has seen swift, decisive steps taken by MAGIL’'s management to reduce costs and place the business in
the strongest possible position to return to growth as international travel resumes in earnest.
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Overview continued

We acted quickly to secure our strategic financing response to the pandemic. Our shareholders have supported us through this period
with £300.0m of additional equity funding which — along with proceeds from the sale of the Group’s property book — has given us a
strong net cash position throughout the crisis. We have also successfully negotiated new conditions on borrowing with our secured
financing creditors, bondholders and banks, with waivers of financial covenant tests meaning that the Group’s financial covenants will
not be tested again until September 2022.

Additionally, as part of its COVID-19 response, the Group has also brought the legacy US lounge and car parking business and UK
distribution businesses within the MAGIL Group during the year. These businesses were previously within the Manchester Airports
Holdings Limited (MAHL) group but outside of the MAGIL group.

Equity funding was provided partly in recognition of the strong management action we had already taken to control costs. This included
a comprehensive review of all expenditure, pausing non-essential capital projects, freezing recruitment, temporarily reducing pay for all
staff and reducing working hours.

These were difficult but necessary decisions for us to take and we recognise the impact they have had on our people. We have had to
ask our staff to make sacrifices to protect the future of the Company. We’ve also sadly had to lose many great colleagues, and MAGIL
today employs one- third fewer people than it did a year ago. Some of our people have been forced to work remotely for extended
periods of time, while many of our teams are key workers who have been on the ground in our airports throughout the pandemic — each
of these bring their own stresses and strains, with clear impacts on people’s health and wellbeing. We are grateful for the understanding
and spirit that everyone in MAGIL has shown as we have worked through this challenging period.

The last 12 months has seen MAGIL work intensively with Government to ensure the industry is properly supported throughout the
pandemic, in line with the support provided to airports on the continent and in Scotland and Northern Ireland, and to other sectors such
as retail and hospitality in the UK. This has resulted in some limited support in the form of extensions to the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme (CJRS) and the adoption of a more localised approach to travel corridors in summer 2020, enabling travel to popular island
destinations such as the Balearics and the Canaries. In January 2021 the Government launched the Airport and Ground Operations
Support Scheme (AGOSS) to provide up to £8 million of support in FY21 to individual airports. The AGOSS scheme has since been
extended to also cover the first six months of FY22.

Despite MAGIL making extensive use of the CJRS, with up to 70% of colleagues on furlough, the reality is that this scheme has only
accounted for less than 20% of our fixed operating costs. In October we became the latest aviation business to announce a consultation
on redundancies across the Group. We have also negotiated a new, flexible pay deal with our Trade Unions for FY22 designed to avoid
further compulsory redundancies. This sees colleagues return to 100% of their salary as workloads increase, while ensuring no
colleague is paid less than 80%, and no less than the National Living Wage.

Throughout the last year, MAGIL has also worked hard to shape Government thinking around the safe resumption of international
travel, and the reopening of international travel to and from the UK on 17 May was an important step in the right direction. Since then,
we have continued to make the case for restriction-free travel to those countries where infection rates are at their lowest, greater
transparency in how decisions are made on which countries are considered low-risk, and for the removal of the need for expensive
PCR testing for all passengers.

Looking ahead

Despite the significant challenges of the last 12 months, MAGIL and the wider industry are confident in forecasts of a strong recovery
for air travel as restrictions are eased. MAGIL is particularly well-placed to recover quickly when conditions allow.

Firstly, our robust finances and the support of our investors means we have maximum flexibility in how we approach the sector’'s
recovery over the coming months.

Secondly, we expect growth to be strongest during the early stages of the recovery in short-haul, low-cost markets and services to
popular leisure destinations. MAGIL’s customer demographic and the catchment of our airports puts us in a strong position to capitalise
on this, while also retaining our focus on growing our long-haul route network.

Thirdly, the success of the UK’s vaccine rollout puts our country in a good position to re-establish connections with popular overseas
markets, particularly those where similar vaccination programmes are underway or gathering pace. Coupled with the pent-up demand
we know exists among both our passenger and airline customers, we are hopeful that a meaningful return of international travel will
begin this summer, providing a springboard for a future return to growth.

Throughout the pandemic we have worked closely with Government, our airline customers and other partners to ensure we are ready
to remobilise our operations and investment programmes as the recovery takes hold. Through prudent planning, taking difficult
decisions and drawing on the incredible efforts of colleagues across the business, MAGIL stands to deliver a strong recovery, setting
us on a pathway to sustainable growth once again.
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Business Model and Key Priorities

MAGIL'’s goal is to deliver sustainable growth in shareholder value, balancing the needs of our customers, passengers, employees and
the communities in which we work, while maintaining the highest safety and security standards.

Over recent years MAGIL’s management team has successfully delivered sustained growth and consistently outperformed its business
plan targets.

The short-to-medium term global impact to the aviation sector of the COVID-19 pandemic has been significant with blanket restrictions
on non-essential travel (domestic and international) and quarantine measures resulting in passenger volumes reducing by 90% of pre-
COVID-19 levels. The control of the pandemic and the subsequent re-start of the aviation sector is now looking more certain with the
global rollout of vaccines, comprehensive testing protocols and improvements in medical care. However, it is clear that the recovery will
take time with a phased opening up of international travel as country and border restrictions are eased, and the global economic impacts
of the pandemic materialise. While there are still significant uncertainties, MAGIL expects traffic to return to close to pre-COVID-19
levels in the next two to three years.

Through this recovery period, our core objective will be to drive the Group back to previous levels of performance as quickly as possible.
As we move through this period, we will progressively increase our focus on driving forward our long-term strategic agenda and look for
opportunities to grow shareholder returns through the development of new solutions and products to secure future revenue streams.

Strategy

The COVID-19 pandemic is the single biggest challenge the aviation industry has faced with passenger volumes reducing to near zero
as countries and borders have restricted the movement of people. MAGIL is no different, except for East Midlands which has seen
significant increases in cargo volumes, with significant reductions in passenger traffic across all our airports.

MAGIL has responded by taking decisive steps to significantly reduce operating costs through the alignment of infrastructure and
resources to meet the revised traffic demand. The increase in supply of vaccines, the steps being taken by countries to roll out the
vaccine to vulnerable categories in the first instance and the testing protocols that are being put in place by governments, will allow the
gradual re-introduction of international travel as border controls are gradually relaxed as the impacts of the pandemic reduce. MAGIL
has introduced additional health measures and controls at its’ airports to provide a safe environment for our passengers, customers,
airlines and colleagues as airlines start up their operations again.

Looking to the future, we will seek to deliver our strategy of investing, transforming and connecting as soon as circumstances permit.
However, the scale of the pandemic has demanded that we refocus our priorities in the short-term to ensure that we respond effectively
to the immediate challenges we face.

In responding to the challenges associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, we have focused on three key areas: (1) right-sizing our
business in response to the pandemic and loss in revenues; (2) the recovery phase and re-start of operations incorporating safe systems
of travel for both customers and employees; and (3) how we intend to operate once market conditions return to normal.

Our initial response to the pandemic was designed to maintain air connectivity for the repatriation of UK citizens, delivering essential
goods to the UK including medical supplies, and providing our infrastructure to support NHS COVID-19 testing centres. At the same
time, we have scaled our infrastructure to meet this demand by reducing facilities, reduced staff levels to align with the demand and
limited operating hours to align with a reduced flying programme, while at the same time maintaining a 24-hour airside operation.

We are working with Government and the industry to restart operations at the earliest safe opportunity. We are ready to re-start
operations safely maintaining the wellbeing of our passengers, customers and colleagues with a safe environment to work and travel
from as soon as restrictions are lifted, and flying programmes are re-introduced. Consistent with Government guidance, our safe system
for air travel will adopt a risk-based approach, introducing a range of control measures and new operating processes throughout our
airports to mitigate the risk of infection and transmission, these include:

minimising passenger contact through increased contactless passenger processes;
enhancing the cleaning of all passenger areas and vehicles;

providing passenger sanitisation stations pre-security;

providing Personal Protective Equipment to all operational frontline colleagues;
installing perspex protection guards to check-in desks and information desks;
using face coverings for all passengers in line with government guidance; and
maintaining physical distancing where possible.

The COVID-19 pandemic has presented a significant challenge to the aviation sector requiring the industry to significantly reduce
operating costs, raise capital, and consolidate operations. These underlying issues present MAGIL with several strategic risks in the
short-term, that will require addressing to mitigate their potential impacts. The key risks are:
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slow recovery in passenger demand;

slow recovery in airline capacity and pressure on aviation yields;

changes in consumer behaviour causing lower retail and carpark yields; and
operating costs not aligned to passenger demand.

In response to these risks, MAGIL has engaged with its partners to align their requirements to support the recovery phase and future
operations once ftraffic returns to normal and has implemented a commercial strategy with its airline and commercial partners to
encourage accelerated growth in the short- term, while laying the foundation for future years to support sustained traffic growth. MAGIL
will continue to offer its passengers and airlines the choice and range of products that is aligned to future policy, environmental and
carbon commitments, consumer behaviour and travel requirements.

As traffic volumes return to pre-COVID-19 levels we will return to our strategy to invest in our infrastructure, continue to transform our
business and processes, and provide global connectivity that meets our customers’ needs and supports our airlines’ ambitions.

Our long-term strategy will be to focus on the following three key areas:

e utilising our scale to grow passenger traffic across all our airports;

e  continuing our successful strategy to accelerate the growth at Manchester and London Stansted; and

e investing in other growth opportunities including complementary airport service and digital businesses that will accelerate
growth.

The timing of future investments will be determined by the recovery of traffic and the economic outlook. MAGIL will continue to take a
balanced approach to align investments with future traffic and economic projections.
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Key Performance Indicators

We focus on a number of key performance measures to ensure we build value for our shareholders on a consistent

basis over the long term

Measure Aim Context Progress in Progress in FY21
FY21
Revenue Achieve long- We aim to deliver £176.2m (79.8)%
(continuing term and steady sustainable 2020: £872.1m
operations) growth in growth across all
revenue areas of our
business -
aviation, car
parking, and
retail
Adjusted EBITDA" Generate a level We cover the £(148.1)m (151.0)%
(continuing of profit that cost of using our 2020: £379.4m
operations) allows re- assets with
investment in our income from our
infrastructure operations
Result from Achieve steady We expect all our £(359.5)m (294.1)%
operations and increasing operations to 2020: £185.2m
(continuing profit from positively
operations) operations contribute to the
Group's result.
Result presented
before impact of
significant items
ROCE"? Achieve a We generate (6.6)% (265.0)%
healthy ROCE profits which 2020: 4.0%
which exceeds cover the cost of
our cost of investing in our
capital asset base
Investment Generate growth We manage our £168.9m (70.4)%
property value? in capital value of property portfolio 2020: £570.3m ¢
our property to realise
portfolio maximum value
from disposals
and re-invest in
new
developments
Capital Provide effective We invest in £149.3m (71.4)%
investment* investment in opportunities 2020: £521.2m
operational that generate the
assets to best shareholder
improve value, and
efficiency and enhance the
support growth quality of our
airport services
Adjusted net cash Convert our We focus on £(186.3)m (147.1)%
generated from operating profits converting our 2020: £398.4m
operations! into cash 9perat|ng profits
into cash to fund
further
investment and
returns to
shareholders
Shareholder Generate growth We provide £nil (100.0)%
return in distributions returns to reward 2020: £231.9m
for shareholders the shareholders’
investment
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Measure Aim Context Progress in Progress in FY21
FY21
Passengers Maximise Increasing the 6.3m (89.4)%
passenger number of 2020: 59.6m
volumes through passengers
our airports contributes to
growth in our
aviation and
commercial
revenue streams
Departure Maintain a high We maximise our 93.4% +18.5%
punctuality* level of on-time service to airline 2020: 78.8% ¢
departures partners by
providing
efficient airport
operations
Provide access As a premier 193 (32.5)%
Destinations® to all major airport services 2020: 286
global holiday company, we aim
and business to provide
destinations access to
anywhere in the
world from our
airports
Carbon Reduction Minimise the We closely 1.190 +412.9%
- CO, emissions’ environmental monitor our CO, 2020: 0.232 ¢
impact of our emissions and
operations environmental
impact
Area of noise Being good Minimising the 24.9 km? (64.3)%
footprint’ neighbours with impact of our 2020: 69.7 km?
our communities operations on the
local community
Number of Supporting work Create 1,559 New KPI New KPI
training in our opportunity by 2020: New KPI
placements communities offering jobs, and
provided’ support with
skills by

developing the
scope of our
airport
academies

Health and Safety
RIDDOR -
reportable
accidents®

Maintain robust
health and safety
standards

The safety of our
customers and
colleagues is
extremely
important to us,
and we value a
safe working and
operating
environment for
all.

2
2020: 12

* (83.3)%

*The reduction in the Group’s Key Performance Indicators is explained within the Financial Review.

1. As explained on page 11.

2. ROCE (return on capital employed) is calculated from adjusted result from operations as a percentage of average capital employed, and on a historical cost basis.

3. Investment property related to the Group’s core property and the non-core property classified as assets held for sale.

4. Measured as a percentage of departures within 15 minutes of scheduled departure time. The improvement se on the prior year is driven largely by external factors and ground
handlina protocol and contractual chanaes. We continue to work closelv with all our airline partners and service aaents to minimis the level of disruotion and delavs.

5. The KPI relates to individual airports.

6. We measure carbon intensity against traffic units, which are defined by the International Air Transport Organisation as equivalent to 1,000 passengers or 100 tonnes of freight. In 2019-

20 we changed the scope of reported emissions to align with government’s new Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) requirements. With lower activity this year we

im))lemented arange o energy efficiency initiatives wﬂich reduced our total energy use by 14%. Despite these measures, and an overall gross market-based emission reduction of
8%, the more significant (82)% reduction in traffic units means that the emissions intensity of our operations increased this year. All residual emissions have been offset, and our CSR
Strategy includes a commitment to transition to zero carbon operations. More information about our carbon footprint is provided at page 24 of the MAG annual Report.

7. This KPI has been modified this year to ensure we report performance measures which best reflect our performance. We have very limited influence over local planning policy, nearby
developments and building occupancy. As such, our noise related KPI is now based on noise emissions, specifically the cumulative area of the 57dB LAeq 16hr noise contour at our
airports. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and significantly reduced airport activity, this year the size of our noise contours reduced by 64%. Similarly, the population within these
noise contours reduced to 4,600 from a population of 38,200 in 2019-20.

8. This KPI has been modified this year to align with our CSR Strategy. Because the measure depends ugon data which was not previously recorded it is not possible to report
performance for previous years. ‘Support’ is delivered face to face and virtually and includes a range of skills and education services such as formal training, employment inductions,
CVv cj;uidance, job referrals, assisting with job applications, mock interviews, providing information on access to traineeships and apprenticeships, career talks to schools and colleges,
outplacement support, and signposting to external agencies and charity/community groups.

9. The number of RIDDOR reportable incidents has significantly reduced in the re#)orting period. While the COVID-19 control measures MAGIL has employed have played a significant
part in keeping airports safe, the reduction in incidents correlates with the significant down turn in operations across MAGIL.
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Financial review
Introduction

The following financial review, based on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, provides commentary on the performance
of the Group’s operations. The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards
(‘IFRS’) in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Headline Financials

The impact of COVID-19 on MAGIL'’s financial performance resulted in an 89.4% reduction in passenger levels and a fall in revenue
of £695.9m (79.8)% in comparison to FY20. Whilst MAGIL has undertaken significant cost and cash mitigation measures, the relatively
high proportion of fixed costs has resulted in a reported EBITDA loss of £148.1m (in comparison to a profit in FY20 of £379.4m).

MAGIL has taken prompt and decisive action during FY21 to mitigate the financial impact of the pandemic to ensure the long-term
viability of the business. In addition to immediate cost and cash mitigation actions, the measures to enhance the business’s liquidity
have included: securing £300.0m of equity funding; fully drawing down available banking facilities; and the sale of the Group’s non-
core property portfolio for in excess of £400.0m, generating a profit from sale of discontinued activities of £41.9m. All of these actions
have, despite the passenger led trading shortfall, resulted in the Group being able to reduce its net debt level and increase its net cash
position by £284.1m to £518.1m (FY20: £234.0m).

FY21 FY20 Change Chang;

£m £m £m o

Passenger numbers 6.3 59.6 (53.3) (89.4)%
Revenue — continuing operations 176.2 8721 (695.9) (79.8)%
Revenue — discontinued operations 8.5 28.9 (20.4) (70.6)%
Adjusted EBITDA* — continuing operations (148.1) 379.4 (527.5) (139.0)%
Adjusted EBITDA* — discontinued operations 7.9 254 (17.5) (68.9)%
Result from operations*— continuing operations (359.5) 185.2 (555.7) (294.1)%
Result from operations* — discontinued operations 7.9 19.0 (11.1) (58.4)%
Result before taxation — continuing operations (418.4) 151.9 (570.3) (375.4)%
Result after taxation — continuing operations (359.3) 86.0 (445.3) (517.8)%
Result after taxation — discontinued operations 41.9 1.7 30.2 258.1%
Adjusted net cash generated from operations*® (186.3) 395.6 (581.9) (147.1)%
Capital investment 149.3 540.7 (391.4) (72.4)%
Dividends paid in period - 199.3 (199.3) (100.0)%
Net Cash and Cash Equivalent 518.1 234.0 2841 121.4%
Net Debt — including IFRS 16 (1,838.9) (2,101.6) 262.7 12.5%
Net Debt — excluding IFRS 16 (1,402.6) (1,689.3) 286.7 17.0%
Equity shareholders’ funds 2,534.5 2,494.1 40.4 1.6%

As explained on page 11.

10
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Measures used to assess performance

The Group uses a number of measures to assess financial performance that are not defined within IFRS and are widely referred to as
‘Alternative Performance Measures’ (“APMs”). The directors use these measures to review the performance of the Group, as evidenced
by performance targets being significantly based on Adjusted EBITDA".

The APMs referred to in this report are:

e adjusted EBITDA'; and
e  Return on capital employed?
The reconciliation of these APMs to the relevant IFRS measures is detailed below.

The following APMs are reconciled to the relevant IFRS measure on he face of the Group’s Income Statement and Cashflow
Statement respectively:

e  adjusted result from operations?; and
e adjusted net cash generated from operations*

As such, these measures are important and should be considered alongside the IFRS performance measures. The adjustments for
each of the APMs from IFRS measures are separately disclosed and relate to items that are significant in size or non-recurring in
nature, and where, in the directors’ view, their separate disclosure gives a more accurate indication of the Group’s underlying financial
performance.

For example, costs incurred owing to restructuring activities, financial instrument modification gains, additional expenditure owing to
Group transformation activities, and Merger & Acquisition activity are considered one-off and are presented within Significant items as
adjustments to the IFRS measures of financial performance.

Reconciliation of APMs

The reconciliation of APMs used within these statements are accompanied by a reference to the relevant IFRS measure and the
adjustments made:

e adjusted EBITDA".

Continuing operations FY21 FY20
Adjusted Significant Adjusted after Adjusted Significant Adjusted after
before items® significant before items® significant
significant £m items significant £m items
items £m items £m

£m £m

EBITDA (148.1) (37.9) (186.0) 379.4 (17.4) 362.0
Depreciation and amortisation (173.5) - (173.5) (177.0) - (177.0)
Result from Operations (321.6) (37.9) (359.5) 227.9 (17.4) 185.0
2021 2020
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) (£'m) (339.8) 206.2
Capital employed (total assets, less current liabilities) (£'m) 5,151.6 5,153.7
ROCE (EBIT/Capital Employed) (%) (6.6) 4.0

Significant items are disclosed in note 3 on page 55.
Impact of COVID-19 on Financial Performance

The trading performance highlights the huge impact of the pandemic on MAGIL'’s trading performance. The business has undertaken
cost and cash mitigation measures to mitigate the downturn in demand. These measures include utilising the government support
available in the form of the CJRS and AGOSS government grants, reducing capital expenditure, curtailing discretionary spend and the
streamlining of employee numbers to reflect anticipated demand levels.

In addition to the impact on demand, MAGIL has also considered the impact of COVID-19 on the Group as a going concern (covered
in the Basis of Preparation on page 36), and the carrying value of both its non-financial and financial assets. COVID-19 is an impairment
trigger that has resulted in the Group reviewing the carrying value of its significant assets. Management’s testing concluded that an
impairment of two of its US lounges amounting to £0.7m was required. Management acknowledge the challenges of estimating the
recoverable amounts of its assets given their dependency on future cashflows, which depend upon the duration of the pandemic and
the social restrictions implemented by governments. As a result, the accounting policies section on page 36 provides more detail of the
impairment testing process undertaken and the assumptions used in arriving at the impairment quantification.

*NOTES:

"Adjusted EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, share of results of associate, gains and losses on sales and valuation of
investment property, and before significant items.

2 ROCE is defined in the footnotes on page 9.

3 Adjusted result from operations before significant items.

4 Adjusted cash generated from operations is cash generated from operations before significant items.

5 Significant items are disclosed in note 3 on page 55.
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Financial review continued
Impact of COVID-19 on Financial Performance continued

As highlighted in MAGIL’s FY20 Annual Report, the pandemic also impacted upon the anticipated sale of the Group’s non-core property
portfolio. As part of its strategic finance response MAGIL was able to remain active in the marketing of the non-core property portfolio
and was able to successfully conclude the sale on 7 August 2020.

During the year the Group acquired two trading groups, the legacy MAG US lounge and car parking business and the UK distribution
businesses, which were owned by the Group's ultimate parent MAHL. These businesses have been transferred into the Group at the
book value of the cost of investment amounting to £34.4m comprising: MAG US business £29.6m; and UK distribution businesses
£4.8m.

Business outlook

In addition to impacting the financial results for the year ended 31 March 2021, MAGIL have put in place a wide-ranging strategic
response for the business beyond the reporting date including:

e MAGIL has again taken prompt and decisive action, leveraging our strategic finance response in FY20 to: generate funding;
reduce costs; and protect the business to enable the directors to confirm that the going concern assumption can be applied in
the preparation of these financial statements. Management’s assessment of going concern, including the material uncertainty
that the impact of COVID-19 represents, is detailed in the Basis of Preparation on page 36;

. getting MAGIL ready to leverage the success of the UK vaccination programme and those of our target markets and
benefit from pent-up consumer demand by;
e  utilising our strong customer demographic and airline partnerships; and
e working closely with government and our partners to remobilise our operations and investment
programmes and;

. our industry leading community engagement and CSR programmes will enable the Group to ensure that the business’s
recovery from the pandemic addresses the important issues such as sustainability.

MAGIL continues to have strong fundamentals, well invested infrastructure and talented people. Through these actions

MAGIL is confident in its ability to successfully navigate the current situation and be well positioned to benefit from the rebound
and recovery.

?

/ Lokt
/)’:,A et
e

Jan Bramall
Group Chief Financial Officer
8" July 2021
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and uses the UK Corporate Governance Code (the
‘Code’) as a guide to best practice. The responsibility for MAGIL's compliance with the Code is delegated to the Board of directors of
Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (‘MAHL’), and further details can be found on pages 46 to 53 of the annual report and accounts
for Manchester Airports Holdings Limited.

The risk profile of the MAGIL Group is consistent with that of the MAHL Group, as outlined on pages 40 to 45. MAGIL’s internal controls
and risk management are set out below.

Leadership and governance

As we describe in the strategic report, this has been another challenging year for the aviation sector. Almost all companies have faced
new challenges to their core operations and to protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of their customers, staff and business partners.
MAGIL, like all aviation businesses, has had to address these challenges while also facing the most severe public health restrictions on
trading of any sector of the UK economy. Against this backdrop, it is a testament to the dedication, resilience and strength of our senior
management team (and in turn their teams, and our staff generally), their business resilience plans, our Board’s diverse skills and an
appropriate governance and internal control framework that we have been able to navigate the exceptional external challenges we have
faced. At the same time, we have maintained our disciplined approach to safety standards as the health, safety and wellbeing of our
customers, staff and business partners are paramount.

MAGIL considers that strong corporate governance is a core foundation for any successful company and is committed to maintaining
the highest standards of corporate governance and adopting best practice as it emerges. The following Corporate Governance Report,
including the Board Committees Reports and Directors Reports, sets out how MAGIL applies governance standards in practice, and
reports against the Wates Principles, which MAGIL has adopted as its corporate governance code.

MAGIL places great importance on the Board’s role in embedding a positive culture and values across the organisation. As noted in
the s172 statement below the views of stakeholders, is monitored by the Company’s CSR Committee, chaired by Vanda Murray.
Furthermore, MAGIL recognises that diversity in its workforce provides access to a wider range of talents, experience and skills,
promoting greater creativity, innovation and high performance. While this year’s extraordinary conditions have made it more difficult to
deliver some parts of the new CSR Strategy we adopted last year, other aspects of our CSR programme have been strengthened as
colleagues have stepped up to volunteer in their local communities throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. This year also represents a
step change in our sustainability reporting, as we have adopted the recommendations from the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures. The Board’s consideration of stakeholder views is described more fully in the s172 statement below.

A large proportion of the Board’s attention this year has been on supporting the executive team and providing robust scrutiny and
healthy challenge as they have navigated the risks and opportunities presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, there has not
been a wholesale strategic review carried out this year and a full Board evaluation process has been deferred. With the exception of
the resignation of Neil Thompson, and the appointment of Ken O’'Toole in October 2020 and Jan Bramall as Chief Financial Officer in
December 2020, there were no other changes to the Board’s constitution. Once the sustained recovery of international travel has
begun following the pandemic, it will become possible to plan over a longer time horizon and ensure that MAGIL’s business model
continues to evolve to maximise opportunities and mitigate risks posed by the long-term effects of the pandemic on travel.

Introduction

Statement by the directors in Performance of their Statutory Duties in Accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006

Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires directors to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its stakeholders
and to achieve the Company’s purpose. The Board of directors are aware of their responsibilities and consider they have acted in

accordance with their statutory duties. This section sets out how they have discharged this obligation.

The Company’s key stakeholders, and our interaction with them, is summarised below
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Stakeholder engagement

Strategic Report

Stakeholder

Why they matter to MAGIL

What matters to them

How the Board interacts

Shareholders

Our shareholders provide the
equity finance necessary to
support the operation and
future development of the
business.

Shareholders also appoint
non-executive directors who
are critcal to overall
governance and an integral
part of the Board.

Our shareholders have
invested in the long-term
success of MAGIL. In return

they seek predictable and
sustainable returns on their
investment.

Our shareholders require high

standards of governance,
responsible business
practices and transparent

disclosure of information.

Shareholders are directly
represented on the Board and
oversee the appointment of
non-executive directors. They
receive regular reports from
the management team on all
aspects of the business,
including the CSR Sub-
Committee, which considers
safety and responsible
business practices, including
environmental impacts.

our income. They are the
foundation for our business. It
is important that, working with
our airline partners, we seek
to provide the best range of
services to meet their
transport needs.

airports to be accessible; to
provide a safe, secure, clean
and welcoming environment,
and to experience an efficient
service.

Colleagues Colleagues are our greatest | Our colleagues want a | The Board receives regular
asset. They make our strategy | workplace that is safe, | reports on safety matters and
a reality and deliver services | inclusive and offers them | the CSR Sub-Committee,
to our customers. Their | opportunities to develop their | which is attended by the Chief
energy and ideas are critical | career. People Officer and provides
to the continued innovation an opportunity for workplace
and improvement of the | Colleagues want to be a part | issues, including fair pay,
services we offer. of the decisions that affect | diversity and inclusion to be
them supported by an | discussed.
effective system of internal
communication.
Passengers Passengers provide much of | Our customers want our | The Board receives regular

reports on passenger
feedback, including our use of
the Net Promoter Score. The
Board’s  consideration  of
passenger experience
includes detailed reports on
the service provided to
passengers who  require
special or additional support to
access our services.

Communities and the
environment

Many of our colleagues and
customers are drawn from
local communities and the
economic impact of our
operations is greatest in the
regions we serve.

Noise, congestion and local
air quality impacts that arise
due to our operations have
greatest impact on local
communities, though some of
the impacts of our operations,
particularly impacts on the
natural environment, have
wider implications.

It is vital that we understand
the priorities of communities
and ensure our operations
take place within acceptable
environmental limits. By
doing so we earn our social
licence to operate and grow.

Local communities want to
share the economic success
of our airports. They expect
us to take all reasonable steps

to reduce local impacts,
including noise and
emissions.

Communities more generally
are concerned by climate
change and expect us to
progressively reduce the
emissions of our airports and
work with airlines to ensure
that together we play a full part
in delivering the government’s
climate targets.

The Board has established the
CSR Committee to allow
extensive discussion of these
issues. The Board regularly
considers environmental
impacts, including climate
risks and considers the views
of local communities through
an independently facilitated
materiality survey.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Stakeholder engagement continued

Strategic Report

Stakeholder

Why they matter to MAGIL

What matters to them

How the Board interacts

Customers, partners and
suppliers

We deliver our services with
the support of our airline
customers, business partners
and suppliers. Having
effective relationships with
them supports the long-term
success of our businesses
and maximises mutual
benefit.

It is important that those that
we work  with adopt
responsible and sustainable
practices, to minimise the risk
to our operations and
reputation.

Our customers, partners and
suppliers want to work with us
to maximise mutual benefit.

We  work  collaboratively
including  one-to-one  key
account management

meetings with all our business
partners — including airlines,
retailers, tenants and aviation
service partners. Our Airport
Consultative Committees
bring these customer groups
together with passenger and
community  representatives,
whilst our Airport Operator

Committees bring airlines
together to consider
operational practices and

policies.  Significant issues
are drawn to the attention of
the Board and associated
risks are captured in our risk
register.

Our approach to procurement
is accredited to the Corporate
Certification Standard of the
Chartered Institute of
Procurement and Supply. This
incorporates  practices to
make responsible
procurement decisions which
treat suppliers fairly, mitigate
modern slavery, and ensure
prompt payment. The Board
receives reports on the
management of the risks of
modern slavery.

Industry, regulatory bodies,
government and government
agencies

Our operations are highly
regulated. The policy and
regulatory framework is an
important factor that
determines how we operate
including ensuring that we
operate safely and securely,
that competition is fair and
that our environmental
impacts are within acceptable
limits.

Government and industry
regulators seek to work
closely with industry partners
and their associations to
ensure that the policy and
regulatory  framework is
informed by and takes full
account of relevant issues.

The Board receives regular
updates on government policy
and oversees our work to
engage with government,
government agencies and
regulatory bodies to help
formulate and implement their
policies.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued
Taking a long-term view of risks and opportunities

We operate a systematic process to identify risks and opportunities. Further information on our risk framework can be found on pages
40 to 45. Our principal risks include the need to maintain a safe and secure operation, within a highly regulated sector; responding to
changes that may arise as the UK exits the European Union; responding to changes in passenger levels and the UK and global
economic outlook: and the need to attract and retain talented people. This year, increased risk associated with climate change informed
the Board’'s view in agreeing a new commitment to transition MAGIL to a net zero carbon business by no later than 2038. Our
assessment of risk is regularly reported to the Board, to allow the long-term consequences of decisions to beassessed.

Managing our impacts on local communities and the environment

Ensuring local communities benefit from operations at our airports and minimising impacts including noise and emissions have
consistently been a high priority for MAGIL. We also have well established environmental management systems.

The CSR Committee receives regular reports on all relevant aspects of policy, regulation and performance, and this year agreed a
new five-year CSR Strategy. Further detail can be found on page 17.

Maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct

It is important that MAGIL operates to high standards of business conduct and appropriate policies, including the prevention of bribery
and corruption have been implemented, with supporting training for those colleagues whose work is most likely to expose them to
relevant risks. All colleagues have access to an anonymous reporting service to report any instance of bullying or intimidation in the
workplace. To demonstrate transparency in reporting, MAGIL publishes an annual CSR Report, which includes full disclosure against
the relevant industry sector guidance published by the Global Reporting Institute (GRI). The most recent disclosure can be found on
page 17. The CSR Committee receive and approve the CSR Report prior to publication.

MAGIL structure and governance arrangements

In ownership terms, the Group is structured as a joint venture between the ten local authorities of the Greater Manchester region and
IFM Global Infrastructure Fund (IFM GIF), which is advised by IFM Investors PTY Ltd. In this way, MAGIL’s ownership structure is
unique and comprises an effective blend of public and private shareholders, including Manchester City Council (35.5)%, IFM GIF
(35.5)% and the nine other Greater Manchester local authorities (29)%. Amongst those owners, The Council of the City of Manchester
and IFM GIF enjoy, in equal shares, the voting rights in general meetings of Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (the holding company
of the Group), have certain matters reserved for their exclusive decision as shareholders, and make two appointments each to the
Board.

Conyers Trust

Company (Cayman)
Limited as Trustee for
e o Manchester City Council IFM Global
9 District Councils (50% voting) Infrastructure Fund
{50% Voting)
Manchester Airports

Holdings Limited

Manchester Airport
Finance Holdings Limited

Manchester Airport
Group Investments
Limited

* (The Borough Council of Bolton, the Borough Council of Bury, the Oldham Borough Council, the Rochdale Borough Council, the Council of the City of Salford, the Metropolitan
Borough Council of Stockport, the Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council, the Trafford Borough Council and the Wigan Borough Council)
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Our sustainability performance

Strategic Report

Issue Objective Indicator Status 2020/21 2019/20 Change
Carbon reduction Minimise the ‘SECR’ Scope 1, 2 and 3 N 1.190 0.232 +412.9%
— CO2 emissions environmental impact | greenhouse gas emissions
of our airports (full break-down at page 18,
market-based emissions per
traffic unit' (fonnes CO,e)
Area of noise Being good Area of daytime 57dB LAeq 24.9 69.7 (64)%
footprint neighbours within our | noise contour?
communities
Number of Supporting work Support provided by MAG New KPI 1,559 New KPI New KPI
training within our Connect Airport Academies?®
placements communities
provided
Health and safety | Maintain robust health | Number of 'RIDDOR' 2 12 (83)%
‘RIDDOR’ and safety standards reportable incidents*
reportable
accidents

Our energy and emission performance

MAGIL has reported the climate impacts of its operations for many years. An overview of energy use and emissions is published in
this Report, which fulfils our obligations under the Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and
Carbon Report) Regulations 2018.

The information presented below sets out the energy use and emissions for which MAGIL is responsible, including the energy and
emissions associated with the operation of our buildings and vehicle fleets. Our energy use and associated climate impacts are
presented in absolute terms and as a measure of ‘intensity’ compared to our passenger and cargo throughput measured as ‘Traffic
Units (which are defined by the International Air Transport Organisation (IATA) as equivalent to 1,000 passengers or 100 tonnes of
freight).

In preparing this report we have followed environmental reporting guidelines published by the Government, and adopted the principles
of the World Resources Institute’s Greenhouse Gas Protocol. Our energy use and associated emissions have been gathered largely
from a collection of primary data, where this has not been possible, we have estimated consumption by extrapolating historic energy
use — 2% of our energy use, 2% of our location-based and 5% of our market-based emissions have been estimated. Reported figures
have been independently verified by the Carbon Trust.

We know that information about our greenhouse gas emissions is important to stakeholders and believe that providing this will support
a more informed discussion about climate change. As such, alongside this year's CSR Report, we will publish a supplement providing
detailed information about emissions from MAGIL'’s activities and other emissions indirectly associated with our business.

" We measure carbon intensity against traffic units, which are defined by the International Air Transport Organisation as equivalent to 1,000 passengers or 100 tonnes of freight. In 2019-20
we changed the scope of reported emissions to align with government’s new Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) requirements. With lower activity this year we implemented a
range of energy efficiency initiatives which reduced our total energy use by 14%. Despite these measures, and an overall gross market-based emission reduction of 8%, the more significant
(82)% reduction in traffic units means that the emissions intensity of our operations increased this year. All residual emissions have been offset, and our CSR Strategy includes a
commitment to transition to zero carbon operations. More information about our carbon footprint is provided at page 18 of this Report.

2 This KPI has been modified this year to ensure we report performance measures which best reflect our performance. We have very limited influence over local planning policy, nearby
developments and building occupancy. As such, our noise related KPI is now based on noise emissions, specifically the cumulative area of the 57dB LAeq 16hr noise contour at our airports.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and significantly reduced airport activity, this year the size of our noise contours reduced by 64%. Similarly, the population within these noise contours
reduced to 4,600 from a population of 38,200 in 2019-20.

3 This KPI has been modified this year to align with our CSR Strategy. Because the measure depends upon data which was not previously recorded it is not possible to report performance for
previous years. ‘Support’ is delivered face to face and virtually and includes a range of skills and education services such as formal training, employment inductions, CV guidance, job
referrals, assisting with job applications, mock interviews, providing information on access to traineeships and apprenticeships, career talks to schools and colleges, outplacement support, and
signposting to external agencies and charity/community groups.

4 The number of RIDDOR reportable incidents has significantly reduced in the reporting period. While the COVID-19 control measures MAG has employed have played a significant part in
keeping airports safe, the reduction in incidents correlates with the significant down turn in operations across MAG.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Strategic Report

TRUST
150 140643 |9

ORGANISATIONAL
CARBON FOOTPRINT

18

and climate-related disclosures which will be included in the CSR Report we publish later this year.

2020/21 2019/20° 2018/19

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 181,314,564 | 210,406,900 | 208,525,600
Emissions from combustion of gas 11,905 9,806 9,752
(Scope 1, tCOe)
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes 2,322 5,523 4,665
(Scope 1, tCOze)
Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned vehicles where MAGIL is| 7 90 98
responsible for purchasing the fuel
(Scope 3, tCOe)
Emissions from purchased electricity® 25,074 34,624 33,225
(Scope 2, location-based, tCO.e)
Emissions from purchased electricity 59 74 5
(Scope 2, market-based, tCO.e)
Total gross emissions based on the above 39,309 50,043 47,739
(Location-based, tCOe)
Total gross emissions based on the above 14,293 15,492 14,520
(Market-based, tCOye)
Intensity measure 12,013 66,899 69,167
(Traffic units”)
Intensity ratio 3.272 0.748 0.690
(Location-based emissions, tCO,e /traffic unit)
Intensity ratio® 1.190 0.232 0.210
(Market-based emissions, tCOge /traffic unit)
Carbon offsets 14,288 15,439 14,520
(purchased and retired, tCO.e)
Total net emissions based on the above 20,015 34,551 33,225
(Location-based, tCOye)
Total net emissions based on the above 0 0 0
(Market-based, tCOye)

—_N Our energy and emission performance data has been independently verified by the Carbon Trust. The scope of this

CARBON assurance includes our SECR disclosures and headline carbon reduction KPI, the assurance also covers other energy
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Internal controls

The directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, which aims to safeguard assets and shareholders’ investment, and
seeks to ensure that proper accounting records are maintained, that statutory and regulatory requirements are met, and that the Group’s
business is operated economically, effectively and efficiently. It is acknowledged that any system of internal control is most likely to
manage rather than eliminate risk, and can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s system of internal control has been in place throughout the year and up to the date of this Annual Report. The key elements
of the internal control environment, which includes the process for preparing the consolidated financial statements, are:

e clearly defined organisational structures, schemes of delegation and lines of responsibilities;

¢ the involvement of qualified, professional employees with an appropriate level of experience (both in the Group’s Finance function
and throughout the business);

e regular meetings of the Board and of the Chief Executive’s Executive Committee;

e Board approval of long-term business strategies, key business objectives and annual budgets (with an annual review being
undertaken to update the business strategies and key business objectives);

e  preparation, and Board approval, of revised financial forecasts during the year — monitoring financial performance on a monthly basis
against budget, and the benchmarking of key performance indicators, with remedial action being taken where appropriate;

e monitoring annual performance against business plans;

e established procedures for planning, approving and monitoring capital projects, together with post project investment appraisal;

e regular review by the Group’s Finance function of each business unit including a reconciliation to the management accounts on a
segmental basis;

¢ the review by the Audit Committee and the Board of the draft consolidated financial statements, and receipt of and consideration by
the Audit Committee of reports from management and the external auditor, on significant judgements and other pertinent matters
relating to those statements;

e the activities of the Internal Audit function (see below); and

e implementation of Group-wide procedures, policies, standards and processes concerning business activities, including financial
reporting, health and safety, and human resources.

The Group has an established, independent Internal Audit function, the role of which is to provide impartial, objective audit, assurance and
consulting activity that is designed to strengthen, improve and add value to core processes and procedures across the Group.

The Internal Audit team takes a disciplined and risk-based approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk management,
internal controls and governance processes, aimed at providing assurance that risks are being well managed, and controls are
adequately designed and operating effectively. Their approach is based on professional best practice, in particular, the 2020 Internal
Audit Code of Practice, which the Company has already adopted and is applying and the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors
Standards.

An annual risk-based Internal Audit Plan is developed which provides coverage of the Group’s risk profile over a rolling five-year period,
with an initial focus on areas of high inherent risk and areas where the Group is heavily reliant on mitigating controls to manage the risk to
an acceptable level. The plan is dynamic, and is refreshed as required, to reflect the evolution of the Group’s risk profile over time. Over
the course of the year, the Internal Audit team has carried out circa 30 reviews across a broad range of areas including: landside
operations; passenger security screening; border breach controls; asset health frameworks; roster to pay processes; and aviation billing
core controls. The technology audit plan for the year has included key risk-based reviews such as ransomware protection and governance
over the use of cloud technology. Where relevant, Internal Audit scopes will also include a review of governance arrangements and as
appropriate, the reliability and quality of key business information which is being provided to support strategic decision-making processes
across thebusiness.

In respect of key strategic and capital projects, the overall Group Internal Audit Plan is supplemented by an individual Project Assurance
Plan, which is kept under regular review, and given the prevalence of major projects across the Group, is the subject of dedicated Internal
Audit resource. During the year, the team have undertaken a number of project assurance reviews, including those relating to the ongoing
transformation programmes at Manchester and Stansted airports.

The Internal Audit team carries out an annual self-assessment exercise to establish its effectiveness and any areas for improvement,
based on the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors Standards. The most recent exercise confirmed full compliance with those standards
and an action plan has been developed to support the team’s objective for continuous improvement in respect of quality assurance
processes and procedures.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

In line with best practice, MAGIL also operates an independently provided, confidential reporting telephone helpline and web portal for
employees to raise matters of concern in relation to fraud, dishonesty, corruption, theft, security and bribery. All claims are fully
investigated in line with MAGIL’s standard policies and procedures and a full whistleblowing update is provided at each Audit Committee
meeting. As part of Internal Audit’s activity in year we will also review the business’ application of policies and procedures (for areas under
review) with the aim of supporting the dissemination of good working practices and raising awareness of any non-compliance and areas
for improvement. This ensures that there is the appropriate tone from the top and MAGIL behaviours and culture is instilled across the
business.

Based on the Internal Audit work delivered during the year, in the context of materiality, and considering management’s commitment to
implement agreed control improvement recommendations, the Internal Audit team concluded that MAGIL’s internal control and risk
activities were operating effectively for the period under review. On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has received the director of
Internal Audit’'s annual report and has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. Regular reports on control
issues are presented to, and discussed with, the Audit Committee, and there is a process in place to ensure that audit recommendations
are fully implemented by senior executive management. All such, recommendations made in the prior financial year have been
implemented, together with 98% of those made in this financial year that are currently actionable. The Board, having considered the Audit
Committee’s review, is able to confirm that no significant failings have been identified in the system of internal control.

Risk management

The management of risks rests ultimately with the MAGIL Board, notwithstanding that the MAHL Audit Committee performs a significant
role, relative to risk oversight. The most significant strategic, corporate and operational risks and uncertainties identified during the year,
and the prevailing approach to management of these, appear on pages 21 to 23. The Risk and Internal Audit Department, covering Risk
Management, Internal Audit and Security Assurance, reports directly to the Company Secretary, who habitually attends every MAHL
Audit Committee meeting. Risk Registers are managed by individual risk owners, are updated on a regular basis, and are discussed
regularly between risk owners, their teams and the Risk Team. The holding of regular business risk workshops at a divisional level, and
formal biannual review of the Group’s strategic risk register by the executive directors, support this process. The MAGIL Board can
confirm that it, and the MAHL Audit Committee, regularly review the process for the identification, evaluation and management of the
strategic and significant corporate risks faced by the MAGIL Group. In the judgement of the MAGIL Board, progressively enhanced risk
management procedures have continued to promote greater business-wide awareness of the potential sources and mitigants of risk
within the MAGIL Group.

20



MAGIL

Corporate Governance Statement continued

Principal risks

Strategic Report

The table below summarises the key strategic, corporate and operational risks identified during the year, with details of the strategies for
managing them and some of the potential opportunities they present:

Risk

Mitigation Strategy

Opportunities

COVID-19

At the outset of COVID-19 MAGIL activated our Group-wide
business resilience and business continuity processes. We
established a bronze, silver and gold command structure
representing operational, Group and Executive functions.

This ensured a consistent approach across the organisation
which brought together colleagues from all functions in a joined-
up response.

Recognising the pervasive nature of the pandemic, we established
top down and bottom up risk management processes. We compiled
a COVID-19 strategic risk based on the organisational recovery
strategy. The register highlights the risks to the achievement of a
successful recovery and the mitigating actions we need to take to
ensure we reduce the likelihood and / or impact of associated risks.
It also provides a mechanism to facilitate and enhance governance
processes through review and update of the risks and monitoring of
the implementation of agreed actions.

COVID-19 policies and risk are regularly reviewed in line with the
timing and restart of international traffic so that mitigation measures
are appropriately aligned and within business appetite.

We have supplemented this via a series of bottom up risk registers
focusing on MAGIL’s successful recovery and the uncertainties
faced across the business. In doing so we have taken into account
guidance material and its application across our airports that has
been published by UK Government, EASA and ICAO.

The pandemic represents an
uncertainly of unprecedented global
impact and duration. As such it has
provided a unique opportunity to test
MAGIL’s business resilience and
continuity plans. Learning lessons from
this event will ensure that MAGIL'’s
already resilient structure is made even
more robust to face future crises.

The proactive measures we have taken
demonstrate to our stakeholders the
importance to MAGIL of being able to
deliver high quality, safe and secure
service as we seek to recover from the
impact of the pandemic.

‘Brexit’

The 2016 ‘Brexit’ referendum decision and the continuing
uncertainty concerning the outcome for the United Kingdom’s future
relationship with the EU and international trading options more
generally , after the end of the transitory period presents a
significant macroeconomic risk to the business, and the aviation
industry faces uncertainty over the short and longer term impacts of
the UK’s exit from the EU.

We monitor the economic environment closely and have ensured
that our business plans are resilient to economic shocks through
prudent scenario planning and sensitivity analysis. This, coupled
with resilient foundations built during a successful period of growth,
provides a positive long-term outlook.

MAGIL will work closely with the aviation industry to ensure that the
UK continues to enjoy liberal access to the EU aviation market.

Whilst  carefully  monitoring and
managing exposure to the risks, we will
seek to ensure that the business is well
positioned to take the opportunities
Brexit may present.

MAGIL is focused on ensuring our
airports have the capacity and quality of
facilities our customers expect in the
medium and longer term in response to
the issues created by the COVID-19
global pandemic.

The uncertainty around Brexit and other
potential economic  shocks has
provided the opportunity to review our
operating model, processes and
geographical / product diversification.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Principal risks continued

Strategic Report

Risk

Mitigation Strategy

Opportunities

Major Health &
Safety incident
affecting our
customers or
colleagues

The Health & Safety of our customers, employees and stakeholders
is a fundamental priority for us. Robust Health & Safety policies,
procedures and processes are in place, and compliance is monitored
by our experienced team of Health & Safety specialists who undertake
a programme of inspections and audits throughout the year.

Health & Safety training is provided to all employees and
briefings are provided to contractors and other visitors to our
sites to ensure that key Health & Safety risks are understood
and effectively managed.

Our Health & Safety governance structure is designed to ensure that
there is appropriate oversight of our management of Health & Safety
risk and enables material risks to be quickly escalated and
addressed. We continue to invest heavily year-on-year in ensuring
our customers, employees and stakeholders remain safe and secure
at all of our sites in the context of the current threat environment.

We work closely with the Police and Government security agencies
to ensure that our security facilities and processes meet the high
standards required to respond to new and existing security threats.

Continuous improvement of our
Health & Safety arrangements is a key
focus for each of our operations. This
is facilitated by our specialist Health &
Safety Teams and underpinned by
strong ownership and accountability
by our management teams. Whilst
security is paramount, we also want
our customers to continue to enjoy a
positive experience at our airports

Regulatory risk

Compliance with regulatory requirements is a priority for MAGIL,
and we invest in extensive internal and external assurance to
ensure we continue to be fully compliant across all aspects of our
operations.

We also deploy risk management evaluation criterion specifically for
regulatory risk. Given the number and complexity of the regulatory
requirements we are subject to, this allows us to articulate and
compare our key regulatory risks using a comprehensive approach.

We work closely and have strong
relationships with our regulators to
ensure we understand and can fully
comply with their requirements. We
strive to act quickly when
opportunities for improvement are
identified, and through our regulator
relationships we are able to plan well
in advance for successful responses
to future requirements.

Recruitment,
development and
retention of
talented people

Recruiting and retaining talent is critical to the success of our
business, and this has been an area of significant focus in recent
years. Our Talent Strategy aims to attract the best available people
in the market and retain employees through a variety of initiatives
including incentive schemes, career development programmes and
mentoring to help them contribute to driving the success of the
Company, whilst getting the very best out of their career at MAGIL.

We are also adapting our recruitment approach in key areas such
as ‘digital’ to reflect the changing external environment, where the
competition for talent is high.

Regular employee communications
and performance reviews individually
and collectively combined with regular
communications from management
and the use of employee engagement
surveys enable colleagues to identify
opportunities to improve the employee
experience. MAGIL is transparent in
communicating survey results and
proactive in developing initiatives to
deliver identified improvements.
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Corporate Governance Statement continued

Principal risks continued

Strategic Report

Risk

Mitigation Strategy

Opportunities

Cyber Security

Manchester Airports Group is part of the UK Critical National
Infrastructure (CNI) and under the Security of Network & Information
Systems Regulations (NIS Regulations) its airports are considered to
be an essential service and MAGIL is defined as an Operator of
Essential Service (OES). This change in legislation now sees cyber
security controls being regulated by the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA)
and MAGIL has to comply with this regulatory requirement that sees
cyber security associated with aviation safety.

MAGIL is committed to providing a world-class cyber security posture
and will continue to take its cyber security responsibilities with the
utmost seriousness. MAGIL has adopted a defence in depth
approach to cyber security protection and has developed an
embedded security culture through awareness, education and
empowerment to ensure we keep MAGIL’s operations, customers,
employees and stakeholders safe from cyber threats.

MAGIL operates an Information
Security Management System (ISMS)
based on the recommendations of
1ISO27001:2017, including risk
management, business continuity,
incident management, physical
security, security awareness training
and much more.

The MAGIL ISMS ensures security
governance is in place at the core of
the organisation. The Cyber Security
Steering Committee (CSSC) meets on
a bi-monthly basis to monitor
performance; these meetings include
senior stakeholders from across cyber
security, Information Technology, HR,
Finance, Legal, Airport Operations
and relevant business owners. The
CSSC helps to ensure that a wide
security strategy is sustained so that
MAGIL’s exposure to cyber threats
and risks is reduced.
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MAGIL Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited (‘the Company’) together with
the audited financial statements for FY21.

Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures

For over a decade, MAGIL has calculated and disclosed its carbon emissions, set ambitious targets and reported on progress in
transitioning to a low carbon economy. In 2012 East Midlands Airport became the first in the UK to achieve carbon neutrality. All MAGIL
airports are now independently certified carbon neutral through Level 3+ Airport Carbon Accreditation. Additionally, we have published
two rounds of climate change adaptation risk assessments and reports, identifying risks to our airports from the physical impacts of
climate change to inform our decision making.

In 2017, the Financial Stability Board released its report on the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD). We recognise the importance of these disclosures and are committed to implementing the recommendations in full.
This year we are enhancing our annual reporting by reporting against recommendations made by the TCFD. By evaluating risks and
exposures over the short, medium, and long term, this change will inform decision making and support our CSR Strategy. We will continue
to develop our approach to meet the recommendations in full, in line with forthcoming mandatory reporting.

Our Report includes detailed coverage of climate-related issues embedded within relevant sections of the report which explain how we
are managing our climate impacts and how our business is evolving in response to the risks and opportunities arising from climate
change. Our TCFD reporting index table provides an overview of where our disclosures against recommendations of the TCFD can be
found.

In Autumn 2021 we will be publishing our annual Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Report, which will include more detailed coverage
of progress against our climate change commitments. Later this year we will also be submitting our third Climate Change Adaptation
Report to Government, including the results of our latest adaptation risk assessment.

TCFD disclosure recommendation Location in this report (section & page reference)

Governance

Describe the Board’s oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities 2020/21 Annual Report — Leadership and
Governance (Page 13)

Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and 2020/21 Annual Report — TCFD section (this

opportunities section)

Strategy

Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organisation has identified 2020/21 Annual Report - TCFD section

over the short, medium and long term (this section)

Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organisation’s 2020/21 Annual Report - TCFD section

businesses, strategy and financial planning (this section)

Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking into consideration 2020/21 Annual Report - TCFD section

different future climate scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario (this section)

Risk

Describe the organisation’s processes for identifying and assessing climate-related 2020/21 Annual Report — Internal Controls and

risks Risk Management (Page 39)

Describe the organisation’s processes for managing climate-related risks 2020/21 Annual Report — Internal Controls and

Risk Management (Page 13)
Describe how processes for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks | 2020/21 Annual Report — Internal Controls and

are integrated into the organisation’s overall risk management Risk Management (Page 13)

Metrics

Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess climate-related risks and 2020/21 Annual Report - TCFD section
opportunities (this section)

Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2 and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions Scope 1 & 2: 2020/21 Annual Report — Corporate
and the related risks Social Responsibility (Page 17)

Scope 1, 2 and 3: Annual CSR Report, to be
published later in 2021’

Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climate-related risks and 2020/21 Annual Report — Corporate Social
opportunities and performance against targets Responsibility (Page 17)

" Our 2019/20 CSR Report and dedicated Greenhouse Gas Emission Report are available online: https://www.MAGAirports.com/responsible-business/csr-reports/

24



MAGIL Directors’ Report

Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) reporting index
Governance

Board
Climate Change is regarded a key risk for MAGIL and forms part of the strategic risk register. This is considered by the Audit Committee
twice a year. Details reported include any changes to the risk description as well as scoring and key mitigating actions.

Recognising the material financial risk that climate change presents to the business, specific accountability for climate change has been
assigned to our non-executive director Vanda Murray OBE, in her role as Chair of the CSR Committee (a sub-committee of the MAGIL
Board).

Climate change is also an important part of the programme and performance report provided to each meeting of the CSR Committee.
This year the CSR Committee discussed a range of climate-related issues, spanning national and international climate policy as well as
progress against, and plans to achieve, MAGIL’s net zero carbon commitment.

Management
Our Chief Executive Officer, Charlie Cornish, is accountable overall for the development and delivery of the Company’s climate change

strategy. The Group CSR and Future Airspace director, Neil Robinson, leads the development and delivery of our climate strategy, which
is one of three strategic priorities detailed in our 2020 CSR Strategy ‘Working together for a brighter future’!. Neil Robinson reports to
Chief of Staff, Tim Hawkins. MAGIL has a centralised team of experts to manage and monitor the delivery of the climate strategy across
all three airports and the wider business. This includes responsibility for driving the reduction of the Company’s carbon emissions, guiding
the approach to carbon offsetting and assessing the physical impacts of climate change to the business.

A fundamental element of our climate strategy is to play our full part in enabling the decarbonisation of the wider aviation industry. We
do this through direct stakeholder engagement and collaboration with the wider industry. MAGIL was a founding member of the UK
aviation industry coalition Sustainable Aviation and remains a member of the managing council. MAGIL is one of two airport members
of the Government’s Jet Zero Council and is an active member of the environmental committees of our European and World trade
association Airports Council International.

Strategy
As an operator of critical national infrastructure, we assess our climate-related risks over the short, medium and long term: short term,

covering the time period 2020-2039; medium term, covering the time period 2040-2069; and long term, covering the time period 2070-
2099.

Climate change presents a significant set of strategic risks for the aviation sector. Transitioning to a low-carbon economy poses a higher
risk in the short term, as the UK works towards its goal of achieving a net-zero carbon economy by 2050. Physical risks from climate
change are likely to manifest over the medium to longer term.

The risks of transitioning to a low-carbon economy are significant for MAGIL. We have already made significant progress reducing the
carbon intensity of our own operations and are confident that we have practical solutions to remove our remaining emissions. However,
the aviation industry is one of the harder industries to decarbonise. We have identified key transition risks to our business, and over the
next two years we will undertake further detailed scenario analysis to quantify our financial risks.

e Policy and legal — to reach international, regional and national net-zero targets, policies to price carbon through taxation or carbon
trading schemes will be introduced and could reduce the demand for flying. If international policies do not adequately address
aviation emissions, there may be a need for Government to consider demand management measures, which might include
measures to limit airport expansion. We are mitigating these risks by: setting a net-zero carbon target of 2038 or before for our own
emissions, which is ahead of the UK’s national target; continuing to offset our residual emissions; working with our stakeholders
directly and through our involvement in Sustainable Aviation, the Government’s Jet Zero Council and Airports Council International
to ensure that the aviation industry has a comprehensive plan to achieve net zero emissions by 2050 and thereby playing a full part
in meeting the climate challenge.

e Market — the Government, investors and lenders are increasingly looking to move towards funding decarbonisation strategies.
Businesses in high-carbon sectors are potentially at risk of attracting higher rates on lending or an increase in resources to secure
funding. We are engaging with our investors and lenders via our Investor Relations team to understand their priorities and share our
decarbonisation plans. We also remain committed to robust and transparent external disclosures on our climate-related financial
risks, our developing decarbonisation strategy and our progress with delivering the strategy.

e Technology — the transformational change from traditional aviation fuels to alternatively fuelled aircraft is likely to require significant
changes to airport infrastructure. The intermediate step to replace traditional aviation fuels with low carbon Sustainable Aviation
Fuels (SAFs) can be made using the existing fuel supply, storage and distribution systems and therefore will require lower investment
in asset upgrades. Through our involvement in the Jet Zero Council, we are working with our partners to develop and trial innovations
in low carbon aviation technologies, and we remain abreast of future developments that may require significant changes to our
assets.

" MAGIL CSR Strategy ‘Working together for a brighter future’: https://www.MAGAirports.com/media/1653/csr-strategy-document-2020-2025-online.pdf
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Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) reporting index continued

e Reputation — consumers may increasingly choose to change their travel behaviours to reduce their individual carbon footprints,
involving flying less frequently, choosing short haul over long haul, as well as choosing alternative travel modes for shorter distances.
Reduced passenger numbers travelling through our airports would directly impact our revenue. We are mitigating this by reducing
our direct carbon emissions, maintaining our airports’ carbon neutral status and developing a performance league table to show the
environmental performance of airlines flying from our airports.

As operators of critical national infrastructure assets, we already have a detailed understanding of the physical risks that climate change
poses to our airports. To support the Government’s National Adaptation Programme, in 2011 and 2015/16 we submitted Climate Change
Adaptation Reports! which included an overview of physical climate risks. We are in the process of preparing our third report which we
will submit by the end of 2021.

Through this process we assess the risks from physical climate projections for three different emission scenarios over the three time
periods set out above. Acute and chronic physical risks are assessed, and mitigation actions identified for the following categories: airport
operations; airport assets and property; interdependencies with other service providers and infrastructure assets; the aviation network;
and destination airports. We will provide a summary of these risks in our next Annual Report.

As well as posing significant risk to our business, we also recognise that climate change can provide new opportunities. For example,
the recent announcement that Fulcrum Bioenergy will be developing their first UK sustainable aviation fuel production facility in the North
West of England presents an opportunity that emissions from flights at Manchester Airport reduce as it becomes the first in the world to
be directly connected by pipeline to a SAF production site. Throughout our sustainability programmes, we are positioning ourselves to
lead the decarbonisation of the airport sector and work collaboratively with all of our aviation partners.

Risk Management

Climate change has been identified as a principal risk to MAGIL and forms part of the organisational strategic risk register which is
reported to the Audit Committee twice a year. Climate change adaptation is considered at the CSR Committee, who will receive an
update this year following our third-round risk assessment. Our risk framework also allows management to identify and evaluate potential
business opportunities emerging as a result of climate change.

Each airport has their own climate change adaptation risk assessment, which forms a fundamental part of five-yearly reporting to
Government. This year, we will be reviewing and updating these risk assessments in line with the Company’s Risk Management
Framework methodology. The actions identified from the risk assessments will be integrated into the risk action plans which are monitored
by our Risk team, with progress regularly reported to senior management and, where appropriate, the Audit Committee and the Board.

Metrics and Targets
Transitioning to a low-carbon economy is a material risk for MAGIL. We are playing our part by targeting the reduction of our greenhouse
gas emissions.

We measure, monitor and disclose our scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions each year in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol
Corporate Standard. As an airport operator, we also report against the sector-specific requirements of Airport Carbon Accreditation. We
disclose absolute greenhouse gas emissions and an industry-agreed carbon intensity measure, which is emissions per traffic unit (where
traffic units are equivalent to 1,000 passengers or 100 tonnes of freight and mail).

We have been publicly disclosing our greenhouse gas emissions for over a decade, with reports regularly enhanced through methodology
improvements and the calculation and disclosure of a wider range of indirect emissions. We publish our annual carbon footprint, along
with the previous year’s performance, in the following reports:

In the Annual Report, we publish our performance with reducing MAGIL's energy use and emissions, as required by the Streamlined
Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) regime.

e in our annual CSR Report?, we publish an overview of our carbon footprint, and an insight into our progress against our climate-
related commitments and targets. Our CSR report is prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards
Comprehensive Option, and we report specifically against GRI 302: Energy (2016) and GRI 305: Emissions (2016).

e in the financial year 2019/20, we introduced a detailed, technical Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report? for the first time. This report
provides information about how we measure our greenhouse gas emissions, our indirect emissions and our carbon neutrality. The
content of this report includes GHG emission inventories for each airport, along with verification statements provided by The Carbon
Trust.

" Climate change adaptation progress report for East Midlands and Manchester Airports:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/488080/climate-adrep-manchester-airport-group.pdf; Climate change adaptation progress
report for London Stansted Airport: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/566149/climate-adrep-stansted.pdf

2 MAGIL Corporate Social Responsibility Report, 2019/20: https://www.MAGAirports.com/media/1690/MAGIL _csr_report 2019 20 final spreads v2-002.pdf

3 MAGIL Greenhouse Gas Emission Report, 2019/20: https://www.MAGAirports.com/media/1688/MAGIL-emissions-report 2019-20 final.pdf
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Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) reporting index continued

MAGIL has published its approach to reducing direct carbon emissions since 2007, and all three airports have been carbon neutral for
several years. In 2020, we published our new Corporate Social Responsibility Strategy ‘Working together for a brighter future’. A core
element of our new Strategy is a commitment to achieving net-zero carbon emissions from our airport operations by 2038 at the latest,
ahead of the UK’s 2050 national target. To achieve our goal, we published details of the actions we will take to reduce our residual
emissions. The CSR Committee regularly discuss the progress we have made towards our goal and the plans we are developing to
implement our Strategy.

This headline target is accompanied by a range of other commitments, which will ensure that we play our full part in addressing airport-
related emissions, including from aircraft and surface access transport. MAGIL allocates significant resources to climate change risk
management. This includes:

e the launch of a competition to offer five years of free landing fees to the first electric aircraft to operate at one of our airports, valued
up to £1.3 million;

e the introduction of Sustainable Transport Funds at each of our airports, funded by a levy on car park and ‘drop off’ charges, improve
public transport, cycling and walking options;

e publishing information about emissions from aircraft operating at our airports and introducing a league table ranking the
environmental performance of our airlines;

e new emission-based landing charges to encourage airlines to operate their most efficient aircraft at MAGIL’s airports;

¢ investment of £10.0m to improve public transport, cycling and walking facilities across our airports;

e investment in ultra-low emission vehicles, transitioning to an ultra-low emission fleet by 2030.

When assessing business cases, our considerations include climate-related costs. These include costs associated with utilities, carbon
offsets and Emission Trading Scheme compliance. Over time, we will develop metrics that measure our financial risk against the
transitional and physical climate-related risks to our business.

Going forward

This year, we will be reviewing our climate change risks assessments and submitting a progress report to Government. We will also
undertake further scenario analysis, developing a robust view of the financial risks to our business from future climate change projections.
Progress against these actions will be reported to the CSR Committee and included in our next annual report.

Review of business and future developments

The consolidated results for the year under review commence on page 47. The Company intends to continue its development of the
Group as an operator of high-quality airports and airport facilities both within the UK and overseas. During the current COVID-19
pandemic the Group’s focus is: to keep its assets and its people safe; to prudently manage our expenditure profiles to match demand
levels, and maintain sufficient funding to enable MAGIL to take advantage of demand levels as they return. A more detailed review of
the Group’s principal activities, results and future developments is provided in the business overview, management review and finance
review sections of the strategic report.
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Dividends and transfers to reserves

The retained loss for the year of £317.4m (2020: loss of £97.7m) after dividends paid of £nil (2020: £nil) will be transferred from
reserves. In addition the retained loss reserves were also included: a loss of £7.9m relating to revision of actuarial assumptions relating
to the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes net of tax; a £2.4m hedging gain on the Group’s US acquisition, a foreign exchange
loss of £5.6m on MAGIL's US investments and transfer of the MAG US and the UK Distribution business and £21.9m retained
earnings deficit as part of the transfer of the MAG US and UK distribution business.

Board of Directors
The company directors during the year are detailed on page 1.
Compliance with Corporate Governance Principles

This Annual Report and Financial Statements have been prepared in adherence with The Wates Governance Principles for Large Private
Companies which can be found at https://www.frc.org.uk

Conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place for managing conflicts of interest. Should a director become aware that they, or their connected
parties, have an interest in an existing or proposed transaction with the Group, they should notify the Board in writing as soon as
reasonably practicable. Internal controls are in place to ensure that any related party transactions involving directors, or their connected
parties, are conducted on an arm’s length basis. Directors have a continuing duty to update any changes to these conflicts.

Indemnity and Insurance

The Company’s Atrticles of Association provide that, to the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, the Company may indemnify any
director, or former director, of the Company or of any associated companies, against any liability. Directors’ and Officers’ insurance has
been established to provide cover for all directors against their reasonable actions on behalf of the Company.

Statement of disclosure of information to the auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of
that information.

Contracts of significance

Details of contracts of significance with The Council of the City of Manchester are set out in note 35 to these financial statements.
Risk Management

The Board as a whole, including the Audit Committee members, consider the nature and extent of the risk management framework,
and the risk profile that is acceptable in order to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives. The Audit Committee has reviewed the work
done by management, the Committee itself and the Board, on the assessment of the Group’s principal risks, including their impact on the
prospects of the Company. The most significant strategic, corporate and operational risks and uncertainties, and the prevailing approach
to their management, are detailed on pages 21 to 23.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (SECR)

As detailed on page 23.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the Group and Company financial statements on a going concern basis. In assessing the going concern
position of the Group, the directors have considered the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the net cash flow and liquidity of the Group, for
a period in excess of 12 months, and the corresponding impact on net cash headroom and financial covenants associated with the
Group’s financing arrangements.

In assessing going concern the directors have considered: the Group’s base case forecasts (including the planned mitigating actions that
are within management’s control); the successful securing of waivers for its covenant testing in September 2021 and March 2022 and a
number of downside and severe, but plausible, downside scenarios.

e adelayed recovery with continuing travel restrictions through Summer 2021 (downside scenario); and

e ascenario of no lifting of UK travel restrictions resulting in negligible passenger volumes until March 2022 with a gradual
recovery through Summer 2022 (severe but plausible downside scenario).
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Going concern continued

In the downside scenario the Group is expected to maintain positive net cash headroom in excess of £245.0m for the 12 month period
beyond the signing date of these financial statements. This headroom reduces to £100.0m in the severe but plausible downside scenario.

The directors have concluded that the Group can maintain sufficient liquidity over the next 12 months. This, coupled with the financial
covenant waivers obtained for September 2021 and March 2022 testing periods, have resulted in the directors concluding that it is
appropriate to continue to account for the Group as a going concern.

However, there remains significant uncertainty and it is plausible that there could be an extended impact on the aviation industry that
would impact on liquidity, the Group’s refinancing of its RCF and one of its bonds which mature in 2023 and 2024 respectively and the
Group’s covenant ratios. In the event that the UK travel restrictions continue beyond March 2022 into FY23, with a gradual recovery
through Summer 2022, then whilst the severe, but plausible, downside scenario does not impact covenant compliance testing in
September 2021 and March 2022 given the aforementioned successful consent obtained from bank and bondholders, there would be
uncertainty as to whether the Group would breach its covenants when next tested in September 2022.

Whilst the Group has further options to further manage liquidity or address any potential covenant breaches, this uncertainty represents
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
therefore, that the Group and Company may be unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of
business. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or classification of assets and liabilities that
would result if the financial statements had not been prepared on a going concern basis.

Further detail of the directors’ assessment of going concern is detailed in the Basis of Preparation note in the accounting policies on
page 36.

Viability statement

The directors have assessed the viability of the Group over a three-year period, taking into account the Group’s current position and the
potential impact of the principal risks and uncertainties set out on pages 21 to 23. These risks include the ongoing impact of COVID-19
pandemic (and the Group’s business resilience and business continuity mitigation strategies), the impact of Brexit and climate change.
For the viability period the directors have concluded that COVID-19 and the aviation sector’s recovery is the fundamental risk that needs
to be considered for the purpose of assessing viability. Based on this assessment, the directors confirm that they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period to 31 March
2024.

The directors have determined that a three-year period to 31 March 2024 constitutes an appropriate period over which to provide its
viability statement. This is the period focused on by the Board during the strategic planning process and is aligned to our detailed
passenger projections. The directors have no reason to believe the Group will not be viable over a longer period, however given the
inherent uncertainty involved we believe this presents users of the Annual Report with a reasonable degree of confidence while still
providing a longer-term perspective.

In making this assessment the directors confirm that they have a reasonable expectation that the company can continue in operation
and meet its liabilities throughout the period. The directors have considered the potential impact of COVID-19 on the cashflow and
liquidity of the Group, over the period, together with the corresponding impact on the covenants associated with the Group’s financing
arrangements, and the requirement of the Group to refinance both the £500.0m Revolving Credit Facility (‘RCF’) which matures in June
2023 and a £360.0m bond which matures in April 2024.

The Group is subject to financial covenants on its Bond and Bank facilities, being leverage (Net Debt/adjusted EBITDA) and interest
cover (adjusted EBITDA less tax/ net finance charges). The covenants are tested half yearly on 31 March and 30 September. As part of
the Group’s strategic finance response to COVID-19 in 2020 MAGIL had secured waivers for the covenant tests as at 30 September
2020 and 31 March 2021.

The economic conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have continued to have a significant impact on the Group’s activity
levels throughout FY21. The additional travel restrictions in the second half of FY21 have significantly reduced passenger volumes by
89.4% in comparison to FY20 levels. The impact of this downturn has been severe reducing the businesses profitability which when
measured at the EBITDA level has transformed a £379.4m profit into a £148.1m loss, with a resultant impact upon operating cashflow.

During FY21, as part of its COVID-19 finance strategy for 2020, the Group issued £300.0m in equity funding, with a maturity date of 30
September 2058. Additionally, the business secured in excess of £400.0m in funding through the sale of its non-core property portfolio
and successfully undertook a range of cost and cash reduction measures to mitigate the immediate impact of the pandemic so that by
31 March 2021 the Group had increased its liquidity headroom.

The Group’s committed facilities at 31 March 2021 comprise: borrowings of £1,438.2m of unamortised bonds, a £5600.0m Secured
Revolving Credit Facility (which was fully drawn at the year-end) with the Group holding £518.1m in net cash balances. The Group's
Secured Revolving Credit Facility will mature in June 2023 and £360.0m of the Group's bonds will mature in 2024. The remaining
£1,100.0m of Group bonds will mature between 2034 and 2044.
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Viability statement continued

Despite the prompt action and improved liquidity position, as a consequence of the varying rate and timing of recovery from the pandemic
and the subsequent expected impact on EBITDA over the next 12 months, has resulted in there being a strong probability that MAGIL
would beach its covenants when next tested at 30 September 2021. Once again MAGIL has acted promptly to implement a strategic
finance response to secure waivers for the financial covenant tests as at 30 September 2021 and 31 March 2022 and set out a mitigating
management action plan to address liquidity headroom during the going concern assessment period. This is set out in more detail at the
Basis of Preparation in the accounting policies on page 36. Further details of the actions the Group has taken are included in the “our
response to COVID-19” section of the Chief Executive Officers statement and the “Business Outlook” section of the Financial Review.

As part of the viability assessment process management have considered the industry expectations of returning passenger levels beyond
FY22. Current expectation are PAX levels will return to 84% to 93% of pre-COVID-19 levels in FY23 and 98% of pre-COVID-19 levels in
FY24. The Basis of Preparation on page 58 sets out that the material uncertainty in relation to the Group’s going concern conclusion is
the potential that the impact of COVID-19 extends beyond FY22. Consequently, this is also regarded as a key risk in the Group’s viability
assessment.

In addition, the Group also recognised the risk that is associated with needing to refinance the £500.0m RCF and £360.0m bond within
the viability period. Management’s current expectation is that the Group will be able to successfully obtain additional funding at this time
and the continued appetite to provide funding to the sector is supported by the recent successful bond issue by London Gatwick.

MAGIL can also consider and address any emerging new or significant risks in relation to its financial position or for future financial
covenant testing dates throughout the viability period. Potential actions would include aligning capital investment, operating costs and
aviation tariffs with a lower traffic environment; sourcing additional financial support to remedy any short- term shortfalls; or negotiating
waivers with the holders for any potential breach of future financial problems beyond the current consent period.

Having considered all the relevant requirements; including MAGIL’s financial position, likely forecast and reasonable downsides, together
with actions available to mitigate impacts and the time period available to act, it is accordingly appropriate that the group will continue in
operation and meets its liabilities as they fall due over the three year period to 31 March 2024.

Employees
Employment policies

The Group’s employment policies are regularly reviewed, refreshed where applicable and updated in agreement with the Board. The
Group is committed to treating all employees and job applicants fairly and on merit, regardless of age, disability, gender and gender
reassignment, marital and civil partnership status, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, and sexual orientation. The Group does
not tolerate harassment or discrimination of any kind. If an employee becomes disabled, every effort is made to retain them in their current
role or provide retraining or redeployment within the Group.

Apprentices and the National Living Wage

MAGIL remains fully supportive of apprenticeships. The impact of COVID-19 has meant that recruitment into apprentice programmes has
paused but as the business recovers this will recommence with the view to building diverse talent pipelines as part of strategic workforce
planning. The new and compulsory National Living Wage for workers aged 25 and over became effective on 1 April 2016 and MAGIL
fully complies with all of its obligations.

Consultation and communication

Consultation with employees or their representatives has been critical through this period of uncertainty and there has been a continuous
dialogue at all levels, with the aim of ensuring that their views are taken into account when decisions are being made that may affect their
interests. As part of the Trade Union recognition arrangements, various employee forums exist for each business area, and more
information on consultation is provided in the annual CSR report.

It has been critical to ensure colleagues and leaders are kept updated through this period of change and there have been there have been
regular briefings in relation to key business and operational developments. These are cascaded throughout the organisation via multiple
communication channels such as weekly newsletters and online forums.

Policy and practice on payment of creditors

The Group’s current policy concerning the payment of the majority of its trade creditors is to follow the CBI’'s Prompt Payers Code, copies
of which are available from the CBI, Cannon Place, 178 Cannon Street, London, EC4N 6HN. For other suppliers the Group’s policy is to:

. settle the terms of payment with those suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction;

. ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment by inclusion of the relevant terms in contracts; and
. pay in accordance with its contractual and other legal obligations.
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Policy and practice on payment of creditors continued

These payment practices apply to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services without exception. The
period of credit taken by the Group at 31 March 2021 was 20 days (2020: 46 days), reflecting the average number of days between
receipt of the invoice and its subsequentpayment.

Modern slavery act 2015

Our principal reference point for slavery and human trafficking are the definitions set out in the Modern Slavery Act2015. We recognise that
slavery and human trafficking can occur in many forms such as forced labour, child labour, domestic servitude, sex trafficking and
workplace abuse. We are also aware that forced labour as a form of slavery includes debt bondage and the restriction of a person’s
freedom of movement whether that be physical or non-physical, for example, by the withholding of a worker’s identity papers. We use the
terms ‘slavery’ and ‘human trafficking’ to encompass all of these various forms of coerced labour.

We are committed to maintaining, and continuously improving, our practices to combat slavery and human trafficking. We are totally
opposed to such abuses in our direct operations, our indirect operations and our supply chain as a whole and understand that we have
a responsibility to be alert to these risks in our business. All employees are expected to report concerns and management are expected
to act upon them.

Charitable and Political Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year totalled £0.3m (2020: £0.6m). The donations were all made to recognised local
and national charities for a variety of purposes. It is the Group’s policy not to make contributions to political parties.

Auditor

Written resolutions relating to the reappointment of KPMG LLP as auditor, and to the authority of the directors to fix the auditor’s
remuneration, are to be put before the Company’s voting shareholders for execution in the short term (and in the case of the former
resolution, within the relevant period prescribed by statute). The most recent audit tender process was undertaken in 2017.

The Group assess the effectiveness of the audit process and the independence of the auditor on an annual basis. The evaluation of
audit effectiveness takes into account the views of both management and the non-executive directors across a number of attributes. The
independence of the external auditor considers both the quantum and the nature of non-audit services provided by the auditor during the
year and ensures that compliant with both the Group’s policy and the FRC'’s ethical guidance.

The report was approved and authorised by the Board and was issued on behalf of the Board.

g @ (L
@M— > \ - OIS

Charlie Cornish

Chief Executive MAGIL

For and on behalf of the Board of directors of the Company
8th July 2021
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group and parent company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in
accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of the group’s profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the group
and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

o for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 ;

o for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

e use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MANCHESTER AIRPORT GROUP
INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited (“the company”) for the year ended 31 March
2021 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including
the accounting policies.

In our opinion:

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2021
and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 ;

e the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS
102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the group in accordance
with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient
and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to the Going concern section of the accounting policies of the financial statements which describes the inherently
uncertain trading environment caused by COVID-19 which is impacting the lifting of travel restrictions, and specifically the potential
breach of financial covenants at 30 September 2022. This, along with the other matters explained in the accounting policies, constitutes
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going concern basis of preparation

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis. As stated above, they have concluded that a material
uncertainty related to going concern exists.

Based on our financial statements audit work, we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive

or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

e enquiring of directors, the audit committee, internal audit and other management as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures
to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether
they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

e reading Board and Committees of the Board minutes.
e considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management and directors.

e using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit.
As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk
that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and
judgements such as going concern, impairment of non financial assets, investment property valuation, pension liability assumptions,
recognition of goodwill on acquisition and modification of shareholder loans. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related
to revenue recognition because there is a reduced incentive for management to make inappropriate accounting entries as the
Remuneration Committee have taken the decision to suspend the STIP and LTIP plans in 2021 whilst the Group responds to the
challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
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INVESTMENTS LIMITED CONTINUED

We performed procedures including:
e Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation. These included those posted at the request of senior management and those posted to unusual accounts.

e  assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from
our general commercial and sector experience, through discussion with the directors and other management (as required by auditing
standards), from inspection of the Group’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management
the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting legislation
(including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation legislation and pension legislation and we assessed the
extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material
effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the
following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: laws and regulations of the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) who regulate the
UK’s aviation industry, health and safety, anti bribery, employment law, and certain aspects of company legislation recognizing the nature
of the Group’s activities and its legal form. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these
laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect
that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material misstatements in
the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For
example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement.
We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and
regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;
. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and
. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

o the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 32, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Michael Froom (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1 St Peter’s Square

Manchester

M2 3AE

8 July 2021
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MAGIL Group Financial Statements

Accounting Policies
GENERAL INFORMATION

Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited (the ‘Company’) is a private limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in
England and Wales in the UK. The address of the registered office is Olympic House, Manchester Airport, Manchester, MO0 1QX.

The principal activities of the Group are set out within the Directors’ Report. These consolidated financial statements were approved for
issue by the Board of directors on 8th July 2021.

MAGIL'’s principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to the current year and previous year unless otherwise stated. These accounting policies apply
the historical cost convention modified to include certain items at fair value.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and equity
account the Group’s interest in associates and Joint Ventures. The parent company financial statements present information about the
Company as a separate entity and not about its group.

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with international accounting standards
in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (“Adopted IFRSs”). The Company has elected to prepare its
parent company financial statements in accordance with FRS 102; these are presented on pages 97 to 104.

Going Concern

The directors have prepared the Group and Company financial statements on a going concern basis. In assessing the going concern
position of the Group, the directors have considered the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the cash flow and liquidity of the Group, for a
period in excess of 12 months, and the corresponding impact on cash headroom and financial covenants associated with the Group’s
financing arrangements.

The Group is subject to financial covenants on its Bonds and Bank facilities, being leverage (Net Debt / adjusted EBITDA) and interest
cover (adjusted EBITDA less tax / net finance charges). The covenants are tested half yearly on 31 March and 30 September. Following
the Group’s strategic financial response in 2020 MAGIL obtained waivers on its covenant testing at 30 September 2020 and 31 March
2021.

At the end of FY21, the Group had significant financial liquidity available of £544.0 million comprising net cash in hand of £518.1m
together with £10.0m in undrawn committed overdraft facilities. The Group also has access to a committed £90.0m Liquidity Facility
(available until June 2023) to ensure interest payment obligations can be complied with for over 12 months from the date of approval of
these financial statements. The Group does not currently expect to utilise the Liquidity Facility. Of the Group’s current borrowings, the
£500.0m Revolving Credit Facility (‘RCF”) matures in June 2023 and a £360.0m bond matures in April 2024.

The actual impact of COVID-19 upon the aviation sector has continued to evolve throughout FY21. The re-introduction of travel
restrictions during September and October 2020 followed by the suspension of all travel corridors in January 2021 coupled with revisions
to quarantine requirements has significantly impacted demand levels at our airports in the second half of the year. The timing of the
recovery in passenger numbers in FY22 will be heavily dependent upon: the country keeping to the UK Government’s roadmap out of
lockdown; the success of the ongoing vaccination programme; the impact of new variants of the virus; and the respective success of our
travel destinations in successfully lifting COVID-19 containment measures.

MAGIL has continued to take further decisive and proportionate mitigating actions to reduce costs and protect the business during this
unprecedented impact upon the economy and the aviation sector. Since the issue of the 2020 Annual Report, MAGIL has implemented
further actions to support the long-term viability of the Group by: securing over £400.0m of funds from the disposal of the non-core
investment properties; claiming over £75.0m of available Government funding under the Job Retention Scheme and the Airport and
Ground Operations Support Scheme; streamlining of the leadership and back office population by circa 33%; the reduction of up to 700
roles from the wider organisation; and additional pay reduction measures. These actions, coupled with the planned reductions in forecast
non-employment costs and capital expenditure, are expected to deliver operational savings of £185.0m for FY21 and FY22 and capital
savings in excess of £435.0m over a two year period, in comparison to the pre-COVID-19 plan. Further details of the actions the Group
has taken are included in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement and the Financial Review.

The Group’s most recent base case forecasts include passenger number projections of 40% of pre-COVID-19 levels for FY22 and the
planned mitigating actions where they are in management’s control. The gradual increase in passengers, as a result of the rollout of
vaccine programmes in the UK and overseas, are expected to deliver passenger levels for FY22 in a range of 25% to 50% compared to
pre COVID-19 levels. These Group forecasts anticipated that there was a risk that the Group would breach its financial covenants when
next tested in September 2021. Consequently, the Group promptly engaged with its bank and bondholders to obtain waivers for the
covenant testing in September 2021 and March 2022 and a modification to the covenant test to be performed in September 2022. The
Group successfully obtained consent to these proposals from its bank and bondholders on 3 June 2021.

In addition to the Group’s base case forecasts the directors have also considered a number of downside and severe, but plausible,
downside scenarios including:
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e adelayed recovery with continuing travel restrictions through Summer 2021 (downside scenario); and
e a scenario of no lifting of UK travel restrictions resulting in negligible passenger volumes until March 2022 with a gradual
recovery through Summer 2022 (severe but plausible downside scenario).

In the downside scenario the Group is expected to maintain positive cash headroom in excess of £245.0m for the 12 month period beyond
the signing date of these financial statements. This headroom reduces to £100.0m in the severe but plausible downside scenario.

The impact of COVID-19 continues to exert significant uncertainty over the aviation industry. However, based upon their assessments
detailed above the directors have concluded that the Group can maintain sufficient liquidity over the next 12 months. This, coupled with
the loan waivers obtained for September 2021 and March 2022 testing periods, have resulted in the directors concluding that it is
appropriate to continue to account for the Group as a going concern. However, there remains significant uncertainty and it is plausible
that there could be an extended impact on the aviation industry that would impact on liquidity, the Group’s refinancing of its RCF and one
of its bonds which mature in 2023 and 2024 respectively and the Group’s covenant ratios. In the event that the UK travel restrictions
continue beyond March 2022 into FY22, with a gradual recovery through Summer 2022, then whilst the severe, but plausible, downside
scenario does not impact covenant compliance testing in September 2021 and March 2022 given the aforementioned successful consent
obtained from bank and bondholders, there would be uncertainty as to whether the Group would breach its covenants when next tested
in September 2022.

Whilst the Group has further options to further manage liquidity or address any potential covenant breaches, this uncertainty represents
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
therefore, that the Group and Company may be unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of
business. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or classification of assets and liabilities that
would result if the financial statements had not been prepared on a going concern basis.

NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There are no new adopted IFRS’s, interpretations and amendments, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’)
or by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’), that are applicable for the period that have had a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Updates to accounting policies

The Group has consistently applied its accounting policies for the current and prior year. However, the Group has experienced new
transaction types during FY21, in part due to the impact of COVID-19. As a result, the Group has expanded the detail within the relevant
accounting policies to explain its treatment of:
. government grants related to income; and
e financial Instruments:
o the treatment of modification of financial instruments;
o the application of hedge accounting in the financial statements; and
o business combinations related to common control transactions.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

These consolidated financial statements include the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity, statement of financial position, and statement of cash flows of the Company and all of its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled directly or indirectly by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power (directly or
indirectly) to direct relevant activities of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Subsidiaries have been consolidated from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. At such time, any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit
and loss.

Interests in equity accounted investees

Entities, other than subsidiaries, over which the Company (directly or indirectly) exerts significant influence, but not control or joint
control, are associates. The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement,
rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an equity accounted investee is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the

investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the equity accounted investee since the acquisition
date.
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Accounting Policies continued
Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, income and expenses and all profits and losses arising from intra- group transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements.

FOREIGN TRANSACTIONS

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

e income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and

o the resulting exchange differences are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.

e any exchange differences arising from other than the translation of the results and financial position of foreign operations are
recognised through the income statement.

REVENUE

The Group operates a number of revenue streams and accordingly applies methods for revenue recognition, based on the principles
set out in IFRS 15. The revenue and profits recognised in any period are based on the delivery of performance obligations and an
assessment of when control is transferred to the customer. Revenue is recognised either when the performance obligation in the contract
has been performed (so ‘point in time’ recognition) or ‘over time’ as control of the performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

The following revenue recognition criteria apply to the Group’s main income streams.

Aviation income:

. various passenger charges for handling and security, based upon the number of departing passengers, are recognised at
point of departure.

. aircraft departure and arrival charges levied according to weight and time of departure/arrival, are recognised at point of
departure/ arrival.

. aircraft parking charges based upon a combination of weight and time parked, are recognised at point of departure. The

contracts entered into are short-term pricing arrangements, which are complex in nature given the breadth of discounts and
rebates that the Group offers. Judgement is applied to assess the impact any contract amendments have when determining
the appropriate contract term.

Retail concession income:

. concession income from retail and commercial concessions is recognised in the period to which it relates on an accruals
basis. The contracts entered into are long-term income-sharing concession agreements, with the concession fee based on
turnover.

. income from airport lounges is recognised at the point ofusage.

Car park income:

. car parking income is recognised at the point of exit for turn-up, short and long-stay parking.

. contract parking and pre-book parking is recognised over the period to which it relates on a straight-line basis. The Group
considers the performance obligation is satisfied through the provision of a car park space for each day the car is parked.

. where car parking is booked through a third party, income and related commissions are accounted for on a gross basis as the
Group is acting as a principal, rather than an agent, through its control of the pricing and availability of car park spaces.

. income and related commissions from the Group’s distribution businesses, Looking4parking.com and skyparksecure are

accounted for on a net basis, as the Group are acting as the agent in thisrelationship.

Property income:

. rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The contracts
being entered into are long-term lease arrangements.
. inter-company revenue arising from rental between the Group’s operating segments has been eliminated.

Revenue is disaggregated at the income stream level, and all segments generate revenue from all of the Group’s income streams, with
the exception of MAG US, which generates only car parking and other income, and the Group, consolidation and other segment, which
does not earn aviation income. For the purposes of the Group financial statements all inter-company turnover is eliminated upon
consolidation, whereas inter-company turnover is recognised in the revenue of individual companies.

All revenue from the Group’s income streams is generated in the UK other than some lounge and car park income which is generated in
the United States of America by MAG US.
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REVENUE continued

At contract inception the total transaction price is estimated, being the amount to which the Group expects to be entitled and has rights
to under the present contract. This includes an assessment of any variable consideration where the Group’s performance may result in
additional revenues based on the achievement of certain performance measures. In determining the amount of revenue and profits to
record, and related balance sheet items (such as trade receivables, accrued income and deferred income) to recognise in the period,
management are required to form a number of judgements and assumptions.

The Group’s customer contracts include a diverse range of payment schedules dependent on the nature and type of services being
provided. The Group agrees payment schedules at the beginning of contracts under which it receives payments throughout the term of
the contracts. These payment schedules may include performance-based payments or progress payments as well as regular monthly or
quarterly payments for ongoing service delivery. Payments for transactional goods and services may be at delivery date, in arrears or
part payment in advance. Where payments made are greater than the revenue recognised at the period end date, the Group recognises
a deferred income liability for this difference. Where payments made are less than the revenue recognised at the period end date, the
Group recognises an accrued income asset for this difference. All performance obligations are satisfied within the financial year and there
are no judgements or assumptions required to estimate transaction price or allocate revenue to performance obligations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Except for common control transactions, business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition
date, i.e. when the Group assumes control. Control exists when the Group has the power to direct relevant activities of an entity so as
obtain benefits from its activities. For acquisitions completed before 1 April 2010, attributable costs of the acquisition formed part of
goodwill. For acquisitions completed on or after 1 April 2010, attributable costs of acquisition are expensed in the income statement in
the period incurred.

For business combinations with acquisition dates on or after 1 April 2020, the Company has determined whether a particular set of
activities and assets is a business by assessing whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and
substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an acquired entity. Positive goodwill is capitalised as an asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is allocated to cash-generating units and is not
amortised. It is tested annually for impairment., or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Group’s consolidated income statement and is not subsequently reversed (see critical
accounting judgements).

Common control transactions relate to business combinations where the transaction is undertaken with an entity consolidated within the
financial results of the Group's ultimate parent company, MAHL. This includes the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings within the MAHL
group but outside the MAGIL Group. The consolidated group accounts reflect such acquisitions on a book value/ carry over basis. Any
difference between the cost of acquisition and the capital of the entity acquired is reflected in a merger reserve. Prior year comparative
figures are not restated following such a transaction.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

The Group evaluate any contingent consideration payable and apply the application guidance set out in IFRS 3 to the particular
circumstances of the transaction. The contingent consideration will accordingly be categorised as part of the consideration of the
acquisition or as post-acquisition remuneration. In all instances where the contingent consideration is dependent upon the continuing
employment of the recipients, the Group will treat the amount as post-acquisition remuneration.

Contingent consideration is initially recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity,
it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit or loss as reference.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Internally generated intangible assets
Development expenditure incurred in respect of individual projects is capitalised when the future economic benefit of the project is
probable and is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

- the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

and

- the Group can demonstrate how the intangible asset created will generate future economic benefits; and

- the Group has available the resources to complete the asset; and

- the Group intends to complete that asset and has the future ability to sell or use the asset; and

- the development cost of the intangible asset can be measured reliably.
After recognition, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be held at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation begins when the asset is ready for use. This type of expenditure primarily relates to internally developed software, booking
systems and website projects for the Group.

Purchased intangible assets (software costs)
The capitalised computer software costs principally relate to operating and financial software.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

The useful economic lives of the Group’s intangible assets are detailed below:

Years
Metrolink 20
Customer and operator Relationships 5-10
Brands 4-10
Software & Intellectual Property 5-10

If there are indications of impairment in the carrying value then the recoverable amount is estimated and compared to the carrying
amount.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment constitutes the Group’s operational asset base, and includes terminal, airfield, car parking, land, plant,
and owner-occupied property assets. Investment properties held to earn rentals or for capital growth are accounted for separately under
IAS 40 ‘Investment properties’.

The Group has elected to use the cost model under IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and equipment’, as modified by the transitional exemption
to account for assets at deemed cost that were revalued previously under UK GAAP. Deemed cost is the cost or valuation of assets as
at 1 April 2005. Consequently, property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation. Cost
includes directly attributable own labour. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

The Group capitalises borrowing costs into the cost of property, plant and equipment, if the criteria under IAS 23 are met. Depreciation
is provided to write off the cost of an asset on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life of the relevant asset.

Expected useful lives are set out below:

Years

Freehold land Indefinite
Other land and buildings 10 - 50*
Airport infrastructure:

Runways, taxiways and apron 5-75

Mains services 7-100
Plant, fixtures and equipment:

Plant and machinery 5-30

Motor vehicles 3-7

Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 5-10

*No depreciation is charged on freehold land.

Useful economic lives are reviewed on an annual basis, to ensure they remain relevant and appropriate. No depreciation is provided on
land. Repairs and maintenance costs are written off as incurred. Assets under construction, which principally relate to airport
infrastructure, are not depreciated until such time as they are available for use and any relevant regulatory approvals relating to their
bringing into use have been obtained. If there are indications of impairment in the carrying value, then the recoverable amount is estimated
and compared to the carrying amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the value that will ultimately be capitalised as an asset,
based upon IAS 16 recognition and capitalisation criteria. Where indication of impairment occurs, the recoverable amount is determined
based upon IAS 16 recognition and capitalisation criteria. This carrying amount is assessed for impairment as part of the carrying value
of the assets at each cash generating unit (“CGU”) by comparison with the value in use generated by the CGU from its net cashflows.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value and reclassified
accordingly

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group accounts for investment properties in accordance with IAS 40 ‘Investment properties’. An investment property is one held to
either earn rental income or for capital growth. The Group has elected to use the fair value model, and therefore investment properties
are initially recognised at cost and then revalued to fair value at the reporting date by an independent property valuer.

Investment properties are not depreciated. Gains or losses in the fair value of investment properties are recognised in the income
statement for the period in which they arise. Gains or losses on the disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income
statement on completion. If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its
fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.
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IMPAIRMENT

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’'s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset, or cash-generating unit, exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit” (“CGU”)). The goodwill
acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to the CGU.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was regarded by the directors as an impairment trigger. Consequently, an impairment review was
performed at year end to assess the carrying value of the Group’s assets.

LEASES
Review of contracts for leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to direct the use of an identified asset for a period of time, in exchange for consideration.

The Group has opted to apply the practical expedient not to reassess whether contracts contain a lease/the Group reassesses existing
contracts to confirm that they contain a lease.

Initial measurement

MAGIL initially recognise lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments, discounting by applying the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate wherever the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be determined. Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability include:

. fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments,

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the prevailing index or rate as at the
adoption date,

amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee,

the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise,

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and
penalties for early termination of a lease, unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The right-of-use asset is measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for any prepayments made, plus any direct costs incurred
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or restore the underlying asset on the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received.

Subsequent measurement

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, whilst the right-of-use asset is
depreciated straight line over the remaining lease term as at the date of adoption.

The liability is remeasured when:

there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in index or rate,

there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee,
if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option, or

if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When such a remeasurement occurs, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, with any
further adjustment required from remeasurement being recorded in the income statement.

Low value and short lease exemption

MAGIL has elected to not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities under leases of a duration of under one year; and low-value
leases. The expense recognised in the income statement relating to such leases is below the £100,000 used for rounding in these
financial statements, and therefore is not disclosed.

COVID-19 related rent concessions

MAGIL has elected to not apply the practical expedient to recognise COVID-19 related rent concessions as a variable lease payment,
instead opting to account for these as a lease modification in the year. Refer to note 29 to the financial statements where this is discussed
in further detail.
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Lease as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease.
As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of
the asset.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It assesses the
lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying
asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease
as an operating lease. If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term as part of
property and property-related income.

For finance leases, the Group accrues finance income on a straight-line basis over the lease term based on the interest rate implicit in
the lease, with payments received reducing the lease receivable.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
GRANTS

Grants received and receivable relating to property, plant and equipment are shown as a deferred credit in current and non-current
liabilities on the statement of financial position. An annual transfer to the income statement is made on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful life of the asset for which the grant was received

Following the claiming of government income grants during the year (see note 4) the Group has expanded this grants policy description
to government grants related to income.

Government grants related to income are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all the
grant conditions have been complied with. Grants income related to expense items are recognised on a systematic basis over the period
matching the recognition of the expense in the financial statements. The Group has chosen to present grants related to an expense item
as net deductions against the related expense.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments are classified at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL)
or Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI).

The Group’s treatment of financial assets and liabilities:

trade receivables are recognised initially at their transaction price with a loss allowance provided based upon the estimated credit loss.

Subsequent measurement reflects any revisions to the estimated credit loss allowance with any gains or losses being recognised in the

income statement; and

. all financial liabilities (corporate bonds, bank loans and overdrafts and trade and other payables) within the scope of IFRS 9 are
initially measured at fair value and then subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any gains or losses arising are recognised
in the income statement.

Expected credit loss

The Group applies IFRS 9 to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, the Group have grouped trade receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics,
including the customer’s industry and the days past due. The Group’s historical loss rates are considered alongside current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables and reasonable
forecasts.

The Group’s definition of default is based on the ageing of the debts and will also consider the financial status of the customer.

Following the acquisition of the three US businesses during the year (see note 17) and the Group’s strategic finance response to the
COVID-19 pandemic the Group has expanded this financial instruments policy to include: hedge accounting; and modification of
instruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments and hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to its foreign currency exposure where in line with its Treasury policies. The Group
applies hedge accounting in relation to any derivative where the hedge is in accordance with the Group’s Treasury policies; the
appropriate documentation related to the hedged instrument and hedged items are in place; and the hedge has been assessed as
effective. Where the derivative qualifies under the own usage exemption the Group will seek to apply the exemption as opposed to apply
hedge accounting.
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Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a
highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in
the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the associated cumulative gain or loss is
removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the associated cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to the income statement in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affects profit or loss.

When the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but
the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement immediately.

Modification of Instruments

Modification to the terms of financial liabilities held at amortised cost are assessed, qualitatively and quantitively to determine whether
the modification is a substantial modification or not.
e if the modification is substantial then the financial liability will be de-recognised and a new financial liability is recognised at fair
value; and
e ifthe modification is not substantial then revisions to the carrying value of the liability as a result of the revised cashflow estimate
are recognised in the profit and loss account in the period; and fees associated with the modification are added to the carrying
value of the liability and amortised over the residual term.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes
therein are generally recognised in profit or loss. The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability
in cash flows associated with highly probable forecast transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.

At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group documents the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the
hedge. The Group also documents the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether
the changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other.

FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Financing expenses include interest payable, finance charges calculated under IAS 19 and finance charges on lease liabilities recognised
in profit or loss using the effective interest method, and unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that
are recognised in the income statement (see foreign transactions policy). Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset that takes a substantial time to be prepared for use, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Financing income comprise interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income, interest income on lease receivables and net foreign
exchange gains that are recognised in the income statement (see foreign transactions policy). Interest income and interest payable is
recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on
the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.'

CONTINGENT ASSETS

Contingent assets are primarily insurance related, and mitigate losses caused by claims against the Company. Contingent assets are
only recognised when they are virtually certain and are presented in other debtors, separate from the associated provision amount.
However, they are presented net in the profit and loss account.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Group accounts for assets held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax and investment property that are carried at fair value.

Non current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held
for sale and equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

The assets and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance
sheet.

A discontinued operations is a component of the Group that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a
separate major line of business, is part of a single coordinated plan to disposal of such a line of business. When an operation is classified
as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement is profit or loss and OCI is presented as if the operation had been discontinued
from the start of the comparative year.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits and short-term
deposits net of bank overdrafts, which have an original maturity of three months or less. This also includes any held by banks at the year
end processing currency exchange contracts where the amount of funds to be returned to the Company are known and have a maturity
of three months or less.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any
difference between the amount initially recognised (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

BORROWING COSTS

The Group does not capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets into
the cost of property, plant and equipment, unless the criteria under IAS 23 are met. Where the criteria is met, borrowing costs are
calculated by applying an average interest rate in the period to the expenditure incurred on qualifying assets.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time
value of money, and where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

TAXATION
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into account deferred tax due to temporary differences between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities, and the accounting bases of assets and liabilities in the financial statements. The principal constituents
of the deferred tax liability in the Group financial statements are temporary differences on property, plant and equipment, where the
carrying value in the financial statements is in excess of the tax base due to accelerated capital allowances, and the previous effects of
revaluations under UK GAAP.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that the temporary difference can be utilised against
taxable profit in the future. Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity, are also recognised directly in
equity. Deferred tax is based on the tax laws and rates that have been enacted at the statement of financial position date and which are
expected to apply when the relevant deferred tax item is realised or settled. Current tax has been calculated at the rate of 19% applicable
to accounting periods ending 31 March 2020 (2019: 19)%.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS

The Group participates in four defined benefit schemes, which are contracted out of the state scheme, as well as two defined contribution
schemes. The costs of defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they are incurred. Defined
benefit schemes are accounted for as an asset or liability on the statement of financial position. The asset or liability reflects the present
value of defined benefit obligations, less the fair value of plan assets. The amount reported in the income statement for employee benefit
costs includes past service costs, current service costs, interest costs and return on assets income. Past service costs are charged to
the income statement immediately, and current service costs are charged to the income statement for the period to which they relate.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of
plan assets. This cost is included as an employee benefit expense in the income statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. The defined
benefit asset or liability, together with the current and past service costs, are calculated at the reporting date by an independent actuary
using the projected unit credit method.

Under IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’, surpluses on
pension schemes are not recognised unless there is an unconditional right to recover or realise them at some point during the life of the
plan. The unconditional right would not exist when the availability of the refund or the reduction in future contribution would be contingent
upon factors beyond the entity’s control (for example, approval by third parties such as plan trustees). To the extent that the right is
contingent, no asset would be recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ITEMS

Significant items are items of income and expense that, because of their size, unusual nature, or frequency of the events giving rise to
them, merit separate presentation to allow an understanding of the Group’s underlying financial performance. Such items include
impairment of assets, major reorganisation of businesses and integration costs associated with significant acquisitions. They also
include the costs associated with the modification of financial instruments or close out of previous financing arrangements upon
refinancing.

DIVIDENDS

A dividend to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements during the period in which
the right to receive a payment is established via the declaration of a dividend approved by the Company’s Board of directors, or, as the
case may be, voting shareholders.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements the Group has made estimates and judgements that impact the application of the
group accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may, however, differ from
the estimates calculated, and management believe that the investment properties, leases, discontinued operations, going concern,
pensions and goodwill categories contain the more significant judgements impacting these financial statements.

COVID-19 has had a significant impact upon the accounting estimates & judgements as at the reporting date. The Group has had to
consider this impact in presenting the financial statements to this report. The critical accounting estimates areas of: valuation of
investment properties; valuation of the Group’s net pension liability; discount rate applied to leases under IFRS 16 and the impairment of
the Group’s non-financial assets are detailed below:

JUDGEMENTS

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Group has made key judgements. Management believe that going concern, pensions
and acquisition accounting categories contain the more significant judgements impacting these financial statements.

i. GOING CONCERN

The impact of COVID-19 has resulted in the Group obtaining waivers from the requirements to perform loan covenant testing and obtain
additional equity funding to ensure that the Group has adequate headroom going forward.

The directors have evaluated whether these actions, coupled with further mitigating actions that the Group can undertake are sufficient
to ensure that MAGIL will continue as a going concern for plausible future trading scenarios reflecting the likely timing and rate of recovery
of the sector. Based upon this assessment outlined at page 29 the directors have concluded to regard MAGIL as a going concern for
the purpose of these financial statements.

ii. PENSIONS

The Group’s decision to close the defined benefit pensions schemes for future service accruals required the directors to determine
whether, at the reporting date, there was the degree of control over the closure process as required by IAS 19 in order to account for the
scheme closure at the reporting date. This assessment by the directors is detailed in note 28 to the accounts.

iii. US ACQUISITION - IDENTIFICATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group’s acquisition of three US based business during the year required the directors to the assess the nature of those business
and the existing assets and relationships to identify intangible assets arising upon acquisition as detailed in note 16 to the accounts.

ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainty at the reporting date is detailed below:

i. CARRYING VALUE OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (INCLUDING GOODWILL)

Estimates have been made in respect of the amounts of future operating cash flows to be generated by certain of the Group’s CGUs, in
order to assess whether there has been any impairment of the amounts of the Group’s assets included in the statement of financial
position.

The directors have viewed that COVID-19 has acted as an impairment trigger of its long-term assets and consequently have assessed
the recoverable amounts of its CGUs. The assessment of recoverable amounts based upon Value in Use projections of future operating

cashflows of the businesses which are based upon a range of assumptions of the timing and rate of economic recovery from the pandemic
and the resultant impact upon the Group’s trading levels.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS continued

i. CARRYING VALUE OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (INCLUDING GOODWILL) continued

The Group has considered future traffic levels projections issued by other industry participants in arriving at its own projections which
were used for both the impairment review and the Group’s going concern assessment. These projections considered the timing and rate
of recovery to pre-COVID-19 activity levels. For impairment purposes long-term projections beyond the 5-year business plan time horizon
were based upon long-term growth rates. Downside scenarios included low-growth assumptions in considering risks around recoverability
of the assets carrying value and the reduction in terminal value growth rate/ increase in discount rate that would be required in order to
bring a CGU into impairment. Further details of these scenarios are detailed at note 16.

ii. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties were valued at fair value at 31 March 2021 by Savills, and Fisher German. The valuations were prepared in
accordance with IFRS and the appraisal and valuation manual issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations were
carried out having regard to comparable market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties, land valuations and discounted cash
flow methods. The value of the Group’s Investment Properties has been included at the values advised by its professional advisors.
Further details of the basis of estimation for the valuation of the Group’s investment properties is detailed at note 15.

iii. PENSIONS

Certain assumptions have been adopted for factors that determine the valuation of the Group’s liability for pension obligations at year
end, future returns on pension scheme assets and charges to the income statement. The factors have been determined in consultation
with the Group’s independent actuary taking into account market and economic conditions.

Changes in assumptions can vary from year to year as a result of changing conditions and other determinants which may cause increases
or decreases in the valuation of the Group’s liability for pension obligations. The objective of setting pension scheme assumptions for
future years is to reflect the expected actual outcomes. The impact of the change in assumptions on the valuation of the net financial
position for pension schemes is reflected in the statement of recognised gains and losses. Further details are available in note 28.

iv. US ACQUISITION — VALUATION OF CONSIDERATION AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Certain assumptions and valuation methodologies have been applied by the Group for the accounting for the acquisition of the three US
based businesses during the year. The Group assessed the future business trading projections and the relevant discount rate to estimate

the valuation of the consideration of the acquisition, including a contingent consideration element, and the valuation of the intangible
assets arising upon acquisition. Further details are provided in note 16.
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2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Total before - Total after  Total before . Total after
L Significant . s Significant s
Note significant . significant significant . significant
. items . . items .
items items items items
Revenue 1 176.2 - 176.2 8721 - 8721
Besult from operations before significant 4 (321.6) ) (321.6) 202.6 ) 202.6
items
Significant items
Exceptional costs 3 - (37.9) (37.9) - (17.4) (17.4)
Result from operations (321.6) (37.9) (359.5) 202.6 (17.4) 185.2
_Galns and losses qn sales and valuation of 15 1.2 ) 1.2 29 i 29
investment properties
Finance income 7 18.5 - 18.5 18.8 - 18.8
Finance costs 8 (78.6) - (78.6) (54.3) - (54.3)
Result before taxation (380.5) (37.9) (418.4) 169.3 (17.4) 151.9
Taxation - result from operations 10 53.6 5.5 59.1 (62.9) (3.0) (65.9)
Result from continuing operations (326.9) (32.4) (359.3) 106.4 (20.4) 86.0
Discontinued operations
E{ai?ult from discontinued operations (net of 11 26 393 41.9 179 6.2) 117
Result for the year (324.3) 6.9 (317.4) 124.3 (26.6) 97.7
Earnings per share expressed in pence per share
Continuing operations 12 (205.0) 491
Discontinued operations 12 23.9 6.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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2021 2020

Note £m £m
Result for the year (317.4) 97.7
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution business 39 11.7 -
Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities 28 (9.7) 31.0
Deferred tax on remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities 10 1.8 (7.1)
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on deferred tax 10 - 1.7
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign exchange movement (4.9) -
Tax on foreign exchange movement 0.4 -
Hedging gain 17 2.4 -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year 1.7 25.6
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (315.7) 123.3

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Share Share  Merger Foreign Hedging Other Retained
capital remium reserve currency ! reserve earnings Total
P P reserves 'oooTve 9
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 April 2020 175.3 2,668.9 - - - (1,249.6) 899.5 2,494.1
Total comprehensive income for the year
Result for the year - - - - - - (317.4) (317.4)
Trapsfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution 39 ) 34.4 ) 0.8) ) ) (21.9) 11.7
business
Foreign exchange movement - - - (4.5) - - - (4.5)
Hedging gain 17 - - - 14 1.0 - - 24
Remeasurement of defined benefit liabilities, net 28, 10 ) ) ) ) B B (7.9) (7.9)
of tax
- 344 - (3.9) 1.0 - (347.2) (315.7)
Transactions with owners recorded directly
in equity
Issue of C shares 32 - 356.1 - - - - - 356.1
Balance at 31 March 2021 175.3 3,059.4 - (3.9) 1.0 (1,249.6) 552.3 2,534.5
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2020
Attributable to equity holders of the Group
Share Share Merger Foreign Hedging Other Retained
. . currency . Total
capital premium  reserve reserve reserve earnings
reserves
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 April 2019 175.3 2,668.9 - - - (1,249.6) 776.2  2,370.8
Total comprehensive income for the year
Result for the year - - - - - - 97.7 97.7
Remeasurement of defined benefit liabilities, net 28, 10 ) ) ) ) ) ) 239 239
of tax
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on 10 ) i ) ) i i 17 17
deferred tax
- - - - - - 123.3 123.3
Transactions with owners recorded directly
in equity
Dividends paid to equity holders - - - - - - - -
Balance at 31 March 2020 175.3 2,668.9 - - - (1,249.6) 899.5 2,4941

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

! Cash flow hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged

transactions that have not yet occurred.
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2021 2020
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 16 206.2 166.3
Intangible assets 16 99.9 38.9
Property, plant and equipment 13 3,263.9 3,305.5
Right-of-use assets 14 419.5 410.4
Long-term lease receivable 14 11.2 -
Investment properties 15 166.9 137.5
Other long term asset 71 -
Deferred tax asset 30 - 87.0
4,174.7 4,145.6
Current Assets
Assets held for sale 18 2.0 443.8
Inventories 19 3.5 5.1
Trade and other receivables 20 65.1 92.8
Cash and cash equivalents 21 530.0 234.0
Amounts owed by group undertakings 665.4 1,286.3
1,266.0 2,062.0
Current Liabilities
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 18 (0.4) (73.7)
Trade and other payables 26 (185.5) (270.6)
Overdrafts 22 (11.9) -
Deferred income (16.7) (19.3)
Current lease liabilities 29 (7.9) (5.3)
Provisions 27 (12.6) -
Current tax liabilities (27.2) (28.3)
Amounts owed to group undertakings (26.9) (656.7)
(289.1) (1,053.9)
Net current assets 976.9 1,008.1
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 22-25 (1,920.8) (1,923.3)
Retirement benefit liabilities 28 (54.9) (46.2)
Non-current lease liabilities 29 (428.4) (407.0)
Deferred tax liabilities 30 (187.9) (261.3)
Provisions 27 (3.0) -
Other non-current liabilities 31 (22.1) (21.8)
(2,617.1) (2,659.6)
Net Assets 2,534.5 2,494 .1
Shareholders' equity
Share capital 32 175.3 175.3
Share premium 32 3,059.4 2,668.9
Foreign currency reserve 33 (3.9) -
Hedging reserve 33 1.0 -
Other reserve 33 (1,249.6) (1,249.6)
Retained earnings 33 552.3 899.5
Total equity 2,534.5 2,494 .1

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 36 to 96 were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 July 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

bk
Guf D> \ - SIS

Charlie Cornish, Group Chief Executive, MAGIL
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2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Before L. .. After Before .. .. After
significant Slgnlflcant significant significant Slgnlflcant significant
items items items items ftems items
Cash flows from operating activities
Result from continuing operations (326.9) (32.4) (359.3) 106.4 (20.4) 86.0
Taxation (53.6) (5.5) (59.1) 62.9 3.0 65.9
Gains and losses on sales and valuations of investment properties (1.2) - (1.2) (2.2) - (2.2)
Net finance income and expense 60.1 - 60.1 35.5 - 35.5
Depreciation and amortisation 173.5 - 173.5 176.8 - 176.8
Decrease in trade and other receivables and inventories 24.8 - 24.8 21.0 - 21.0
(Increase)/decrease in amounts owed by group companies 6.8 - 6.8 (6.6) - (6.6)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (65.8) (2.7) (68.5) 12.6 - 12.6
Release of grants - - - 2.8 - 2.8
Increase in retirement benefits provision (4.0) 1.9 (2.1) (10.8) 10.5 (0.3)
Cash generated from continuing operations (186.3) (38.7) (225.0) 398.4 (6.9) 391.5
Result before taxation - discontinued operation 4.3 13.5
Finance expense - discontinued operation (3.6) 14.7
Non-cash movements - discontinued operation - (9.0)
Interest paid (80.0) (78.4)
Tax received 42.1 (58.8)
Net cash from operating activites (262.2) 273.5
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (183.7) (501.5)
Proceeds (net of selling costs) from sale of property, plant, ) 21
equipment and investment properties
Proceeds from the sale of assets held for sale - 0.7
Release of grants 1.3 -
US Acquisition (24.3) -
Receipt of funds from other group companies 27.7 (36.3)
Net cash used in investing activities (179.0) (5635.0)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operation, net of fees 400.1 -
Net cash used in investing activities - discontinued operations 400.1 -
Cash flows from financing acitivities
Decrease/(increase) in bank loan borrowings, net of debt issue ) 349.0
costs
Funds received from shareholder 300.0 18.7
Funds in relation to refinancing (4.4) -
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 374 -
Bond issued in the year, net of issue costs - 341.9
Payment of principal on lease liabilities (7.8) (5.6)
Payment of shareholder loan interest on MAHL's behalf - (32.6)
Dividends paid to shareholders - (199.3)
Net cash from financing activities 325.2 4721
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 36 284.1 210.6
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 234.0 234
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 21,23 518.1 234.0

The accompanying notes form a integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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1 Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

2021 2020
£m £m
Aviation income 74.3 361.2
Commercial income
Retail concessions 16.2 185.5
Car parking 37.7 228.5
Property and property related income 20.5 18.7
Other 27.5 78.2
Total commercial income 101.9 510.9
Total income - continuing operations 176.2 8721
Income - discontinued operations’ 8.5 28.9
Total income 184.7 901.0

' All income from discontinued operations relates to property and property related income.

Aviation income includes passenger facility charges, runway charges, passenger security charges and aircraft parking charges, all of which are
recognised at the point of departure.

Retail concessions includes duty free income, food and beverage income and airport lounge income.
Other income includes utility cost recharges, fees for airline services and aviation fuel sales.

Revenue from all income streams is recognised in line with IFRS 15.

As at 31 March 2021 there were no revenue recognised relating to performance obligations that were unsatisfied as at the year end. Any billing
where performance obligations were not satisfied are held in deferred income.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
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2. Business and geographical segments

For management purposes, the Group is organised into four main operating divisions: Manchester Airport, London Stansted Airport, East Midlands
Airport and MAG US. Most of the Group's core investment property portfolio are included in the results of the airport at which they are located.
The reportable segments are consistent with how information is presented to the Group Chief Executive (Chief Operating Decision Maker) to report

its primary information for the purpose of assessment of performance and allocation of resources, with information primarily presented at a segmental

operating profit level.
The primary business of all of these operating divisions is the operation and development of airport facilities in the UK, and accordingly, no separate

secondary segmental information is provided.

Year ended 31 March 2021

Manchester London East Group, Consolidated - Discontinued
Airport Stansted Midlands consolidation MAG US continuing operations
P Airport Airport and other’ operations P
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 70.9 66.1 36.3 (1.4) 4.3 176.2 8.5
Inter-segment sales? - - - - - - -
External Revenue 70.9 66.1 36.3 (1.4) 4.3 176.2 8.5
Result
Segment operating profit/(loss) before
significant items (174.4) (126.4) (8.9) (7.7) (4.2) (321.6) 7.9
Significant items (11.9) (15.7) (0.9) (9.2) (0.2) (37.9) -
Segment operating profit/(loss) after
significant items (186.3) (142.1) (9.8) (16.9) (4.4) (359.5) 7.9
Gains and losses on sales and
. . . 1.2 -
valuation of investment properties
Finance income 18.5 -
Finance costs (78.6) (3.6)
Result before taxation (418.4) 4.3
Other information
Segment assets 2,101.1 1,216.5 274.8 1,790.0 58.4 5,440.8 -
Segment liabilities (1,302.8) (337.5) (139.7) (1,079.4) (46.9) (2,906.2) -
Capital expenditure 107.6 23.5 5.5 12.2 0.5 149.3 -
Depreciation 78.8 69.4 14.3 1.3 - 163.8 -
Amortisation 5.2 0.3 - 1.9 23 9.7 -
Taxation 30.6 234 1.6 3.50 - 59.1 (1.7)
Result - geographical location®
Segment operating profit/(loss) before (182.1) (126.4) 8.9) (7.7) 4.2) (329.3) 26

significant items

See next page for footnotes.
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2. Business and geographical segments continued

Year ended 31 March 2020

Manchester London East Group, Consolidated - Discontinued
Airport Stansted Midlands consolidation MAG US continuing operations
P Airport Airport and other’ operations P
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 437.8 365.2 711 4.7 - 878.8 28.9
Inter-segment sales? (3.3) - - (3.4) - (6.7) -
External Revenue 434.5 365.2 711 1.3 - 872.1 28.9
Result
Segment operating profit/(loss) before 108.1 101.2 12.2 (18.9) - 202.6 25.2
significant items
Significant items (1.6) 7.3 (0.4) (22.7) - (17.4) (6.2)
Segment operating profit/(loss) after 106.5 108.5 11.8 (41.6) - 185.2 19.0
significant items
Gains and losses on sales and
. : . 2.2 9.2
valuation of investment properties
Finance income 18.8 -
Finance costs (54.3) (14.7)
Result before taxation 151.9 13.5
Other information
Segment assets 3,099.4 1,187.3 285.4 1,192.0 - 5,764.1 461.4
Segment liabilities (544.9) (420.4) (65.5) (2,609.3) - (3,640.1) (73.7)
Capital expenditure 364.1 102.2 15.4 31.6 - 513.3 7.9
Depreciation 91.1 69.2 12.7 1.3 - 174.3 0.2
Amortisation 2.5 - - - - 25 -
Taxation 38.5 33.2 7.3 (9.4) - 69.6 1.8
Result - geographical location®
Segment operating profit/(loss) before 103.9 1012 122 (14.7) ) 202.6 25.2

significant items

! Group consolidation and other includes, Group, Head Office, MAG Property, and other subsidiary companies and balances arising on consolidation, which are not specific to the other
main operating divisions. Assets include goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation. Liabilities include borrowings, further details of which can be found in Note 22
Borrowings.

2 Sales between segments are at arm's length.
3 As part of the Group's review of the operating and reportable segmentals, given the disposal during the period of the non core property and significant investment in the MAG US

division, the Group has disclosed MAG US as a reportable segment, with MAG Property being disclosed within the Group consolidation and other category. Prior year comparatives
have been restated in line with IFRS 8.
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3. Significant items

2021 2020
£m £m
Recorded in result from continuing operations
Significant items’ 37.9 17.4
Total significant items recorded in result from continuing operations 37.9 17.4
Recorded in result from discontinued operations
Significant items incurred by discontinued operations2 (note 10) (39.3) 6.2
Total significant items recorded in result from discontinued operations (39.3) 6.2
Total significant items (1.4) 23.6

Notes:

Significant items from continuing operations

Significant items of £37.9m (2020: £17.4m) include: restructuring costs of £33.4m across the Group as the business aligns its cost base to demand
levels, M&A activity of £1.2m, the additional pensions and associated costs of £2.7m relating to the proposed closure of the defined benefit schemes,
The Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF), MAG (STAL) pension scheme and E.M.I.A Pension Scheme (EMIA) (£0.8m), and a curtailment loss
(£1.9m) in respect of redundancies during the year.

2 Significant items from discontinued operations

In FY20 significant items of £6.2m related directly to the sale of the Group’s non-core property portfolio including advisory fees and additional works
not part of the normal course of business. The costs incurred by the business in FY21 are included in the calculation of £39.3m profit on disposal of
the discontinued operation.

4. Result from operations before significant items

2021 2020

Note £m £m

Turnover 1 176.2 8721
Wages and salaries (168.2) (212.1)
Social security costs (15.6) (20.8)
Pension costs (17.5) (22.6)
Coronavirus job retention scheme 58.9 -
Employee benefit costs (142.4) (255.5)
Depreciation and amortisation (173.5) (176.8)
(Loss)/profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.1) -
Other operating charges1 (201.3) (237.2)
Airport ground and operations support scheme 19.5 .
Result from continuing operations before significant items (321.6) 202.6
Result from discontinued operations before significant items 11 7.9 25.2
Result from operations before significant items - total business (313.7) 227.8

Notes:
' Other operating charges includes maintenance, variable rent, rates, utility costs and other operating expenses.
The reduction in employee benefit costs is directly linked to the Group's response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the cost mitigating actions put into

immediate effect including; a reduction of discretionary expenditure, a 10% pay reduction for 12 months to 1 April 2021 for all MAG employees and
an organisational restructure, with the restructuring costs being disclosed within significant items, see note 3.
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4. Result from operations before significant items continued

Additionally, the Group ultilised the Government's Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme through furloughing a significant proportion of the Group's
employees throughout the year. As such, the reimbursement under the scheme of £58.9m has been netted off against the underlying expenditure to
which it relates. Additionally the Group utilised £19.5m from the Government's Airport groudworker and operators support scheme.

5. Employee information

The average number of persons employed by the Company (including directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2021 2020
Number Number
By location
Manchester Airport 3,306 3,747
London Stansted Airport 1,655 1,872
East Midlands Airport 529 593
MAG US 12 -
5,502 6,212

Manchester Airport includes Group, Head Office, MAG-USA, Looking4Parking and SkyParkSecure as well as operational employees. The
calculation for the average number of employees has been calculated for both 2021 and 2020 to reflect full-time equivalent (FTEs) employees.
6. Directors' emoluments

Further details of directors’ emoluments and a description of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out on pages 31 to 34 of the annual report and
accounts for Manchester Airports Holdings Limited.

2021 2020
£m £m

Directors' emoluments
Aggregate emoluments’ 7.3 6.4

! Including the non-executive directors of the Group's ultimate parent MAHL.

An amount of £nil (2020: £0.1m) was paid into money purchase schemes in respect of two directors (2020: two). Consistent with the treatment in
prior years the amounts above include STIP payments during the year of £1.6m paid relating to prior periods. The LTIP amounts included in the
current year are amounts accrued in the financial statements driven by the Group's FY21 - FY24 LTIP scheme, and amount to £2.0m. The Group
have proposed a revised LTIP scheme to the Remuneration Committee following the cancellation of the FY18- FY21 LTIP. The proposed scheme is
designed and developed to reflect the Group's recovery from COVID-19 over the next 3-4 years. Directors emoluments for 2021 include £1.0m of
termination payments. A further £0.3m of emoluments were paid post year end.

2021 2020
£m £m

Key management compensation
Aggregate emoluments 12.2 9.4
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6. Directors' emoluments continued

Key management for the Group are the Board of Directors and members of the Executive Committee (EXCO) who control and direct the Group's
operational activities and resources. For FY21 the Group have included the Managing Directors of the UK airports in the key management
compensation figures. Consistent with the treatment in prior years the amounts above include STIP payments during the year of £2.4m paid relating
to prior periods. The LTIP amounts included in the current year are amounts accrued in the financial statements driven by the Group's proposed
FY21-FY24 LTIP scheme, and amount to£3.4m. The Group have proposed a revised LTIP scheme to the Remuneration Committee following the
cancellation of the FY18-FY21 LTIP. The proposed scheme is designed and developed to reflect the Group's recovery from COVID-19 over the next
3-4 years.

The key management compensation for the current year comprises; Short term employee benefits £6.6m; Post-employment benefits £0.4m; Other
long-term benefits £3.4m; and termination payments £1.8m.

The key management compensation for the current year comprises: Short-term employee benefits £6.1m; Post-employment benefits £0.4m; Other
long-term benefits £3.4m; and termination payments £1.6m.

2021 2020
£m £m

Highest paid director
Aggregate emoluments 25 22

The £2.5m (2020: £2.2m) includes salary, benefits, STIP payment during the year of £0.7m relating to a prior period, and an accrued LTIP under the
Group's proposed FY 2021- 2024 LTIP scheme.

7 Finance income

2021 2020

£m £m

Interest receivable from Group undertakings 18.5 18.8

Total finance income 18.5 18.8
8. Finance costs

2021 2020

Note £m £m

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 8.6 3.4

Interest payable on bonds 56.2 54.9

Interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes 28 1.1 2.2

Interest expense on lease liabilities 29 221 21.4

Capitalisation of borrowing costs 13 (6.1) (12.9)

Finance charge to discontinued operations 10 (3.6) (14.7)

Unwind of deferred consideration 0.3 -

Total finance costs 78.6 54.3

MAGIL capitalises borrowing costs in accordance with IAS23. Following the COVID pandemic the Group has refocused its capital expenditure to
completing components of the transformation projects which were in progress whilst deferring the commencement of new phases. As a result the
quantum of capitalised interest has reduced to £6.1m (2020: £12.9m). Further details are provided at note 13.
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2021 2021 2020 2020
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operations operations operations
Note £m £m £m £m
Result before taxation has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Release of capital based grants (1.3) - (0.4) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment1 13 155.3 - 166.5 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14 9.4 8.0
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 9.7 - 25 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 - - - -
Significant items? 3 37.9 (39.3) 174 6.2
Gains and losses on sales and valuation of investment properties 15 (1.2) - (2.2) (9.2)
Interest charged on lease liabilities 29 221 21.6
Employee benefit costs 4 142.5 - 2555 1.2
Auditor’s remuneration®
Audit of these financial statements 0.3 - 0.2 -
Amounts receivable by the Company’s Auditor and its associates in respect
of:
Audit of subsidiaries’ financial statements 0.3 - 0.3 )
Other services relating to taxation & other consultancy - - 0.1 -
Total auditor’s remuneration 0.6 - 0.6 -

' The overall depreciation charge relating to property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets under IFRS 16 and intangible assets is in aggregate £1.0m
higher than the depreciation charge of £173.4m in the income statement, due to £1.0m of release of capital grants being offset against depreciation in the
year. The remaining release of £0.3m of capital grants is deemed to be revenue in nature.

ZA description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Leadership and Governance section within the MAHL annual report and accounts. This
includes an explanation of how Auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non audit services are provided by the Auditor.

3 Significant items have been separately disclosed on the face of the consolidated income statement. Further details of these items are shown in note 3

Significant items.
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10. Taxation

Analysis of charge in the year

2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Before Before
significant  Significant items Total significant Significant items Total
items items
Current taxation
UK corporation tax on profits for the year (36.0) (5.5) (41.5) 42.2 3.0 452
Adjustment in respect of prior year (9.5) - (9.5) (0.4) - (0.4)
Total current taxation (45.5) (5.5) (51.0) 41.8 3.0 44.8
Deferred taxation
Temporary differences arising in the year (17.3) - (17.3) 2.0 - 2.0
Adjustment in respect of prior year 10.7 - 10.7 (4.7) - 4.7)
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax - - - 256 - 25.6
Total ordinary deferred taxation (6.6) - (6.6) 229 - 229
Total taxation charge (52.1) (5.5) (57.6) 64.7 3.0 67.7

The £57.6m tax credit (2020: charge of £67.7) which comprises a credit from continuing operations of £59.1m (2020: charge of £65.9m) and a charge

for discontinued operations of £1.7m (2020: £1.8m).

Taxation on items charged/(credited) to equity

2021 2020

£m £m

Deferred taxation on remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities (1.8) 71
Deferred taxation on foreign exchange movements (0.4) -
Effect of change in rate of corporation tax - (1.7)
Total taxation charge/(credit) (2.2) 5.4

Factors affecting the taxation charge for the year

The total taxation charge for the year ended 31 March 2021 is lower (2020: higher) than the standard rate of corporation taxation in the UK of 19%

(2020: 19%). The differences are explained below.

2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Before Before
significant  Significant items Total significant Significant items Total
items items
Result before taxation (376.2) (37.9) (414.1) 148.0 17.4 165.4
Result before taxation multiplied by the standard
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2020: (71.5) (7.2) (78.7) 281 3.3 314
19%):
Effect of:
Lower than standard rate used for DT temporary
differences ) ) ) ) i i
Non-taxable items 18.2 1.7 19.9 16.0 (0.3) 15.7
Adjustments to prior year taxation charge 1.2 - 1.2 (5.2) - (5.2)
Effect of change in rate in corporation tax - - - 25.7 257
Total taxation debit/(credit) (52.1) (5.5) (57.6) 64.6 3.0 67.6

The deferred tax assets and liability amounts at 31 March 2021 have been calculated at 19% (2020: 19%). The prior year deferred tax debit primarily

relates to an increase in assets qualifying for capital allowances.
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11. Discontinued operations

The results of the discontinued operation, which have been included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows:

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
March 2021 March 2020

£m £m
Revenue 8.5 28.9
Operating costs (0.6) (3.7)
Operating profit 7.9 25.2
Significant items - (6.2)
Gains and losses on sales and valuation of investment properties - 9.2
Finance costs (3.6) (14.7)
Attributable tax expense (1.7) (1.8)
Result of discontinued operation 2.6 11.7
Profit of discontinued operation (note 39) 39.3 -
Net profit attributable to discontinued operation (attributable to owners of the Group) 41.9 11.7

The Group commenced a sales process for its non-core property portfolio during the year ended 31 March 2021 with the sale completing on 7 August
2020. Non-core property represented a major line of business for the Group. Consequently the trading performance of the portfolio has been
classified as a discontinued operation since 1 April 2019. Details of the disposal are given in note 38 to the financial statements.
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Earnings per share is the Group's result of the year, after taxation, divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue in the year.

2021 2020
Weighted Weighted
average average
number of number of
Earnings shares Per share amount Earnings shares Per share amount
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued  Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations operations operations  operations operations operations operations

£m £m m pence pence £m £m m pence pence
EPS
attributable to
ordinary
shareholders -
before
significant
items (326.9) 2.6 175.3 (186.5) 1.5 103.4 17.9 175.3 59.0 10.2
EPS
attributable to
ordinary
shareholders -
after
significant
items (359.3) 41.9 175.3 (205.0) 23.9 86.0 11.7 175.3 49.1 6.7

Basic and fully diluted earnings equate to the same amount.
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Freehold land and Long Airport  Plant, fixtures Assets in the
leasehold . . course of Total
property infrastructure and equipment .
property construction £m
£m £m £m
£m £m

2021
Cost
At 1 April 2020 156.8 630.9 2,323.7 809.7 925.7 4,846.8
Additions - - - - 149.3 149.3
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses (note 39) - 11.4 2.4 3.4 2.2 19.4
Reclassification from assets in the course of construction - 42.6 59.7 64.2 (166.5) -
Reclassification to/from investment properties (note 15) - - - (0.4) (0.5) (0.9)
Reclassification to intangible assets (note 16) - - - (35.2) (23.8) (59.0)
Disposals - (0.7) (3.2) (3.2) (0.4) (7.5)
At 31 March 2021 156.8 684.2 2,382.6 838.5 886.0 4,948.1
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020 53.7 214.0 670.5 603.1 - 1,541.3
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses (note 39) - 3.0 0.7 1.2 - 4.9
Charge for the period - 16.6 85.4 53.3 - 155.3
Reclassification to intangible assets (note 16) - - - (12.1) - (12.1)
Depreciation on disposals - (0.5) (1.9) (2.8) - (5.2)
At 31 March 2021 53.7 233.1 754.7 642.7 - 1,684.2
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 103.1 451.1 1,627.9 195.8 886.0 3,263.9
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2020 103.1 416.9 1,653.2 206.6 925.7 3,305.5
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Freehold land and Long Airport  Plant, fixtures Assets in the
property leasehold infrastructure  and equipment coursg of Total
em propi:rz em £m construct|£c:: £m

2020
Cost
At 1 April 2019 187.4 481.4 2,173.1 730.7 758.0 4,330.6
Additions - - - 0.4 520.8 521.2
Reclassification from assets in the course of construction - 117.7 155.7 79.2 (352.6) -
Other reclassifications (30.5) 30.5 - - - -
Reclassification from/(to) investment properties (note 15) - 1.5 (0.2) (0.2) - 1.1
Reclassification to intangible assets (note 16) - - - - (0.5) (0.5)
Disposals (0.1) (0.2) (4.9) (0.4) - (5.6)
At 31 March 2020 156.8 630.9 2,323.7 809.7 925.7 4,846.8
Depreciation
At 1 April 2019 53.7 198.1 587.2 541.3 - 1,380.3
Charge for the period - 16.2 88.1 62.2 - 166.5
Depreciation on disposals - (0.3) (4.8) (0.4) - (5.5)
At 31 March 2020 53.7 214.0 670.5 603.1 - 1,541.3
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2020 103.1 416.9 1,653.2 206.6 925.7 3,305.5
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2019 133.7 283.3 1,585.9 189.4 758.0 2,950.3

The carrying amount of land not depreciated as at 31 March 2021 is £213.6m (31 March 2020: £235.4m). Where assets have both depreciating and
non-depreciating parts, the asset as a whole is categorised by its nature. During the year the Group's carrying value of property, plant and
equipment reduced by £1.5m as a result of foreign exchange rate changes upon translation of the Group's US operations into GBP.

Capitalised borrowing costs

During the year ended 31 March 2021, borrowing costs of £6.1m were capitalised (31 March 2020: £12.9m), relating to borrowing costs incurred in
FY21. Capitalised borrowing costs were calculated on a monthly basis, by applying the rate of interest for the relevant month to expenditure incurred
in that month. The average rate of interest applied in the year ending 31 March 2021 was 5.56% (2020: 5.84%).

These borrowing costs were capitalised due to the transformational capital investment projects being undertaken at Manchester and London
Stansted Airports.

The value of costs capitalised during the year has reduced substantially in comparison to prior year due to:

- reducing the effective interest charge

- MAGIL refocus of capital expenditure to complete current phases of transformation work in progress and deferral of future phases as part of the
response to the COVID-19 pandemic; and

- management ceasing interest capitalisation on the current phases of the MAN-TP programme as the main contractor hands over the work
performed (October - December 2020).

Impairment review

During the year ended 31 March 2021, management have carried out an impairment review of the fixed assets, including the useful economic lives
of assets. A write-off of £1.3m has been recognised in the discontinued operations in the year, to eliminate the carrying value of assets disposed of
as a result of the Group's sale of its non-core property portfolio.

The carrying value of the property, plant and equiptment for each CGU was assessed by management as part of the year end impairment exercise.
The details of the full impairment review performed during the year are provided at note 16.
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Assets in the course of construction
Assets in the course of construction is £913.2m in the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: £925.7m). A substantial portion of which will be brought
into use as a key stage of the Manchester transformation programme concludes during the next financial year.

Other reclassifications:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a review of assets held in the "freehold land and property" category was carried out to move all depreciating
assets to their appropriate categories. These assets were typically fully depreciated.

Assets pledged as security:
The bonds and bank loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

14. Right-of-use assets

Land and Airport Plant, fixtures and Total
Buildings infrastructure equipment em
2021 £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2020 215.7 198.4 3.9 418.0
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses (note 39) 3.9 - - 3.9
Additions 3.1 - 7.8 10.9
Remeasurements 15.8 24 (1.0) 17.2
Disposals’ (0.4) - - (0.4)
Transfers to long term lease liabilities (11.2) - - (11.2)
At 31 March 2021 226.9 200.8 10.7 438.4
Depreciation
At 1 April 2020 4.7 3.0 0.3 8.0
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses (note 39) 15 - - 15
Charge for the period 4.7 3.2 15 9.4
At 31 March 2021 10.9 6.2 1.8 18.9
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 216.0 194.6 8.9 419.5
At 31 March 2020 211.0 195.4 3.6 410.0
Land and Airport Plant, fixtures Total
Buildings infrastructure  and equipment om
2020 £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2019 218.4 198.1 0.7 417.2
Additions 0.4 - 3.2 3.6
Reclassification to assets held for sale (note 17) (2.8) - - (2.8)
Remeasurements 0.1 0.3 - 0.4
At 31 March 2020 216.1 198.4 3.9 418.4
Depreciation
At 1 April 2019 - - - -
Charge for the period 4.7 3.0 0.3 8.0
At 31 March 2020 4.7 3.0 0.3 8.0
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2020 211.4 195.4 3.6 410.4

At 31 March 2019 - - - -

1 Disposals
Disposal of lease asset associated with the sale of the non core property portfolio.
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Impairment Review

The carrying value of the right-of-use assets for each CGU was assessed by management as part of the year end impairment exercise. The details
of the this review is detailed at note 16.

Key lease arrangements
Key lease arrangements are detailed in note 29.

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets

During the year to 31 March 2021, the income generated from subleasing right-of-use assets was £0.7m (2020: £1.9m), generated solely from
sublets of land and buildings.

Gains or losses generated from sale and leaseback transactions
During the year to 31 March 2021, the Group incurred a £0.7m loss (2020: nil) from sale and leaseback transactions.
Long term lease receivable

As a result of the sale of the non-core portfolio on 7 August 2020, a rent review was triggered on an existing lease between MAG and Manchester
City Council (MCC). The rent increased from £nil to £0.6m per annum from this date, and the lease is in place until 31 August 2288. Further details
are disclosed in note 35.

The £0.6m per annum rental charge is to be passed on to the purchasers of the non-core property portfolio under identical terms to the arrangement
with MCC. As this represents an effective sale of the right of use asset, which arose as a result of the rent review, management have derecognised
the right of use asset and replaced it with a long-term lease receivable. The present value of amounts receivable as at 31 March 2021 is £11.2m.
The discount rate used is 5.48%. The closing liability if the discount were to increase by 1% would be £9.5m and would be £13.7m if the discount
rate decreased by 1%.

The amounts receivable under this agreement are as follows:

£m £m
Undiscounted Discounted
Within 1 year 0.6 0.6
1to 2 years 0.6 0.5
2 to 5 years 1.8 15
Over 5 years 151.3 8.6
154.3 11.2
15. Investment Properties
Investment
properties
2021 £m
Valuation
At 1 April 2020 137.5
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (note 13) 0.9
Revaluation 1.2
Reclassification from assets held for sale 27.3
At 31 March 2021 166.9
Investment
properties
2020 £m
Valuation
At 1 April 2019 552.6
Additions 7.4
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment (note 13) 1.1)
Revaluation 10.1
Disposals (0.7)
Reclassification to assets held for sale (note 17) (430.8)
At 31 March 2020 137.5
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The fair value of the Group’s commercial investment property at 31 March 2021 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at that
date by Savills Plc. Fisher German LLP carried out the valuation of the Group's residential property portfolio at 31 March 2021.

The valuers are independent and have appropriate recognised professional qualifications, and recent experience in the locations and categories of
the locations being valued. The valuations, which conform to International Valuation Standards, were arrived at by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties, land valuations and analysis of demand within the vicinity of the relevant properties. Under IAS40 a fair
value method has been adopted to revalue investment properties that become occupied by the Group and are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

The fair value measurement for all of MAGIL's investment properties has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based upon the inputs to the
valuation technique used. The valuers have used the following bases of valuation:

Commercial Property

Inter- relationship between key unobservable

Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs . .
inputs and fair value measurements
« Investment property — the investment property Investment property The estimated fair value would increase if:
valuations as having been carried out using the » Comparable yields » market rental growth was higher
comparative and investment methods. The valuation -« All risks adjustment * void periods were shorter
of the commercial property has been assessed using Development Land * occupancy rates were higher
analysis of appropriate comparable investment and « Comparable price per acre * non-payment of rent was lower
rental transactions, together with evidence of « the risk adjusted discount rate was lower

demand within the vicinity of the property and taking
into account size, location, terms and other factors.
* Land under development — residual valuation
approach estimates the Gross Development Value
(GDV) of the proposed development (usually the
market value using the investment method and
making an appropriate deduction for development
costs, finance and developer’s profit.

« Other Development land — valuation was based
upon the net price per acre in the current market.

Residential Property

Inter- relationship between key unobservable

Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs . .
inputs and fair value measurements
Valuation is completed on a comparable basis of Where comparable evidence is hard to The estimated fair value would increase if the
similar properties in the vicinity. obtain, adjusted information is used to property:
reflect differences in location, size, » was larger
aspect and condition. « in a preferred location

* in a better condition

The rental income earned by the Group from its investment property amounted to £16.4m (2020: £38.8m), of which £8.5m was attributable to
discontinued operations (2020: £28.9m). Direct operating expenses arising on the investment property in the year amounted to £2.8m (2020:
£4.4m), which includes £nil (2020: £nil) of operating costs where no income was derived.

Gains and losses on sales and valuation of investment properties reported in the consolidated income statement of £1.2m in the year (2020:

£11.4m) includes £1.2m of valuation gains on investment property (2020: £10.1m), of which £nil was attributable to discontinued operations (2020:
£9.2m attributable).
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Software Other intangible

Goodwill costs assets Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2020 166.3 - 52.4 218.7
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses (note 39) 4.5 - 8.0 12.5
Acquisitions (note 17) 354 - 18.5 53.9
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment - 59.0 - 59.0
Foreign exchange - - (1.7) (1.7)
Disposals - - 0.7 0.7
At 31 March 2021 206.2 59.0 77.9 343.1
Amortisation
At 1 April 2020 - - 13.5 13.5
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses (note 39) - - 1.7 1.7
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment - 12.1 - 12.1
Charge for the year - 4.4 5.3 9.7
At 31 March 2021 - 16.5 20.5 37.0
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 206.2 42.5 57.4 306.1
At 31 March 2020 166.3 - 38.9 205.2
Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units based on the benefits to the Group that arise from each business combination. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the lowest cash generating unit at which management monitor goodwill. The lowest level of cash
generating unit is considered to be: Manchester Airport; London Stansted Airport; East Midlands Airport; MAG US's legacy lounge and car parking
business; Looking4parking.com; SkyParkSecure and each of the three newly acquired US based online car-parking aggregator businesses (see
note 17).

Of the goodwill total of £206.2m, £166.3m is attributable to the acquisition of London Stansted Airport, £4.5m attributable to the acquisition of the UK
distribution companies, with the remaining £39.0m attributable to additions to goodwill in the period from the acquisitions of
airportparkingreservations.com LLC and ParkSleepFly.com and its subsidiary shuttlefinder.net. The goodwill relating to the acquisitions of the three
US based entities in the period (see note 17) is denominated in US dollars and as a consequence of the USD: GBP exchange rate at the year end
the goodwill attributable to these entities in the year end accounts has reduced to £35.4m.

Intangibles

The intangible assets total of £57.4m is attributable to Metrolink (£34.5m), airspace redesign (£2.5m), the acquisition of the UK distribution
companies (£6.0m) and the remaining £14.4m relates to the acquisitions of airportparkingreservations.com LLC (APR), ParkSleepFly.com (PSF)
and shuttlefinder.net (SF), which comprises £18.5m of additions and £2.4m of amortisation for the period, and a reduction in carrying value of £1.7m
arising due to the change in USD:GBP exchange rate at 31 March 2021.

Software costs
£42.5m of capitalised computer software costs principally relate to operating and financial software.

Impairment

The principal CGUs used in the Group's impairment assessment consisted of:

* Manchester Airport where the recoverable amount provided a £574.9m headroom over the assets carrying value of £1,981.1m;

» London Stansted Airport where the recoverable amount provided £282.7m of headroom over the assets carrying value of £1,645.7m;

« East Midlands International Airport where the recoverable amount provided £130.6m of headroom over the assets carrying value of £228.8m.
When applying a 1.5% growth rate in yield and PAX, there is an impairment of £566.1m on an asset base of £229.6m;

Management have identified that a reasonable possible change in one key assumption that would cause the carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable amount.

Change required for
recoverable amount to
equal carrying value

Yield growth (2.50)%

Passenger yield growth reduce to 1.50%
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Impairment continued

* MAG US, where each lounge constitutes a CGU, the overall recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value of £12.0m by £8.9m. However, for
two of the smaller lounges the recoverable amount assessment showed a combined impairment £0.7m which has been booked to the accounts;

* MAG's UK Distribution Companies (where the CGU's are the Looking4Parking and SkyParkSecure businesses) where the recoverable amount
amounts for each business is more than £8.0m in excess of the asset carrying values (combined carrying value for both businesses £10.0m); and

» Each of the newly acquired online US based car parking aggregator companies (see note 17) constitute a separate CGU. The recoverable amount
assessment is based upon the approved budget from April 2021 but management have also considered a downside scenario that excludes post-
acquisition operating improvements and limited growth in operator relationship base. The impairment assessment for each CGU:

- Airportparkingreservations.com - where the recoverable amount provided a £5.9m headroom over the asset carrying value of £25.6m (Downside
scenarios analysed would not give rise to impairment);

- Parksleepfly.com - where the recoverable amount provided a £3.2m headroom over the asset carrying value of £22.7m (Downside scenarios
analysed would not give rise to impairment); Management have identified that a reasonable possible change in one key assumption that would
cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount.

Change required for
recoverable amount to
equal carrying value

Passenger growth (30.00)%

- Shuttlefinder.net - where the recoverable amount provided a £0.3m headroom over the asset carrying value of £0.4m (Downside scenarios
analysed would not give rise to impairment).

The impairment testing calculated the recoverable amount of the goodwill, intangible assets, PPE and right-of-use asset in each cash generating
unit by comparing the carrying value to the calculated value-in-use. Key assumptions for these calculations are those regarding discount rates,
terminal value growth rates, expected changes to passenger and revenue growth rates, EBITDA margin and the level of capital expenditure required
to maintain the assets.

The Group prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the Board in April 2021 covering five years.
Climate change considerations have been accounted for when arriving at the underlying costs in forecast cashflows. Management have also
considered a downside scenario with FY22 passenger levels at 25% of pre-COVID-19 levels, which is in line with the lower end of industry
expectations.The budget estimates UK passenger levels in FY22 at 40% of pre-COVID-19 levels which is in line with the mid-point of both
management and industry estimates. No additional impairments arose as a result of considering this downside. The budget also estimates US
passenger levels for FY22 at 65% of pre-COVID-19 levels, which is a prudent assumption given the activity levels being experienced in the US in
the first months of FY22.

These projections and downside sensitivities for the timing and rate of passenger volume recoveries are in line with the projections used for going
concern. For the purposes of the impairment assessment the business reflected the budget for the first 5 years and considered a terminal value for
each CGU based upon a long-term growth reflecting estimated rates of inflation of 2%. This rate has been arrived at after taking into account climate
change considerations. The business has used a budget of 5 years as recommended under IAS38 but appreciates that additional forecast period
could be merited to reflect the business's return to normal trading levels post COVID-19 recovery. If an additional forecast period was applied in the
impairment assessments this would give rise to an increase in the headroom to those quoted.

The discount rates used in the cash flow forecasts have been estimated based on post-tax rates that reflect the market participant’s assessment of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash generating unit. In determining the discount rates, the Group has sought to arrive at a
Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) using the capital asset pricing model for a market participant. The post-tax rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows was calculated as:

- UK Airport CGUs: 6.89%;

- Looking4Parking and SkyParkSecure: 12.04%; and

- US CGUs (both legacy lounge & car parking business and recently acquired online cark parking aggregator businesses): 13.0%

Other intangible assets

In 2014 the Group secured rights to ensure that the Greater Manchester Metrolink light rail system was extended to Manchester Airport, connecting
the airport to the wider Metrolink network. The contractual agreement ensures that the Metrolink service, which commenced in November 2014, will
be operated for a period of 30 years. The cost of securing the rights has been capitalised and is being amortised over 20 years from November
2014, which the directors believe to be the foreseeable period over which the majority of the benefits from the service will accrue to the Airport.
Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has reduced passenger numbers on the Metrolink system the expectation is that the use of the rail system will
subsequently return to more normal levels of activity as passenger numbers return in FY'22 and beyond. Consequently the Metrolink intangible
asset has not been impaired. The managment have assessed the recoverable amount of the carrying value of the Metrolink contribution as part of
the impairment assessment of the Manchester Airport (CGU), as the cashflows relating to the Metrolink asset are not independent from those of the
airport, which is detailed above.

Additional intangible assets relate to software, intellectual property, customer lists and brands as part of the acquisition of Looking4Parking and
SkyParkSecure.
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On 22 June 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the membership interests of AirportParkingReservations.com LLC, ParkSleepFly.com LLC and
Shuttlefinder.net LLC, for initial cash consideration of $31.3m. An additional amount of $25.0m payable on 2 April 2021, and a further contingent
amount of up to $12.5m is payable in April 2022 dependent upon post-pandemic aviation market recovery, linked to aggregated US passenger
enplanements. As at the half year, the Group regard the consideration as equating to £52.3m based on fair valuation work performed on the
contingent consideration and the underlying criteria for the additional payment being met.

The three businesses are online aggregators and distributors of airport parking and associated travel booking options in North America, holding a
combined list of over 1,000 operator relationships with coverage of all major North American airports. Together, they represent the largest airport
parking distributor in the US market. The acquisition enables the Group to build on its expanding base of operations in the US whilst also leveraging
on its existing expertise with online aggregators and distributor businesses in the UK.

The Board believes that the excess of cash consideration paid over net identifiable assets on acquisition of £39.0m is best considered as goodwill
on acquisition. The goodwill reflects the directors' view of the synergies that can be achieved between the continuing operations of the acquired
entities with Group's existing business operations and areas of expertise. These synergies are anticipated to generate additional post-acquisition
growth by increasing the business's operator relationship base and generate digital revenue growth. These synergies do not qualify for separate
recognition as intangible assets and have been recognised as goodwill. The goodwill calculation is summarised below:

Measurement  Fair value at 22

Book value adjustments June 2020
£m £m £m

Acquiree's net assets at acquisition date:
Intangible assets (net of amortisation)1 - 18.5 18.5
Cash 0.7 - 0.7
Trade and other payables (1.1) - (1.1)
Deferred tax liability - (4.8) (4.8)
Net identifiable assets (0.4) 13.7 13.3
Goodwill identifiable on acquisition - 39.0 39.0
Total consideration (0.4) 52.7 52.3
Total consideration split: £m
Up front payment 23.8
Deferred consideration® 18.8
Contingent consideration’ 7.3
Effective portion of hedging instrument® 24
52.3

! Intangible assets were subject to a fair valuation exercise at the acquisition date. The intangible assets and the basis of estimating their fair value
were:

- Operator relationships £14.7m - was valued on a cost to re-create basis

- Technology £1.5m - was valued on a replacement cost basis

- Trade names £2.3m - was valued on a relief from royalty basis

Operator relationships are the most significant intangible asset identified as part of the acquisition and the key inputs for their valuation was: the
number of operator relationships; the attrition rate of those relationships; and the length of time to create the relationship.

2 As at the year end, the Group regard the consideration as amounting to £26.1m based on fair valuation work performed by
PricewaterhouseCoopers on the contingent consideration and the underlying criteria for the additional payment being met. Since the contingent
consideration is due after 12 months, this amount has been discounted to present value with reference to prevailing market rates (1.41% to 1.61%).
Contingent consideration of up to $12.5m is payable based upon US enplanement levels in FY22 as a percentage of pre-COVID levels. The
directors have estimated enplanements to be 75% of pre-COVID levels in their determination of fair value.

® The net assets acquired as part of the purchase have been translated at the prevailing spot rate as at 31 March 2021, and the £2.4m gain on the
effective hedge resulting from purchasing a forward at a more beneficial rate has been recorded in other comprehensive income in the period.

Impact on income statement resulting from the acquisition
Included in the twelve month period ended 31 March 2021 is revenue of £4.3m and loss before tax of £1.9m in respect of the three entities.

Had the acquisition of AirportParkingReservations.com Inc, ParkSleepFly.com Inc and Shuttlefinder.net LLC been effected at 31 March 2020, the
revenue and profit before tax of the Group for the 52 week period to 31 March 2021 would have been £4.5m and £2.7m respectively.
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Year end impact of acquisitions

In the year end accounts the carrying value of the principal assets acquired in the acquisition were:

- Goodwill - which reduced from £39.0m arising upon acquisition to £35.4m at 31 March 2021 as a result of the movement in the USD: GBP
exchange rate from 1.2448:1 at the date of acquisition to 1.3712:1 at the 31 March 2021; and

- Intangible assets - which reduced from £18.5m arising upon acquisition to £14.5m at 31 March 2021 as a result of amortisation of £2.4m and the
balance of the movement reflecting the movement in the USD: GBP exchange rate.

These movements are detailed in the roll-forward of goodwill and intangible assets as detailed at note 16. The £4.1m reduction in the GBP value of
the acquired entities assets arising as a result of foreign exchange movements has been reflected in reserves in accordance with IAS21.

Acquisition costs

Acquisition related costs amounting to £1.2m have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have been recognised as an expense in
the year, within significant items in the consolidated income statement.

Forward contract for up front payment and deferred consideration

MAG entered into two forward contracts to purchase:

- $30.0m at a closing rate of 1.1324 USD to GBP at the date of acquisition; and

- $25.0m at a closing rate of 1.3139 USD to GBP at 2 April 2021, in order to satisfy the up front deferred consideration element detailed above.
This is in line with the Group's risk management strategy and enabled the Group to fix the sterling amount of relating to USD payments where both
the timing and the amounts were contractually fixed. Consequently, there is no risk to future GBP cashflows arising from the entry into these forward
contracts. Management have chosen to apply hedge accounting to the transaction.

As a result of applying hedge accounting to the acquisition a hedging gain of £2.4m arising upon acquisition has been recognised directly in
reserves. Without applying hedge accounting to the two forward contracts the Group would have recognised a net derivative gain of £0.5m in the
income statement (with a gain on the upfront payment more than offsetting a loss on the deferred payment) along with a liability of £0.8m at the
reporting date.

18. Assets held for sale and associated liabilities
31 March 31 March

2021 2020
£m £m

Assets held for sale
Right-of-use assets - 2.8
Investment properties 2.0 432.8
Trade and other receivables - 8.2
Total 2.0 443.8

31 March 31 March

2021 2020
£m £m

Associated liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities - (2.7)
Deferred tax liabilities (0.4) (62.8)
Trade and other payables - (3.8)
Current lease liabilities - (0.2)
Deferred income - (4.2)
Total (0.4) (73.7)

In the year MAGIL sold the majority of its non-core property portfolio which was classified as held for sale at 31 March 2020. Assets held for sale as
at 31 March 2021 represent the retained investment property at Bournemouth Airport.

The basis of fair value measurement and valuation of the Group’s commercial investment property, including assets held for sale, at 31 March 2021
has been disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements.
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19. Inventories

2021 2020
£m £m
Consumables 3.5 5.1
3.5 5.1
Amount of inventory charged to cost of sales in the period amounted to £2.1m.
20. Trade and other receivables
2021 2020
£m £m
Trade receivables 22.6 59.3
Other receivables 30.6 6.1
Prepayments and accrued income 11.9 274
Total 65.1 92.8

Other receivables primarily relate to £19.5m for Airport and Ground Operations Support Scheme, £4.2m for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme,
and £1.8m for funding for the SESAR (Single European Sky ATM Research) which relates to costs that are recovered from the European Union in
respect of research activities into air traffic management over European skies.

The average credit period taken on sales is 47 days (2020: 22 days). An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from trade
receivables of £8.0m (2020: £2.6m). This includes reserves against specific debts estimated as irrecoverable and additional amounts included
comprising of £5.8m (2020: £0.2m) additional reserve relating to estimated credit losses.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables are at amortised cost.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. The level of past due debt over 90 days old has been recalculated to
reflect age based upon due date:

2021 2020

£m £m

Debt due over 90 days 17.9 3.4

Total 17.9 34
Movement in the expected credit loss of trade receivables is as follows:

£m

Balance at 1 April 2020 2.6

Increase in allowance for impaired receivables 0.6

Additional provision during the year 5.1

Provision utilised during the year (0.3)

Balance at 31 March 2021 8.0

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in ‘operating expenses’ in the consolidated income statement.

Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovery. The ageing of these receivables is as
follows:

2021 2020

£m £m

Less than 60 days 1.2 -
60 to 90 days 0.3 -
Over 90 days 6.5 2.6
Total 8.0 2.6

The Group has limited exposure to foreign currency exchange risk with trade and other receivables including £(1.1m) held in US dollars by the MAG
US business. All other receivables amounts are denominated in pounds sterling. There are no credit quality issues with receivables that are not past
their due date. Additional disclosure on financial risk is included in note 25.
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21. Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 530.0 234.0

Total 530.0 234.0
The directors consider that the carrying value of net cash and cash equivalents are at amortised cost.

22. Borrowings

2021 2020

Note £m £m

Bank loans 23 482.6 481.9

Bonds 24 1,438.2 1,441.4

Overdrafts 11.9 -

1,932.7 1,923.3

Borrowings are repayable as follows:
In one year or less, or on demand

Bank loans 23 - -
Overdrafts 11.9 -
11.9 -
In more than one year, but no more than two years
Bank loans 23 - -
In more than two years, but no more than five years
Bank loans 23 482.6 481.9
Bonds 24 357.7 358.1
840.3 840.0
In more than five years — due other than by instalments
Bonds 24 1,080.5 1,083.3
1,080.5 1,083.3
Non-current borrowings 1,920.8 1,923.3
Total borrowings 1,932.7 1,923.3

The Group is party to a Common Terms Agreement (CTA) where bank and bond creditors benefit from the same suite of representations, warranties
and covenants. The CTA was signed on 14 February 2014.

The CTA, together with a Master Definitions Agreement, covers inter alia The Amended and Restated Initial Authorised Credit Facility Agreement
(ACF), The Amended and Restated Liquidity Facility Agreement (LF), and the Group's issue of publicly listed fixed rate secured bonds in February
2014 and April 2014 respectively.

The Group has revolving credit and liquidity facilities, comprising a £500.0m revolving credit facility and £90.0m (increasing from £60.0m on 1 April
2019) in standby liquidity facilities, each with a five year term, maturing in 2023. The Amended and Restated LF Agreement has total facilities of
£90.0m and is sized to cover 12 months interest on secured debt. The LF Agreement is a 364-day revolving facility with a five year term on each
annual renewal.

The Group issued a £450.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 14 February 2014 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 2034.
The Group issued a £360.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 16 April 2014 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 2024. All
proceeds from the issue of the bonds (net of certain issuance fees) were used to repay a large portion of the Secured Senior Term Facility.

The Group issued a £300.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 15 November 2017 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 2039.
All proceeds from the issue of the bonds (net of certain issuance fees) were used to repay the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Group issued a £350.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 9 May 2019 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 31 March 2044. All
proceeds from the issue of the bonds (net of certain issuance fees) were used to repay the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Amended and Restated LF Agreement has total facilities of £90.0m (increased from £60m on 1 April 2019) and is sized to cover 12 months
interest on secured debt. The LF Agreement is a 364-day revolving facility with a five year term on each annual renewal.

The Group's bank loans and bonds are all secured by a fixed and floating charge over substantially all of the assets of the Group.
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22. Borrowings continued

As part of the Group's strategic finance response to the COVID pandemic during 2020 the Group secured £300.0m of shareholder loans on 26 June
2020 in the form of shareholder loans. These loans have a coupon value of 10% and a maturity date of 30 September 2058.

As set out in the basis of preparation on page 36, the range of projected passenger levels in FY22 is highly dependent upon the timing of release of
travel restrictions and success of the UK and overseas vaccination programmes. The expected impact on EBITDA over the next 12 months, would
have placed MAG at risk of breaching its covenants when next tested at 30 September 2021. MAG has acted swiftly and has obtained
comprehensive bank and bondholder support for its response, including obtaining waivers on its next two six-monthly financial covenant tests at 30
September 2021 and 31 March 2022, and a modified basis for covenant testing at 30 September 2022, removing any risk on financial covenants
during the next financial year.

23. Bank loans

2021 2020

£m £m

Secured revolving credit facility 484.0 484.0
Less: unamortised debt issue costs' (1.4) (2.1)
482.6 481.9

' Issue costs arising in relation to obtaining finance are amortised over the duration of the financing as part of the effective interest rate.

At 31 March 2021 the Group had £nil (31 March 2020: £nil) undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had
been met at that date. The undrawn committed borrowing facilities consist of a £500.0m secured revolving credit facility (£484m drawn at 31 March
2021), less certain carve-outs in respect of ancillary facilities of £16.0m. The Group also had access to £10.0m of overdraft facilities.

Interest on the Secured Revolving Credit Facility is linked to LIBOR plus a margin.

See note 22 for further information on financial liabilities, including maturity analysis.

24. Bonds

2021 2020
£m £m

Repayable other than by instalments
MAG bond 4.125% £360.0m due 2024 360.0 360.0
MAG bond 4.75% £450.0m due 2034 450.0 450.0
MAG bond 2.875% £300.0m due 2039 300.0 300.0
MAG bond 2.875% £350.0m due 2044 350.0 350.0
Less: discount on issue (10.2) (10.7)
Less: unamortised debt issue costs (11.6) (7.9)
1,438.2 1,441.4

See note 22 for further information on financial liabilities, including maturity analysis.
25. Financial instruments

Risk management
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The group's funding, liquidity and exposure to interest rate risks are measured by the
Group's treasury function.

Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of policies which are approved and subsequently monitored by the Board. These include
guidelines on funding, interest rate risk management and counterparty risk management.

Interest rate risk

The Group actively manages its exposure to interest rate risk through determining the optimum profile and mix of funding between fixed and floating
rates that is most apropriate to the Group's cashflows, up to a maximum of 90% fixed. Where necessary, the Group uses derivative financial
instruments such as interest rate swaps to generate the desired interest rate profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate
fluctuations, but based on the current debt profile there are no instruments in place at the year end. The cash balances attract interest at floating
rates.
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Liquidity risk

The principal sources of the Group’s liquidity risk are the ability to refinance debt facilities as they fall due, ensuring cash and cash equivalents are
accessible when required and borrowing facilities are sufficient for the future needs of the Group. Although there can be no certainty that financing
markets will remain open for issuance at all times, debt maturities are spread over a range of dates, thereby ensuring that the Group is not exposed
to excessive refinancing risk in any one year. The Group’s key guideline in managing liquidity risk is to limit the amount of borrowings maturing
within 12 months to 35% of gross borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. All cash and cash equivalents are held on short-term deposit within
term limits set by the Board. Moreover, debt facilities are maintained at a level that is sufficient to provide a reasonable surplus beyond the future
needs of the Group.

At the year ended 31 March 2021, MAGIL had £1,944.0m (2020 £1,944.0m) of committed facilities (excluding the Initial LF Agreement) and a net
debt position of £1,393.3m (2020 £1,689.3m). MAGIL had financial headroom of £527.5m (2020 £244.0m) at the year end, a level comfortably in
excess of the internal compliance target. Under existing facilities and based on the board approved business plan MAGIL is forecast to have
financial headroom in excess of the minimum Treasury Policy target of £100.0m throughout 2021-22.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is not materially exposed to foreign exchange risk as all material transactions and financial instruments are in pounds sterling. As the
Group look to grow operations in the USA in the future, where the income and expenditure do not naturally offset, the Group may consider the use of
currency hedges to manage any exposure to foreign exchange.

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure.

In addition, the Group also monitors capital on the basis of the Interest Cover Ratio and Leverage Ratio as defined in the Common Terms
Agreement dated 14 February 2014 between, among others, Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited as Security Group Agent and Citicorp
Trustee Company Limited as the Obligor Security Trustee on behalf of banks and bondholders.

In June 2020 98.51% of banks and bondholders voted (all in favour) to approve the STID Proposal dated 26 May 2020 which included waiving of the
Interest Cover Ratio and Leverage Ratio for calculation periods up to and including 31 March 2021. In June 2021 banks and bondholders agreed to
extend these waivers until 31 March 2022. Consequently, the Interest Cover Ratio and Leverage Ratio have not been calculated for the period
ended 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2020 the Interest Cover Ratio was 5.6x and the Leverage Ratio was 4.5x. This compares to Default Ratios of
1.4x and 7.5x respectively.

The Group regularly reviews and maintains or adjusts the capital structure as appropriate in order to achieve these objectives.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade receivables. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk. The Group’s exposure to credit related losses, in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to financial
instruments, is mitigated by limiting exposure to any one party or instrument and ensuring only counterparties within defined credit risk parameters
are used.

The Group maintains a prudent split of cash and cash equivalents across a range of market counterparties in order to mitigate counterparty credit
risk. Board approved investment policies provide counterparty investment limits, based on credit ratings. Investment activity is reviewed on a regular
basis and no cash or cash equivalents are placed with counterparties with short-term credit ratings lower than the prescribed limits.The Group
monitors the credit rating of market counterparties on a regular basis. The Group’s exposure to credit risk on trade receivables is mitigated by
limiting exposure to any one counterparty. Risk reports and available aviation and financial information updates used by the Group provide valuable
information in relation to any changes in the credit risk profile of our customers or within the market and allow the Group to take a flexible approach
to the management of risk. Credit risk exposures in relation to ad hoc customers are mitigated, where necessary, using prepayments or the request
of deposits.

An analysis of trade receivables, including the value of those past their due dates and the provision for impairment, is included in Note 20 Trade and
Other Receivables.

Financial liabilities

(a) Interest rate profile of financial liabilities

The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was as follows:

2021 2020

£m £m

Fixed rate financial liabilities 1,438.2 1,441.4
Floating rate financial liabilities 494.5 481.9

1,932.6 1,923.3
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The revolving credit facility bears an interest rate based on LIBOR at the Group’s discretion, between 1 week and 6 months, plus a credit margin.
The overdrafts bear interest at Bank of England Base Rate plus a credit margin.
The Group has prepared an analysis of the impact of potential, likely changes in interest rates.

The result of an increase in interest rates of 1% per annum would be to increase/(decrease) income and equity for the year by the following
amounts:

2021 2020
£m £m
Impact on income statement 0.3 (2.5)
Impact on equity - -
0.3 (2.5)

(b) Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial liabilities
2021 2020
Weighted average annual interest rate 3.76% 3.76%
Weighted average period for which interest is fixed 14yr 1m 15yr 1m

The weighted average period for non-interest bearing liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was 1 year (2020: 1 year).
(c) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities

The table below shows the gross undiscounted contractual cash outflows in relation to the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021 to the
contract maturity date.

2021 2020

£m £m

In one year or less, or on demand 538.9 538.9
In more than one year, but no more than two years 54.9 54.9
In more than two years, but no more than five years 495.0 509.9
In more than five years — due other than by instalments 1,569.3 1,609.3
2,658.1 2,713.0

This maturity profile represents the fair value of all financial liabilities, as denoted in table (d) below.

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had an undrawn committed borrowing facility available amounting to £nil (2020: £nil)

(d) Fair values versus carrying amounts of financial instruments

The following table provides a comparison, by category, of the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group's financial instruments as at 31
March 2021 and 2020. Fair value is defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm's length transaction
between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced of liquidation sale, and excludes accrued interest. Where available, market values have
been used to determine fair values. Where market values are not available, fair values have been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at
prevailing interest rates.
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2021 2020
Carrying 2021 Carrying 2020
amount Fair value amount  Fair value
Note £m £m £m £m
Financial liabilities:
Instruments held at amortised cost
Bank loans and overdrafts 23 (494.5) (494.5) (481.9) (481.9)
Trade payables 26 (33.0) (33.0) (70.8) (70.8)
Deferred consideration 18 (25.8) (25.8) - -
Contingent consideration 18 (7.3) (7.3) - -
Bonds 24 (1,438.2) (1,567.9) (1,441.4) (1,474.9)
(1,998.8) (2,128.5) (1,994 .1) (2,027.6)
Financial assets:
Instruments held at amortised cost
Cash at bank and in hand 21 517.5 517.5 234.0 234.0
Trade receivables 20 22.6 22.6 59.3 59.3
Other assets held at fair value
Assets held for sale 18 - 2.0 443.8 443.8
Investment properties 15 166.9 166.9 137.5 137.5
Contingent consideration 38 71 71 - -
707.0 709.0 874.6 874.6
Net financial liabilities (1,291.8)  (1,419.5) (1,119.5) (1,153.0)

Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments carried at fair value are required to be measured by reference to the following levels:
« level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
» level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.

as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

» level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

All financial instruments carried at fair value have been measured by a level 2 valuation method.
Investment properties carried at fair value have been measured by a level 3 valuation method.

Summary of methods and assumptions used for determining fair values

Financial instrument Level Estimate Basis
The fair value of publicly listed bonds is based on market prices or, if not available, brokers’
Bonds 1 . . . )
quotes. The carrying value is net of unamortised issue costs.
The fair value of the bank loans approximates to the carrying value given their floating rate
Bank loans 2 . . . . . . .
basis and interest setting frequency. The carrying value is net of unamortised issue costs.
. The fair value of other borrowings is based on a discounted cash flow methodology that
Other borrowings 2 . .
reflects movements in underlying market rates.
Cash at bank and in hand 2 The fair value of cash at bank and in hand approximates to the carrying value as all deposits
have same day access.
Trade receivables and payables 2 The fair v_alue of trade receivables and trade payables approximates to the carrying value
given their short-term nature.
Investment properties 3* The fair values of investment properties are based on an income capitalisation methodology.
Contingent consideration 3 The fair value of contingent consideration is based upon the directors' estimated final payment

*Refer to note 15 for valuation techniques applied.
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(e) Credit risk exposure

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2021 2020

Carrying Carrying

amount amount

£m £m

Trade receivables 22.6 22.8
Cash at bank and in hand 530.0 234.0
Credit exposure 552.6 256.8

Further analysis on the credit risk, ageing and impairment of trade receivables can be found in note 20.

(f) Hedging on acquisitions

On 22 June 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of US companies airportparkingreservations.com LLC, parksleepfly.com and
shuttlefinder.net (subsidiary of parksleepfly). Under the share purchase agreements, all three acquisitions have non-contingent deferred payments
due in April 2021. In line with Group risk management strategy, management have opted to take out forward contracts to purchase USD at a closing

rate of 1.3125 in order to eliminate the foreign exchange risk on the payment. The timing and amount due under these agreements is fixed, and
therefore the forward contract is a perfect hedge.

For more details on the acquisitions, and the valuation of these future obligations, see note 17 to the financial statements.

26. Trade and other payables

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade payables 33.0 70.8
Other taxation and social security 0.5 5.8
Other payables 1.7 4.8
Accruals 123.2 188.8
Deferred consideration 25.8 -
Capital-based grants 1.3 0.4
185.5 270.6

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

In the prior year, the Group received £18.7m of funds from MCC and district councils. This funding was part payment for £56.1m equity contribution
for C-shares, which were issued by MAGIL in FY21 for the purpose of funding the Group’s A2/A3 car park. As the shares had not been issued at
the end of FY20, the balance was held in accruals. These shares have now been issued (see note 32), and this balance has been removed from
other payables for the FY21.

Deferred consideration relates to deferred and contingent consideration amounts payable to the vendors of the acquired businesses
Airportparkingreservations, Parksleepfly and Shuttlefinder. (see note 17).

27. Provisions

Post sale Other

committements  Provisions Total
£m £m £m

01 April 2020 - - -
Transfer from accruals - 4.7 4.7
Charged to income statement 3.0 8.5 11.5
Utilised - (0.6) (0.6)
31 March 2021 3.0 12.6 15.6
Current - 12.6 12.6
Non-Current 3.0 - 3.0
31 March 2021 3.0 12.6 15.6
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Post sale commitments

As part of the Group's disposal of its non core property portfolio in August 2020, the Group entered into commitments for the provision of certain
commitments to third parties as a result of the sale, post completion under the sale and purchase agreement. Management has estimated the cost
of providing these services to be £3.0m. Management anticipate that the satifsaction of the provision will be achieved within the next 2 to 4 years, as
such the provision has been disclosed as being non-current.

Other provisions

The other provisions balance includes a provision in relation to restructuring, a provision in relation to insurance claims liabilities from incidents
which have occurred at either Manchester Airport, Stansted Airport or East Midlands International Airport; a provision relating to potential land and
other claims made across the Group including legal fees, and immaterial provisions recognised by the Group.

28. Retirement benefit liabilities

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Equalisation

On 20 November 2020, the High Court handed down a second judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group's defined benefit pension schemes.
This judgment concluded that historic transfer values paid out should be amended to equalise pension benefits for men and women in relation to
guaranteed minimum pension benefits. The issues determined by the judgment arise in relation to many other defined benefit pension schemes,
including the defined benefit schemes of the group. MAG has calculated that the impact of this ruling is less than £0.1m and consequently no
adjustment has been made in the accounts.

Consultation to close Defined Benefit Pension Scheme to Future Accruals

During FY21 MAG has consulted with the members of the defined benefit pension schemes regarding whether the schemes should be closed to
future pension accrual. Following the outcome of the consultation MAG'’s current intention of closing the schemes to future accrual during FY22 was
communicated to the members in March 2021. MAG will undertake the process of agreeing the path to closure with the relevant stakeholders in
FY22. As the threshold required by IAS19 has not yet been met, no adjustment has been made in relation to the scheme closures in the accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Curtailment Loss

A number of redundancies occurred during the year ended 31 March 2021. Overall, the curtailment loss relating to the schemes amounts to £1.9m.
This charge has been presented within significant items in the financial statements.

RPI Inflation Reform

On 25 November 2020, HM Treasury and UK Statistics Authority confirmed that they planned to align RPI with CPIH with effect from February 2030.
Consequently, MAG has adjusted its RPI assumption by increasing the premium included in breakeven inflation from 0.2% as at 31 March 2020 to
0.5% as at 31 March 2021. The estimated impact of this change is a reduction in liabilities of approximately £42.0m (GMPF £24.0m, STAL £15.0m,
EMIA £3.0m, AVPS <£0.1m). The CPI pre-2030 assumption has remained consistent with prior year, but the post 2030 assumption reflects the
expected CPI-CPIH gap. The expected impact of the change in RPI-CPI differential is an increase in liabilities of approximately £44.0m (GMPF
£40.0m, STAL £3.0m, EMIA £1.0m, AVPS < £0.5m).

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme is held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of trustees. Where there are employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully, the contributions payable by
the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

The total cost charged to income of £10.3m (2020: £11.0m) represents contributions payable to the scheme by the Group at rates in the pension
scheme's contribution schedule. As at 31 March 2021, there was £nil (2020: £nil) of contributions due in respect of the current reporting period that
had not been paid over to the scheme.

Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates four defined benefit pension schemes as follows:
* The Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF).

* M.A.G (STAL) Pension Scheme.

+ E.M.LLA Pension Scheme.

* The Airport Ventures Pension Scheme (AVPS).

Under the schemes, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits based on their salary and length of service at the time of leaving the schemes,
payable on attainment of retirement age (or earlier death). No other post-retirement benefits are provided. All schemes are closed to new entrants
but are not closed to future accrual (with the exception of AVPS). The Group operates the schemes under the applicable UK regulatory framework.
Benefits are paid to members from trustee-administered funds, and the trustees of each scheme are responsible for ensuring that each respective
scheme is sufficiently funded to meet current and future benefit payments. Scheme assets are held in trusts separate from the Group. If investment
experience is worse than expected, the Group’s obligations are increased.

MAG participates in the GMPF scheme, which forms part of the Local Government Pension Scheme.
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Defined benefit scheme continued

The nature of the relationship between the Group and the trustees of each scheme is also governed by UK regulations. The trustees must agree a
funding plan with the Group such that any funding shortfall is expected to be met by additional contributions and investment performance. In order to
assess the level of contributions required, triennial valuations are carried out with the scheme’s liabilities measured using prudent assumptions
(relative to those used to measure accounting liabilities).

The trustees’ other duties include managing the investment of scheme assets and administration of scheme and discretionary benefits. The Group
works closely with the trustees of each scheme.

Total employer’s pension contributions for defined benefit schemes across the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to £11.0m
(2020: £13.1m) and there were no one-off contributions during this period (2020: £nil).

Total employees’ pension contributions for defined benefit schemes across the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to £1.2m
(2020: £2.1m) and there were no one-off contributions during this period (2020: £nil).

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income, included within remeasurements.

The Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF)
Certain employees of the Group participate in the GMPF, administered by Tameside Borough Council. Of the total Group pension contributions
noted above, some £3.7m (2020: £4.1m) related to payments into the GMPF.

The securities portfolio of the fund is managed by two external professional investment managers and the property portfolio is managed internally by
GMPF. Participation is by virtue of Manchester Airport PIc’s status as an ‘admitted body’ to the fund.

The last full valuation of the fund was undertaken on 31 March 2019 by an independent actuary. The Fund was valued using the attained age
method. The purposes of the valuation were to determine the financial position of the Fund and to recommend the contribution rate to be paid by
Manchester Airport PLC and the other participating employers. The market value of the whole of the Fund's assets for all employers at 31 March
2019 was £23,844m (previous valuation in 2013: £17,325m). The funding level of the scheme as measured using the actuarial method of valuation
was 102% (previous valuation in 2016: 93%).

The principal assumptions used in the 2019 valuation were as follows:

Salary increase 3.10% per annum
Pensions increase/price inflation 2.30% per annum
The costs of providing pensions are charged to the income statement on a consistent basis over a term agreed between the GMPF and the

employer. These costs are determined by an independent qualified actuary and any variations from regular costs are spread over the remaining
working lifetime of the current members.

MAG (STAL) pension scheme

On 28 February 2013, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Stansted Airport Limited. A condition of the purchase was that a new defined
benefit pension scheme was set up to provide comparable benefits to those employees who had previously participated in the BAA pension scheme
prior to the acquisition. Current employees transferred their accrued benefits to the MAG (STAL) Pension Scheme, but no liability for pensioners or
deferred members was transferred. The last full actuarial valuation of the M.A.G (STAL) pension scheme was carried out by the scheme actuary on
30 September 2019. The aggregate market value of the assets in the scheme at the date of that actuarial valuation was £198.8m (previous valuation
£153.4m),which represented approximately 89.3% (previous valuation 87.9%) of the present value of the liabilities. The scheme was valued using
the projected unit method.

Other schemes

Full actuarial valuations were carried out on the other defined benefit schemes as follows:
* E.M.LLA Pension Scheme (EMIA) — 6 April 2020

» Airport Ventures Pension Scheme — 1 August 2019

The aggregate market value of the assets in the EMIA scheme during the year was updated by a full valuation and at the date of that actuarial
valuation was £60.0m (previous valuation £59.8m), which represented approximately 67.0% (previous valuation 74%) of the present value of the
liabilities. The scheme was valued using the projected unit method.

The other schemes are not significant to the Group and details of their valuation are included in the relevant entity’s financial statements.

The numerical disclosure provided below for the defined benefit schemes is based on the most recent actuarial valuations disclosed above, which
have been updated by independent qualified actuaries to take account of the requirements of IAS 19.
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The key assumptions used

are as follows:

GMPF MAG (STAL) EMIA AVPS
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Rate of increase in salaries 3.05% 2.65% 3.00% 2.55% 2.00% 2.00% N/A N/A
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 2.55% 1.65% 2.00% 1.55% 2.00% 1.55% 2.10% 1.65%
Discount rate 1.95% 2.35% 2.00% 2.35% 2.00% 2.35% 1.95% 2.35%
Inflation assumption 2.55% 1.65% 2.30% 1.55% 2.25% 1.55% 2.45% 1.65%

Life expectancy from 65

Longevity at age 65 for current

Males
Females

20.1 years 20.1 years 21.5years21.5years 22 years 23years 21.9years 21.2years
23.0 years 23.0 years 23.5years23.5 years 23.7 years 24.2years 24.3years 23.5years

Longevity at age 45 for current members

Males
Females

20.9 years 20.9 years 22.5years22.5years 23 years 24.1years 22.9years 22.2years
24.3 years 24.3 years 24.7 years24.7 years 24.9 years 254 years 25.4years 24.7 years

The longevity assumptions for the MAG (STAL) scheme reflect the higher age profile of active scheme members, compared to other pension
schemes, as the scheme commenced in 2013.

The RPI inflation assumption is set by extrapolating the Bank of England implied inflation curve out to longer terms and using the same projected
cashflows to derive a single equivalent RPI inflation assumption. CPI inflation is set by reference to RPI inflation as no CPI-linked bonds exist.

Management have revised

their basis of estimating the inflation assumption based upon this data as set out in the section on RPI Reform.

Risk and risk management

Through its defined benefit

Asset volatility

Changes in bond
yields

Inflation risk

Life expectancy

pension schemes the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below.

For the purpose of setting the contribution requirements, the calculation uses a discount rate set with reference to
government bond yields, with allowance for additional return to be generated from the investment portfolio - whereas
under IAS 19 (R), the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond
yields. GMPF, MAG (STAL) and EMIA hold a significant proportion of their assets in return-seeking funds. The returns on
these assets may be volatile and are not closely correlated to the value placed on the liabilities. This means that the
deficit may be volatile in the shorter term, which may result in an increase in the contribution requirements and an
increase in the net defined liability recorded on the statement of financial position. However, the Group believes that
return-seeking assets offer an appropriate level of return over the long term for the level of risk that is taken.
Furthermore, the schemes’ other assets are well-diversified by investing in a range of asset classes, including diversified
growth funds, government bonds and corporate bonds.

A fall in bond yields increases the value placed on the liabilities for reporting purposes and for setting the Group’s
contribution requirements. However, in the scenario the schemes’ investment in corporate and government bonds is
expected to incease and therefore offset some of the increase in the value placed on the liabilities.

The majority of the schemes’ benefit obligations are linked to inflation and higher outturn levels of inflationary increases
are in place to protect the benefits against extreme inflation. Inflation will lead to a higher benefit obligation (although in
most cases caps on the majority of the schemes’ assets do not provide a direct hedge against changes in inflation as
they are either fixed-interest in nature e.g. corporate bonds and government bonds, or have an indirect link to inflation
e.g. equities).

The majority of the schemes’ obligations are to provide a pension for the life of the member, so increases in life
expectancy will result in an increase in the schemes’ liabilities. This is particularly significant where the longer duration
and inflation-linked nature of the payments result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy. The schemes do not
contain a hedge against increases in future life expectancy.
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Present
value of
Fair value defined (Deficit)/
of scheme benefit surplus in
assets obligations the scheme
£m £m £m
GMPF'
2021 485.2 (526.3) (41.1)
2020 408.9 (441.3) (32.4)
2019 465.7 (503.9) (38.2)
2018 437.5 (483.5) (46.0)
2017 435.2 (489.4) (54.2)
2016 363.1 (402.6) (39.5)
2015 377.7 (432.5) (54.8)
MAG (STAL)
2021 217.5 (218.8) (1.3)
2020 184.8 (182.1) 2.7
2019 185.0 (209.8) (24.8)
2018 172.5 (195.0) (22.5)
2017 161.4 (189.2) (27.8)
2016 131.8 (133.4) (1.6)
2015 130.3 (134.9) (4.6)
EMIA
2021 69.7 (82.2) (12.5)
2020 60.7 (77.2) (16.5)
2019 61.9 (82.8) (20.9)
2018 61.3 (80.1) (18.8)
2017 59.9 (82.5) (22.6)
2016 52.9 (64.7) (11.8)
2015 55.1 (69.1) (14.0)
AVPS?
2021 3.5 (3.5) -
2020 3.4 (3.4) -
2019 3.7 (3.7) -
2018 3.9 (3.9) -
2017 4.0 (4.0) -
2016 3.5 (3.5) -
2015 3.6 (3.6) -
Total®
2021 775.9 (830.8) (54.9)
2020 657.8 (704.0) (46.2)
2019 716.3 (800.2) (83.9)
2018 675.2 (762.5) (87.3)
2017 660.5 (765.1) (104.6)
2016 551.3 (604.2) (52.9)
2015 566.7 (640.1) (73.4)
NOTES:

" The figures as shown represent the proportion of the scheme that is attributable to the Group. £5.4m (2020: £5.0m) of the liabilities are unfunded.
2 The AVPS has a surplus of £0.3m (2020: £0.7m). This surplus has not been recognised in line with ‘IFRIC 14’ as the surplus cannot be recovered by

reducing future contributions.

% The present value of the deficit funding commitments to the three schemes GMPF, MAG (STAL), EMIA, is less than the IAS19 deficit at the balance sheet

date and therefore IFRS14 has no effect on the figures disclosed.
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Plan assets
GMPF MAG (STAL) EMIA AVPS TOTAL
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities and
other growth 339.1 243.4 132.7 100.0 41.4 32.0 - - 513.2 3754
assets
Corporate
and 69.9 75.6 73.8 74.5 16.8 16.9 3.4 34 163.9 170.4
government
bonds
Property 33.0 37.2 - - 49 6.2 - - 37.9 43.4
Other 43.2 52.7 11.0 10.3 6.6 5.6 0.1 - 60.9 68.6
Fair value of 485.2 4089  217.5 184.8 69.7 60.7 3.5 34 775.9 657.8

assets

Both the EMIA and GMPF pension schemes contain Level 3 assets where valuation is not based upon observable market data. The valuations,
which conform to International Valuation Standards, were arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar assets and
discounted cash flow methods.

The valuation techniques applied to the Level 3 assets within the Group’s pension schemes are:

*GMPF pooled investment vehicles — as determined by relevant fund managers including market prices; quotations; discounted cashflows;
comparable transaction pricing or industry multiples; or other pricing methodology;

*GMPF investment properties - estimates of open market value reflecting assumptions on: rental growth; void rates; and discount rates;

*EMIA Annuities (to discharge liability relating to specific scheme members) — valued at the corresponding amount of the relevant scheme member’s
scheme obligation; and

*EMIA With profits insurance policies — cumulative reversionary bonuses declared and current terminal bonus.
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Movement in net defined benefit liability - all schemes

Defined benefit Fair value of scheme Net defined benefit
obligation assets liability
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (704.7)  (800.2) 657.8 716.3 (45.5)* (83.2)
Included in the income statement - -
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme (5.7) (10.3) (1.7) (1.9) (7.4) (12.2)
Past service cost - (1.8) - - - (1.8)
Curtailment (1.9) 9.4 - - (1.9) 9.4
Interest (cost)/income (16.3) (17.4) 15.2 15.2 (1.1) (2.2)
(23.9) (20.1) 13.5 13.3 (10.4) (6.8)
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 121.4 (62.9) 121.4 (62.9)
Experience (loss)/gain arising on scheme liabilities 7.6 4.0 - - 7.6 4.0
Remeasurement (loss)/gain due to financial assumption changes (142.6) 76.3 - - (142.6) 76.3
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 3.7 13.6 - - 3.7 13.6
(131.3) 93.9 121.4 (62.9) (9.9) 31.0
Cash flows
Contributions (1.2) (2.1) 12.6 15.6 11.4 13.5
Benefits paid 294 24.5 (29.4) (24.5) - -
Impact of asset ceiling (0.5) (0.7) - - (0.5)** (0.7)
Closing position as at 31 March (832.2) (704.7) 775.9 657.8 (54.9) (46.2)

* The opening position excludes the impact of the asset ceiling.
** The movement of £9.9m in addition to a £0.2m change in the asset ceiling results in a total movement of £9.7m through the SOCIE.

Movement in net defined benefit liability - GMPF scheme

Defined benefit Fair value of scheme Net defined benefit
obligation assets liability
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (441.3) (503.9) 408.9 465.7 (32.4) (38.2)
Included in the income statement
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme (2.5) (4.5) - - (2.5) (4.5)
Past service cost - (1.8) - - - (1.8)
Curtailment (0.7) 1.9 - - (0.7) 1.9
Interest (cost)/income (10.2) (10.9) 9.4 9.8 (0.8) (1.1)
(13.4) (15.3) 9.4 9.8 (4.0) (5.5)
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 81.4 (53.6) 81.4 (53.6)
Experience (loss)/gain arising on scheme liabilities 4.7 8.2 - - 4.7 8.2
Remeasurement (loss)/gain due to financial assumption changes (95.1) 44.8 - - (95.1) 44.8
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 0.2 7.4 - - 0.2 7.4
(90.2) 60.4 81.4 (53.6) (8.8) 6.8
Cash flows
Contributions (0.6) (1.0) 4.7 5.5 41 4.5
Benefits paid 19.2 18.5 (19.2) (18.5) - -
Closing position as at 31 March (526.3) (441.3) 485.2 408.9 (41.1) (32.4)

The scheme liabilities have a duration of approximately 16 years.
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Movement in net defined benefit liability - MAG (STAL) Scheme

Defined benefit Fair value of scheme Net defined benefit
obligation assets liability
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (182.1)  (209.8) 184.8 185.0 2.7 (24.8)
Included in the income statement - -
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme (2.9) (5.2) (0.9) (0.9) (3.8) (6.1)
Past service cost - - - - - -
Curtailment (1.2) 7.8 - - (1.2) 7.8
Interest (cost)/income (4.2) (4.6) 4.3 4.0 0.1 (0.6)
(8.3) (2.0) 34 3.1 (4.9) 1.1
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 30.8 (6.1) 30.8 (6.1)
Experience (loss)/gain arising on scheme liabilities 1.4 (4.2) - - 1.4 (4.2)
Remeasurement (loss)/gain due to financial assumption changes (35.9) 24.6 - - (35.9) 246
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 0.2 6.4 - - 0.2 6.4
(34.3) 26.8 30.8 (6.1) (3.5) 20.7
Cash flows
Contributions (0.5) (0.9) 4.9 6.6 4.4 57
Benefits paid 6.4 3.8 (6.4) (3.8) - -
Closing position as at 31 March (218.8) (182.1) 217.5 184.8 (1.3) 27
The scheme liabilities have a duration of approximately 22 years.
Movement in net defined benefit liability - EMIA scheme
Defined benefit Fair value of scheme Net defined benefit
obligation assets liability
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Opening position as at 1 April (77.2) (82.8) 60.7 61.9 (16.5) (20.9)
Included in the income statement - -
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme (0.3) (0.6) (0.8) (1.0) (1.1) (1.6)
Past service cost - - - - - -
Curtailment - (0.3) - - - (0.3)
Interest (cost)/income (1.8) (1.8) 14 1.3 (0.4) (0.5)
(2.1) (2.7) 0.6 0.3 (1.5) (2.4)
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 9.1 (2.9) 9.1 (2.9)
Experience (loss)/gain arising on scheme liabilities 1.3 - - - 1.3 -
Remeasurement (loss)/gain due to financial assumption changes (11.2) 6.6 - - (11.2) 6.6
Remeasurement gain due to demographic assumption changes 3.4 (0.2) - - 3.4 (0.2)
(6.5) 6.4 9.1 (2.9) 2.6 35
Cash flows
Contributions (0.1) (0.2) 3.0 3.5 2.9 3.3
Benefits paid 3.7 21 (3.7) (2.1) - -
Closing position as at 31 March (82.2) (77.2) 69.7 60.7 (12.5) (16.5)

The scheme liabilities have a duration of approximately 18 years.
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Movement in net defined benefit liability - AVPS Scheme

Defined benefit Fair value of scheme Net defined benefit
obligation assets liability
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Opening position as at 1 April (2.7) (3.0) 34 3.7 0.7 0.7
Included in the income statement - -
Current service cost of defined benefit scheme - - (0.0) - (0.0) -
Interest (cost)/income (0.1) (0.1) 0.1 0.1 - -

(0.1) (0.1) 0.1 0.1 (0.0) -
Amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income (SOCI)
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets - - 0.1 (0.3) 0.1 (0.3)
Gain / (loss) on change of demographic assumptions 0.2 - - - 0.2 -
Actuarial (gain) / loss due to experience (0.4) 0.3 - - (0.4) 0.3
Remeasurement (loss)/gain due to financial assumption changes (0.1) - - - (0.1) -
Impact of asset ceiling 0.2 - - - 0.2 -

(0.1) 0.3 0.1 (0.3) 0.0 0.0
Cash flows
Benefits paid 0.1 0.1 (0.1) (0.1) - -
Closing position as at 31 March (2.8) (2.7) 3.5 3.4 0.7 0.7

The AVPS has a surplus of £0.5m (2020: £0.7m). This surplus has not been recognised in line with ‘IFRIC 14’ as the surplus cannot be recovered
by reducing future contributions.

The scheme liabilities have a duration of approximately 16 years.
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GMPF MAG (STAL) EMIA AVPS TOTAL
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Difference
between
actual and
expected 81.4 (53.6) 30.8 (6.1) 9.1 (2.9) 0.1 (0.3) 121.4 (62.9)
returns on
assets
amount
0,
% of scheme 16.8% 3%  14.2% -3% 13.1% -5% 3.1% -9% 15.6% -10%
assets
Experience
(loss)/gain 4.7 8.2 1.4 4.2) 1.3 ; 0.2 ; 7.6 4.0
on liabilities
amount
0,
% of scheme -0.9% 1.9%  -0.6% 2.3% 1.6% - 71% - -0.9% -0.6%
liabilities
Total amount
recognised (8.8) 6.8 (3.5) 20.7 2.6 3.5 0.0 - (9.7) 31.0
in SOCI
% of scheme o o o o o o o o
e 1.7% -1.5% 1.6% -11.4% -3.2% -4.5% 0.3% - - -4.4%
liabilities
Sensitivity analysis
MAG
GMPF (STAL) EMIA AVPS TOTAL
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
£m £m £m £m £m
0.5% increase in real discount rate (39.4) (22.8) (7.0) (0.3) (69.5)
0.5% decrease in real discount rate 44.6 25.3 6.8 0.3 77.0
0.5% increase in RPI inflation 43.9 211 5.1 0.3 70.4
0.5% decrease in RPI inflation (39.4) (20.1) (5.0) (0.2) (64.7)
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 4.2 3.5 - N/A 7.7
0.5% decrease in the salary increase rate (4.1) (3.4) - N/A (7.5)
1 year increase in life expectancy 21.3 6.7 35 0.2 31.7
1 year decrease in life expectancy (21.3) (6.7) (3.5) (0.2) (31.7)
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29. Lease liabilities
Land and Airport Plant, fixtures

Buildings infrastructure  and equipment Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2020 210.7 198.1 3.5 412.3
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution business 3.0 - - 3.0
Additions 3.8 - 7.8 11.6
Interest charge for the period 11.7 10.2 0.2 221
Payments of liabilities (17.4) (10.9) (1.6) (29.9)
Remeasurements 15.8 24 (1.0) 17.2
At 31 March 2021 227.6 199.8 8.9 436.3
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities - discounted
Land and Airport Plant, fixtures Total
Buildings infrastructure  and equipment
£m £m £m £m
Within 1 year 5.7 0.7 1.5 7.9
Within 2 to 5 years 16.2 2.9 6.0 251
After 5 years 205.7 196.2 14 403.3
Total 227.6 199.8 8.9 436.3

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities - undiscounted
The table below shows the gross undiscounted contractual cash outflows in relation to the Group's lease liabilities as at 31 March 2021 to the
contract maturity date.

Land and Airport Plant, fixtures Total

Buildings infrastructure  and equipment
£m £m £m £m
In one year or less, or on demand 17.5 10.9 21 30.5
In more than one year, but not more than two years 17.0 10.9 2.0 29.9
In more than two years but not more than five years 43.4 32.7 4.8 80.9
In more than five years 7431 605.5 1.5 1,350.1
Total 821.0 660.0 10.4 1,491.4

The expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities is £0.7m. Expenses relating to both short-term
leases and low-value leases is £nil (2020: £nil).

Key lease arrangements

Manchester City Council (held within land and buildings):

The Group has a commitment in respect of a land lease with The Council of the City of Manchester (MCC), a related party as described in note 35.
Ground rent leases are a base fee of £2.8m, and this element of the lease contributed £52.5m to the opening right-of-use asset and lease liability in
land and buildings.

Further minimum amounts are payable under the main lease agreement with MCC, one element variable based on turnover, and one element based
on rental value of a number of properties at Manchester Airport. The minimum amounts due on the turnover element are based on a percentage of
the prior rent paid. Management have concluded that these minimum percentage payments qualify as an in-substance fixed lease payment,
contributing £52.9m to the closing lease liability. These payments are variable depending on an index or rate and contribute £86.4m to the closing
lease liability. The discount rate implicit in the lease is 5.29%.

The sale of non-core property in the year represented a trigger event on an additional supplementary lease to the main agreements, where rent was
previously peppercorn. The lease is 275 years from 1 September 2013 and the review resulted in the rent charge increasing to £0.6m per annum,
effective from the completion date on 7 August 2020. This has resulted in a remeasurement adjustment of £11.2m in the land and buildings category
and the lease contributes £11.2m to the closing lease liability.

In total, all arrangements with MCC contributes £203.0m of the closing lease liability in land and buildings, and no element of the annual rent is
excluded from the measurement of the lease liability.

UK Power Networks (held within airport infrastructure):

A significant portion of the airport infrastructure lease liability relates to an electricity distribution agreement with UK Power Networks. Included in the
measurement of the lease liability are minimum amounts payable under the agreement, relating to a base fee of £8.6m, and £2.3m for capital
investment in the network, contributing £199.8m to the closing lease liability. Remaining amounts of £0.7m are due, relating a volume and recharge
element. These are variable in nature with no minimum commitment, and therefore excluded in measurement of the lease liability.

29. Lease liabilities continued

Aberdeen Standard (held within land and buildings):

The Group has a commitment in relation to a lease of office property at Manchester Airport with Aberdeen Standard. Included in the measurement of
the lease liability is fixed rent due under the lease, currently £1.0m and reviewed five-yearly to reflect prevailing market rates. The obligations under
this lease have contributed £14.1m to the closing lease liability.
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30. Deferred taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements in relation to them during the current and
prior years.

Investment
Accelerated properties and Retirement Fair value Short term
capital operational benefit Tax losses acquisition timing Total
allowances assets carried obligations adjustment differences

at deemed cost

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2020 122.5 84.3 (8.8) - 33.1 6.0 2371
(Credit)/charge to income 10.3 (6.0) - (7.2) (3.1) (0.6) (6.6)
(Credit) to equity - - (1.8) - (0.4) - (2.2)
Reclassified to assets held for
sale - (46.3) - - - - (46.3)
Acquisition - - - - 5.9 - 5.9
At 31 March 2021 132.8 32.0 (10.6) (7.2) 35.5 5.4 187.9
At 1 April 2019 109.9 77.9 -14.2 - 31.9 34 208.9
(Credit)/charge to income 12.6 6.4 - - 1.2 2.6 22.8
(Credit) to equity - - 5.4 - - - 5.4
At 31 March 2020 122.5 84.3 (8.8) - 33.1 6.0 2371

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the disclosure above. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balance for financial
reporting purposes:

2021 2020
£m £m
Deferred tax liabilities (287.9) (324.1)
Deferred tax asset 100.0 87.0
(187.9) (237.1)

31. Other non-current liabilities
2021 2020
£m £m
Accruals and deferred income 6.6 4.3
Capital-based grants 15.5 17.5
221 21.8

32. Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares of £1 each

Number of Share
shares Share capital premium Total
m £m £m £m
Issued, called up and fully paid
Shares issued during period - - 390.5 390.5
At 31 March 2021 175.3 175.3 3,059.4 3,234.7
At 31 March 2020 175.3 175.3 2,668.9 2,844 .2
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32. Share capital and share premium continued
On 21 May 2020 MAGIL issued 30 shares for £56.1m for the funding of a car park, which was settled in cash. The £56.1m has been classified to
equity on completion of the share issue.

On 2 July 2020 MAGIL issued 1 share for £300.0m, which was settled in cash.
On 15 January 2021 MAGIL issued 1 share for £34.4m which was settled in cash.

33. Reserves

Foreign
currency Hedging Other Retained Total
reserve reserve reserve earnings £m
At 1 April 2020 - - (1,249.6) 899.5 (350.1)
Result for the year - - - (317.4) (317.4)
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution business (0.8) - (21.9) (22.7)
Foreign exchange movement (4.5) - - - (4.5)
Hedging gain 1.4 1.0 - - 2.4
Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities, net of tax - - - (7.9) (7.9)
As at 31 March 2021 (3.9) 1.0 (1,249.6) 552.3 (700.2)
2021 2020
£m £m

Reconciliation of movement in shareholders' funds

Opening shareholders’ funds 2,494.1 2,370.8
Total recognised income for the year (350.1) 123.3
Share issue 390.5 -
Equity shareholders' funds as at 31 March 2,534.5 2,494 1

During the year a separate foreign exchange reserve has not been disclosed. Following the acquisition in June 2020; further details in note 38, the
intention of the directors is for this to be disclosed separately in FY21.

34. Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

2021 2020
£m £m
Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has not been provided for in the financial statements 18.4 50.1

The Group has performance bonds and other items arising in the normal course of business amounting to £2.8m at 31 March 2021 (2020: £3.3m).
Additionally as part of the Group's net zero 2038 commitment the Group has committed to provide £10m of funding for a sustainable transport fund.

35. Related party transactions

Transactions involving the Council of the City of Manchester and the other council shareholders
The Council of the City of Manchester (‘MCC’) is a related party to Manchester Airports Holdings Limited as MCC owns 35.5% of the share capital
of the Company. During the year the MAGIL Group was party to the following transactions with MCC:

Included in external charges are charges for rent and rates amounting to £32.2m (2020: £27.7m) and other sundry charges of £0.3m (2020: £0.2m).
The majoity of these amounts are due to MCC. The remainder are collected by MCC and distributed to other local authorities, each of which is a
related party to Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited through its shareholding in Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, the ultimate
parent
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35. Related party transactions continued

Transactions involving IFM

The IFM Global Infrastructure Fund (IFM GIF) (which is advised by IFM Investors PTY Ltd), through its subsidiary, is a related party to Manchester
Airport Group Investments Limited as IFM owns 35.5% of the share capital of its' parent company. During the year, the Group was party to the
following transactions with [FM.

As at 31 March 2021 the amount of loans outstanding owed to IFM GIF by the Group was £320.1m (2020: £213.7m). Manchester Airport Finance
Holdings Limited made loan repayments of £nil (2020: £nil) to IFM GIF during the year and paid interest of £nil (2020: £11.6m).

Interest during the year has been accrued on the shareholder loans to the value of £31.0m (2020: £11.7m).

Transactions involving Manchester Airports Holdings Limited
Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (MAHL) is the ultimate parent company of Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited. During the year
the MAGIL Group entered into the following transactions with MAHL:

As at 31 March 2021 the amount of loans outstanding owed by MAHL was £202.4m (2020: £950.9m), relating to cash transferred by the MAGIL
Group to MAHL for dividend payments made by MAHL to its shareholders, and interest on the unpaid balance. Included within finance income is
interest on loans outstanding owed by MAHL of £2.1m (2020: £18.8m).

Transactions involving Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited (MAFHL)
Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited (MAFHL) is the parent company of Manchester Airport Group Investments Limited. During the year
the MAGIL Group entered into the following transactions with MAFHL:

As at 31 March 2021 the amount of loans outstanding owed by MAFHL was £362.7m (2020: £225.1m), relating to interest payments on shareholder
loans held outside of the MAGIL Group. Included within finance income is interest on loans outstanding owed by MAHL of £12.4m (2020: £nil).

Transactions involving Airport City (Manchester) Limited

Airport City (Manchester) Limited is a fellow Group company of the MAHL Group. During the year MAGIL Group entered into the following
transactions with Airport City (Manchester) Limited:

As at 31 March 2021 the balance outstanding owed by Airport City (Manchester) Limited was £41.6m (2020: £63.4m), relating to the transfer of
assets and funding. During the year funds provided to Airport City (Manchester) Limited decreased by £25.0m (2020: increased by £25.6m).

Transactions involving MAG Overseas Investments Limited

MAG Overseas Investments Limited (MOIL) is a fellow Group company of the MAHL Group. During the year the MAGIL Group entered into the
following transactions with MOIL:

As at 31 March 2021 the net balance owed by MOIL was £31.8m (2020: £24.3m), relating to funding provided by the MAGIL Group. During the year
the MAGIL Group provided funding of £nil (2020: £11.0m), with the remaining £7.5m of movement being a transfer of a balance owed by MAG US.

Transactions involving MAG Investments US Limited and its subsidiaries (MAG US)

MAG Investments US Limited and its subsidiaries (MAG US) are fellow Group companies of the MAHL Group. During the year the MAGIL Group
entered into the following transactions with MAG US:

As at 31 March 2021 the net balance owed by MAG US was £nil (2020: £12.7m), relating to funding provided by the MAGIL Group. During the year
the MAGIL Group provided funding of £nil (2020: £11.0m).

Transactions involving Airport Services Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (ASIL)

Airport Services Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (ASIL) which incluse Looking4Parking Ltd and SkyParkSecure Ltd are fellow Group
companies of the MAHL Group. During the year the MAGIL Group entered into the following transactions with ASIL:

As at 31 March 2021 the balance outstanding owed by ASIL was £nil (2019: £10.8m), relating to funding provided by the MAGIL Group. During the
year the MAGIL Group provided funding of £nil (2020: £0.6m).
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35. Related party transactions continued

Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses

During the year, the MAG US and ASIL businesses were transferred into the MAGIL group. This transaction is fully detailed in note 39 to the
financial statements. As a result of transfer of the MAG US and ASIL businesses into the MAGIL group, all outstanding balances with the MAGIL
group have been eliminated on consolidation.

36. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Other

non-cash
2020 Cash flow  movements 2021
£m £m £m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 234.0 296.0 - 530.0
Cash on short term deposit - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the statement of financial position 234.0 296.0 - 530.0
Overdrafts - (11.9) - (11.9)
Total cash and cash equivalents (including overdrafts) 234.0 2841 - 518.1
Current debt - - - -
Non-current debt (1,923.3) - 2.6 (1,920.7)
Net debt (1,689.3) 284.1 2.6 (1,402.6)

IFRS 16

Current debt (5.3) - (2.6) (7.9)
Non-current debt (407.0) 29.9 (51.3) (428.4)
(412.3) 29.9 (53.9) (436.3)

37. Impact of IFRS 16 upon primary statements

The purpose of these pages is to provide a reconciliation from the financial results to the pro-forma statements with the previous IAS 17 policies
adopted by the Group (including key APMs such as Adjusted EBITDA). The Group APMs remain identical to those prior to IFRS 16. Whilst IFRS 16
comparatives are now available, management still produce the reconciliations below to give the reader greater insight into the impact of IFRS 16 on
the reporting of Group results.

Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2021

Continuing Continuing

operations operations

2021 as Rent and 2021 under

reported finance costs Depreciation 1AS 17

£m £m £m £m

Revenue 176.2 - - 176.2
Operating charges excluding depreciation (324.3) (29.9) - (354.2)
Adjusted EBITDA* (148.1) (29.9) - (178.0)
Depreciation (173.5) - 9.4 (164.1)
Result from operations before significant items* (321.6) (29.9) 9.4 (342.1)
Significant items (37.9) - - (37.9)
Result from operations (359.5) (29.9) 9.4 (380.0)
Gains and losses on sale and valuation of investment properties 1.2 - - 1.2
Finance income 18.5 - - 18.5
Finance costs (78.6) 221 - (56.5)
Result before taxation (418.4) (7.8) 9.4 (416.8)
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37. Impact of IFRS 16 upon primary statements continued

Consolidated statement of cashflows for the year ended 31 March 2021

Continuing Payment Continuing

operations recognised as operations

2021 as operating Interest Lease 2021 under

reported charge charge repayment IAS 17

£m £m £m £m £m

Cash generated from continuing operations* (225.0) (29.9) - - (254.9)

Result before taxation — discontinued operations 4.3 - - - 4.3
Finance expense - discontinued

operations (3.6) - - - (3.6)

Non cash movements - discontinued operations - - - - -

Interest paid (80.0) - 22.1 - (57.9)

Tax paid 421 - - - 42.1

Net cash from operating activities (262.2) (29.9) 221 - (270.0)

Net cash used in investing activities (179.0) - - - (179.0)

Net cash from sale of discontinued operations 400.1 - - - 400.1

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 325.2 - - 7.8 333.0

Net increase in net cash and cash equivalents 284.1 (29.9) 221 7.8 284.1

*As explained on page 11.
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37. Impact of IFRS 16 upon primary statements continued

The purpose of these pages is to provide a reconciliation from the financial results to the pro-forma statements with the previous IAS 17 policies
adopted by the Group (including key APMs such as Adjusted EBITDA). The Group APMs remain identical to those prior to IFRS 16. Whilst IFRS
16 comparatives are now available, management still produce the reconciliations below to give the reader greater insight into the impact of IFRS
16 on the reporting of Group results.

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021

Rent and
2021 finance Opening  Additions and 2021 under
as reported costs Depreciation balance remeasurement Disposals IAS 17
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 206.2 - - - - - 206.2
Intangible assets 99.9 - - - - - 99.9
Property, plant and equipment 3,263.9 - - - - - 3,263.9
Right-of-use assets 419.5 - 94  (410.0) (19.3) 0.4 -
Long-term lease receivable 11.2 - - - (11.2) - -
Investment properties 166.9 - - - - 166.9
Other long term asset 71 - - - - - 71
Deferred tax assets - - - - - - -
4,174.7 - 9.4 (410.0) (30.5) 0.4 3,743.8
Current Assets
Assets held for sale 2.0 - - - - (0.4) 1.6
Inventories 3.5 - - - - - 3.5
Trade and other receivables 65.1 - - - - - 65.1
Cash and cash equivalents 530.0 - - - - - 530.0
Amounts owed by group undertakings 665.4 - - - - - 665.4
1,266.0 - - - - (0.4) 1,265.6
Current Liabilities
Liabilities directly associated with assets held (0.4) ) i i ) i (0.4)
for sale
Trade and other payables (185.5) - - - - - (185.5)
Overdrafts (11.9) - - - - - (11.9)
Deferred income (16.7) - - - - - (16.7)
Current lease liabilities (7.9) - - 7.9 - - -
Provisions (12.6) - - - - - (12.6)
Current tax liabilities (27.2) - - - - - (27.2)
Amounts owed to group undertakings (26.9) - - - - - (26.9)
(289.1) - - 7.9 - - (281.2)
Net current liabilities 976.9 - - 7.9 - (0.4) 984.4
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (1,920.8) - - - - - (1,920.8)
Retirement benefit liabilities (54.9) - - - - - (54.9)
Non-current lease liabilities (428.4) (7.8) - 404 .4 31.8 - -
Deferred tax liabilities (187.9) - - - - - (187.9)
Provision (3.0) - - - - - (3.0)
Other non-current liabilities (22.1) - - - - - (22.1)
(2,617.1) (7.8) - 404.4 31.8 - (2,188.7)
Net Assets 2,534.5 (7.8) 9.4 23 1.3 - 2,539.5
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38. Disposal of non-core property portfolio
Sale of MAG Investment Assets Limited

As discussed in note 11, on 7 August 2020, the Group disposed of its interest in the entire shareholding of MAG Investment Assets Limited.

The profit on disposal of £39.3m of MAG Investment Assets Limited is calculated as follows:

7 August
2020
£m

Consideration for the sale:
Cash and cash equivalents 339.3
Contingent consideration (net of discounting)’ 71
Total Consideration: 346.4
Investment property (344.4)
Deferred taxation 46.3
Property, plant and equipment (6.4)
Cash (2.5)
Other working capital 13.0
Movement in Group net assets as a result of the disposal: (294.0)
Directly attributable costs of sale” (9.8)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary, before provision for future costs 42.6
Provision for future costs in association with the sale (see note 27) (3.0)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary, net of provision for future costs 39.6

" Under the share purchase agreement, there is deferred consideration of up to £20m. The amount of £7.1m represents a rent guarantee which is

held on deposit that the purchaser can draw down on in the event of tenant default in the 3 years up to 1 December 2023.The profit on sale of
£39.3m is the disposal of MAG Investments Assets Limited.

2 Directly attributable costs of sale are disclosed in the following table’

£'m
Fees incurred in year to 31 March 2021 (9.1)
Loss on sale and leaseback triggered by sale (0.7)
(9.8)
Cash flows in relation to the discontinued operation are as follows:
£m
Net cash from operating activities - discontinued operations 0.7
Net cash from investing activities - discontinued operations 339.3
340.0
Sale of residual non-core property
14 October
2020
£m
Consideration for the sale:
Cash and cash equivalents 59.2
Fees incurred (0.3)
Book value of property sold (59.2)
Loss on disposal of residual non core property: (0.3)

On the 14th October 2020, MAG sold the residual non core property where the proceeds equated to the book value of the property.
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39. Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution business
On 15 January 2021 the Group acquired 100% of the equity of:
« Airport Services International Limited and its associated subsidiaries, comprising the MAG US lounge and car parking business, for £4.8m; and

» Manchester Airport Group International US Limited and its associated subsidiaries, comprising the UK distribution business of Manchester
Airport Holdings Limited (MAHL) for £29.6m.

These entities were previously subsidiary undertakings of MAHL, the Group's ultimate parent company. The transfer of the subsidiaries has been
accounted for using the book value method of accounting. The values of the assets, liabilities and reserve transferred were:

ASIL MAG US Combined

£m £m £m
Goodwill 4.5 - 4.5
Intangible assets 6.0 - 6.0
Property, plant and equiptment 0.2 14.3 14.5
Right of use assets - 24 24
Inventories - 0.1 0.1
Trade and other receivables 0.5 0.6 1.1
Cash and cash equivalents 15 2.9 4.3
Trade and other payables (1.1) (3.1) (4.1)
Finance lease liability - (3.0) (3.0)
Deferred tax liabilities (0.5) - (0.5)
Amounts owed to group (6.4) (4.1) (10.5)
Other non-current liabilities (0.3) (2.8) (3.1)
Total identifiable net assets 4.4 7.3 11.7
Foreign currency reserve 21.9
Retained earnings 0.8
34.4
Total consideration 4.8 29.6 344
Satisfied by:
Issue of share capital and share premium 34.4

Contribution by the acquired business for the reporting period since acquisition:
* Revenue - £(0.1m)
* Loss before tax - £2.0m
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40. Post balance sheet events

On 3 June 2021, the Group successfully obtained consent from its banks and bondholders to waive covenant testing in September 2021 and
March 2022 and modify the covenant test to be performed in September 2022.

Following the Group's announcement of its decision in March 2021 to close its defined benefit pension schemes, MAG has continued to discuss
the path to closure with the relevant parties.

In the 3 March 2021 budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will increase to 25% from 1 April 2023. This announcement, when enacted, will
have an effect on the Group’s future tax charge. If this rate change had been substantively enacted at the current balance sheet date the net
deferred tax liability would have increased by £60.5m.

On 26 May 2021 the Planning Inspectorate announced that MAG's 35+ planning appeal at Stansted airport had been successful. This results in

the Group receiving permission for the growth of Stansted airport to 43 million passengers per annum. Uttlesford district council have confirmed
they will appeal this decision.
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Accounting policies

Manchester Airports Group Investments Limited (the ‘Company’) is a company limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in
England. The address of the registered office is Olympic House, Manchester Airport, M90 1QX.

These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about its Group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (‘FRS 102’) as issued in August 2014. The amendments to FRS 102 issued in July 2015
and effective immediately have been applied. The presentation currency of these financial statements is sterling. All amounts in the
financial statements have been rounded to the nearest £million.

In these financial statements, the Company is considered to be a qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 102, and has applied the
exemptions available under this FRS in respect of the following disclosures:

» statement of cash flows and related notes;

» key management personnel compensation;

* related parties; and

 reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding from the beginning to the end of the period.

Furthermore, as the consolidated financial statements of Manchester Airports Group Investments Limited include the equivalent
disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS 102 available in respect of the following disclosures:

» The disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102.12 Other Financial Instrument Issues in respect
of financial instruments not falling within the fair value accounting rules of Paragraph 36(4) of Schedule 1.

The accounting policies set out, unless otherwise stated, have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.

Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.

Functional currency
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the pound sterling.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less provision for diminution in value.

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Intercompany balances are stated at historic cost.

Interest payable
Interest payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
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2021 2020
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments 5 4,679.1 4,627.7
Other long term assets 71 -
4,686.2 4,627.7
Current Assets
Trade and other receivables 6 792.4 1,063.0
792.4 1,063.0
Liabilities
Trade and other payables (2.0) -
Amounts owed to group 7 (17.4) (619.1)
(19.4) (619.1)
Net current assets 773.0 443.9
Total assets less current liabilities 5,459.2 5,071.6
Non-current liabilities 8 (3.0) -
Net assets 5,456.2 5,071.6
Capital and reserves
Share capital 9 175.3 175.3
Share premium 3,059.4 2,668.9
Retained earnings 2,221.5 2,227.4
Total equity 5,456.2 5,071.6

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 97 to 104 were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 July 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

@ar > \ - WS

Charlie Cornish, Group Chief Executive, MAGIL
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Share

Retained

X . . Total
capital premium earnings
£m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 April 2020 175.3 2,668.9 2,227.4 5,071.6
Total comprehensive income for the year
Result for the year - - (5.9) (5.9)
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution business - 34.4 - 34.4
175.3 2,703.3 2,221.5 5,100.1
Issue of shares - 356.1 - 356.1
Balance at 31 March 2021 175.3 3,059.4 2,221.5 5,456.2
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2020
Share Share Retained
. . . Total
capital premium earnings
£m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 April 2019 175.3 2,668.9 2,227.4 5,071.6
Total comprehensive income for the year
Result for the year - - - -
175.3 2,668.9 2,227.4 5,071.6
Issue of shares - - -
Balance at 31 March 2020 175.3 2,668.9 2,227.4 5,071.6

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. Notes to the income statement

Amounts receivable by the Company’s auditor and the auditor’s associates in respect of services to the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries,
have not been disclosed as the information has been disclosed on a consolidated basis as noted on page 58. The Directors of Manchester Airport
Group Limited during the year and their aggregate remuneration is disclosed on a consolidated basis in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, on page 56. The highest paid director disclosed within this note is the highest paid director of the Company.

2. Loss on ordinary activities after taxation of the company

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act, the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account. As
shown in the statement of changes in equity, the result attributable to the Company is a loss of £5.9m (2020: £nil).

3. Finance Costs

2021 2020
£m £m
Intercompany Interest payable 9.4 -
Total finance costs 9.4 -
4. Loss on disposal of investment
Sale of investment in MAG Investment Assets Limited
On 7 August 2020, the Company disposed of its investment in MAG Investment Assets Limited.
The gain on disposal of £3.5m is calculated as follows:
7 August 2020
£m
Consideration for the sale:
Cash and cash equivalents 339.3
Contingent consideration (net of discounting)’ 71
Total Consideration: 346.4
Movement in Group net assets as a result of the disposal: (326.2)
Directly attributable costs of sale (13.7)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary, before provision for future costs 6.5
Provision for future costs in association with the sale (see note 8) (3.0)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary, net of provision for future costs 3.5

" Under the share purchase agreement, there is deferred consideration of up to £20m. The amount of £7.1m represents a rent guarantee which is
held on deposit that the purchaser can draw down on in the event of tenant default in the 3 years up to 1 December 2023.
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5. Investments

Subsidiary
undertakings
£m

Cost and net book value
At 1 April 2020 4,627.7
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution businesses 34.4
Acquisitions 56.1
Disposals (39.1)
At 31 March 2021 4,679.1

The carrying value of the investment in subsidiary has been considered for impairment. The impairment testing compared the carrying value of the
cost of investment of £4,679.1m was compared against the recoverable amount determined by:

« the value in use of the CGU's owned by MAGIL amounting to £4,962.3m (as detailed in note 16 of the consolidated accounts); and
« the investment property relating to the MAGIAL subsidiary of £166.9m

Which results in a headroom of £450.0m. The directors applied a sensitivity reducing the terminal value growth rate for the 3 UK based airports

from 2% to 1.5% in line with the lower end of the forecast growth rates seen by industry analysts. At this level, there is no impairment. If the long
term growth rate reduces to 1.43%, this would eliminate the headroom in the value in use calculation.

6. Trade and other receivables

2021 2020
£m £m
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 792.4 1,063.0
792.4 1,063.0

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

7. Trade and other payables

2021 2020
£m £m
Accruals and deferred income (2.0) -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings (17.4) (619.1)
(19.4) (619.1)

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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8. Provisions

Company Financial Statements

Post sale committements Total
£m £m
Current - -
Non-Current - -
1 April 2020 - -
Charged to income statement 3.0 3.0
Utilised - -
31 March 2021 3.0 3.0
Current - -
Non-Current 3.0 3.0
31 March 2021 3.0 3.0

Post sale commitments

As part of the Company's disposal of its non core property portfolio in August 2020, the Group entered into commitments for the provision of certain
commitments to third parties as a result of the sale, post completion under the sale and purchase agreement. Management has estimated the cost

of the cost of providing these services to be £3.0m. Management anticipate that the satifsaction of the provision will be achieved within the next 2 to
4 years, as such the provision has been disclosed as being non-current.

9. Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares of £1 each

Number of Share
Number of shares shares Share capital premium Total
m m £m £m £m
Issued, called up and fully paid
Shares issued during period - - - 390.5 390.5
At 31 March 2021 175.3 175.3 175.3 3,059.4 3,234.7
At 31 March 2020 175.3 175.3 175.3 2,668.9 2,844.2
10. Reserves
2021
£m
At 1 April 2020 2,227.4
Results for the year (5.9)
As at 31 March 2021 2,221.5 -
2021 2020
Reconciliation of movement in shareholders' funds
Opening shareholders' funds 5,071.6 5,071.6
Total recognised income for the year (5.9) -
Share premium issue 356.1 -
Transfer in of MAG US and UK Distribution Businesses 34.4 -
Equity shareholders' funds as at 31 March 5,456.2 5,071.6
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Proportion of
nominal value of
issued shares held by:

Name of undertaking shares held Group Company Principal activity
Agency of the North Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Holding company
Airport Advertising Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading
Airport Petroleum Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading
Airport Services International Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Holding company
Airportparkingreservations.com LLC* N/A 100% 100% Trading company
Bainsdown Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Property holding company
East Midlands Airport Core Property Investments Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading
TNermedrate noramg company or.
East Midlands International
East Midlands Airport Nottingham Derby Leicester Limited  Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Airport Limited and
Bournemouth International
Airport | imited
I it t rty holdi
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Hotels) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% crt‘)vrﬁ?)anrf/n property holding
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Industrial) Limit Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% lerﬁrs):;nt property holding
East Midlands Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% lerﬁrs):;nt property holding
) . ) o Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% .
East Midlands International Airport Limited Airport operator
9% cumulative rede 100% 100%
Internet Airport Parking Holding Company LLC* N/A 100% 100% Non trading
Looking4Parking Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Trading company
MAG Investments US Limitied Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Investment holding company
MAG US (Apollo) Inc* N/A 100% 100% Non trading
MAG US (Apollo) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Holding company
MAG US Lounge Management LLC* N/A 100% 100% Non trading
MAG US Parking Management LLC* N/A 100% 100% Non trading
MAG US Terminal Management LLC* N/A 100% 100% Non trading
MAGO Holdings Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Trading company
Manchester Airport Aviation Services Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airport Car Park (1) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Trading company
Manchester Airport Group Finance Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airport Group Funding PLC Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Investment holding company
Manchester Airport Group Property Developments Limited ~ Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Property development company
Manchester Airport Group Property Services Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Property management company
Manchester Airport Group US Holdings Inc* Sr:::gzry $0.01 100% 100% Investment holding company
MAG Airport Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Trading company
Manchester Airport PLC Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Airport operator
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Hotels) Limited  Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% lcr:)vrirs);?f/nt property holding
I it t rty holdi
Manchester Airport Property Investments (Industrial) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% nvestment property hoiding

company
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11. Subsidiary undertakings continued

Description of

Company Financial Statements

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued shares held by:

Name of undertaking shares held Group Company Principal activity
I it t rty holdi

Manchester Airport Property Investments (Offices) Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% cr:)VrﬁZaTs/n property holding
Manchester Airport Ventures Limited Intermediate holding company

Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% for Airport Advertising Limited

and Airport Petroleum Limited

Parksleepfly.com LLC* N/A 100% 100% Trading company
Ringway Developments PLC Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Property holding company
Ringway Handling Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading
Ringway Handling Services Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading
Shuttlefinder.net LLC* N/A 100% 100% Trading company
Simmerdown Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Holding Company
Skyparksecure Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Trading company
Stansted Airport Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Airport operator
Travel Parking Group Limited Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Holding company

7% cumulative
Worknorth Limited redeemable 100% 100% Non trading

preference shares

Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading

7% cumulative

redeemable

preference shares 100% 100% Non trading
Worknorth Il Limited

Ordinary £1 shares 100% 100% Non trading

NOTES:

The registered office addresses for each of the above companies are listed below.

1'OIympic House, Manchester Airport, Manchester, M90 1QX

2P0 Box 532, Town Hall, Albert Square, Manchester, M60 2LA

3. Building 34, East Midlands Airport, Castle Donington, Derby DE74 2SA

4 Enterprise House, Bassingbourn Road, Stansted Airport, Essex, CM24 1QW

5251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware, 19808, United States of America.
All the above companies operate in their country of incorporation or registration, which is England and Wales, with the exception of those marked
with an *, which are registered in the Unites States of America.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Cautionary Statement: The Annual Report and Accounts contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the operations, performance
and financial condition of the group. By their nature, these statements involve uncertainty since future events and circumstances can cause results
and developments to differ materially those anticipated. The forward-looking statements reflect knowledge and information available at the date of
preparation of this annual report and the company undertakes no obligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this annual
report should be construed as a profit forecast. Unless expressly stated otherwise, the ‘Group’, ‘MAGIL’, ‘Manchester Airports Group Investments
Limited’, or ‘the Company’ means Manchester Airports Group Investments Limited and its subsidiary undertakings.
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